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Preface

Thought to be one of the most prestigious and sought-after degrees all over the
world, the Master of Business Administration, shortly known as MBA, is designed
to develop the skills required in business and management careers. However,
although directed to the business world, its value is not limited to it. Indeed, an
MBA can also be very useful for all those that pursue a managerial career in the
private industry, public sector, government, and technological and engineering area,
among others. Being so transversal to these different areas, this is why in our days
many academics and professionals desire to course and obtain an MBA. Conscious
of this reality, this present book, entitled MBA—Theory and Application of Business
and Management Principles, looks to contribute to some of the “core” curriculum
of subjects usually present in an MBA program such as marketing, human resource,
accounting, and finance. Based on the “core” subjects presented in this book,
everyone interested will be able to obtain a relevant knowledge that can be applied
as a whole to a variety of real-world business situations, or from a particular
viewpoint that will allow them to follow their own personal or professional inter-
ests. Covering many different fields within business, the lecturers of this book,
according to their interests and availability, will be able to obtain some of the most
critical skills and knowledge subjacent to an MBA that will help them pursue a
career in a variety of working fields.

Also providing a support to academics and researchers, the book focusing on the
latest developments and thinking in what concerns the most recent research activity
provides discussion and the exchange of information on principles, strategies,
models, techniques, methodologies, and applications in the business area.

Following these concerns, this book, divided into three parts, covers the theory
and application of business and management principles in six chapters. In Part I—
Speaking About Marketing, the first chapter discusses “Marketing in Crises—Its
Nature and Perspectives for Managers” and the second chapter contains information
about “Understanding Digital Marketing—Basics and Actions.” In Part 11—
Speaking About Human Resource Management, the third chapter covers “Human
Resource Management: An Operational Perspective,” and at the same time, the
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fourth chapter describes “Training and Development in Organizations: Start at the
Beginning.” Finally, in Part I[[—Speaking About Accounting and Finance, the fifth
chapter focuses on “Accounting as an Information System,” while in the sixth
chapter, an “Introduction to Corporate Finance” is presented.

These theoretical and practical contributions will lead to an upper level of
knowledge of these functional managerial and business subjects, and at the same
time, it will contribute to the acquisition of new conceptual skills able to answer the
challenges and changes set by the competitive business environment in which
organizations are involved.

This book is designed to increase the knowledge and effectiveness of all those
interested in the continual success of their careers in the different fields of the
economy such as university research and activity (at the postgraduate level),
business, manufacturing, education, health care, and other service and industrial
sectors.

The editors acknowledge their gratitude to Springer for this opportunity and for
their professional support. Finally, we would like to thank all chapter authors for
their interest and availability to work on this project.

Braga, Portugal Carolina Machado
Aveiro, Portugal J. Paulo Davim


http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_4
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_4
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_5
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_6

Contents

Part I Speaking About Marketing

Marketing in Crises—Its Nature and Perspectives for Managers. . . . .. 3
Jochen Schellinger and Kim Oliver Tokarski

Understanding Digital Marketing—Basics and Actions . . . ... ....... 37
Teresa Pifieiro-Otero and Xabier Martinez-Rolan
Part II Speaking About Human Resource Management

Human Resource Management: An Operational Perspective. . . . ... .. 77
Carolina Feliciana Machado

Training and Development
in Organizations: Start at the Beginning . . .. ................... 105
Ana Paula Vieira Gomes Ferreira

Part III Speaking About Accounting and Finance

Accounting as an Information System . . ...... ... ... ... ... ..... 125
Ana Alexandra Caria, Anabela Martins Silva, Delfina Rosa Rocha Gomes
and Lidia Cristina Alves Morais Oliveira

Introduction to Corporate Finance. . . ... ...................... 157
Leoni Eleni Oikonomikou

vii


http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_1
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_2
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_3
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_4
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_4
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_5
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7_6

Contributors

Ana Alexandra Caria Department of Management, School of Economics and
Management, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Ana Paula Vieira Gomes Ferreira Department of Management, School of
Economics and Management, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Delfina Rosa Rocha Gomes Department of Management, School of Economics
and Management, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Carolina Feliciana Machado Department of Management, School of Economics
and Management, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Xabier Martinez-Rolan Faculty of Communication and Social Sciences,
University of Vigo, Vigo, Spain

Leoni Eleni Oikonomikou Georg-August-Universitit Gottingen, Gottingen,
Germany

Lidia Cristina Alves Morais Oliveira Department of Management, School of
Economics and Management, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Teresa Pifieiro-Otero Faculty of Communication Sciencies, University of A
Corufa, A Corufia, Spain

Jochen Schellinger Business School, Bern University of Applied Sciences, Bern,
Switzerland

Anabela Martins Silva Department of Management, School of Economics and
Management, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

Kim Oliver Tokarski Business School, Bern University of Applied Sciences,
Bern, Switzerland

ix



Part 1
Speaking About Marketing



Marketing in Crises—Its Nature
and Perspectives for Managers

Jochen Schellinger and Kim Oliver Tokarski

Abstract Corporate crises are recurring events in the evolution of almost any
company. They are a regular part of a company’s development, and it is part of any
manager’s job to deal with them. Against this background, this chapter explores a
contingent approach to crisis-specific management of various marketing policies.
The basic assumption is that situational, contingent properties of crises (should)
determine the structure and behaviour of marketing management. Thus, managers
should aim to achieve a specific “crisis-marketing fit” which involves the subfields
of strategic marketing, and a set of typical responses for product, sales, pricing and
communication policy.

1 Introduction

Since the turn of the millennium, more and more authors have been drawing
attention to a dramatic rise in the economic dynamics, complexity, and intensity of
competition for companies in the consumer and investment goods markets.
Globalization, the advent of modern information and communication technology,
and the changes in the values and expectations of consumers are often mentioned as
the main forces behind this evolution. While the trend towards an increasingly
complex and challenging commercial world has long been a general fact of life, the
impact of the global financial and economic crisis in the wake of the collapse of
Lehman Brothers in 2008 has only intensified these difficulties for companies and
led to a spate of crises that often threatened the survival of the affected companies.
Typically, these are highly dynamic, highly complex, and highly relevant for a
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company’s strategic presence in its competitive environment and for the intensity of
competition (Fig. 1). This is also reflected in the growing demand for guidance and
advice on how to respond to this triple punch of dynamic, complex, and competitive
challenges, as evidenced by the increasing number of publications on crises and
crisis management. This new wave of research into corporate crises and their
management has, as yet, not developed differentiated voices with pragmatic per-
spectives for procurement, production, marketing, human resources, or finances.
This is where the following exploration of marketing and its specific opportunities
for crisis management comes in. Publications in the field of marketing have mostly
been interested in “crisis communication”, which most authors consider particularly
relevant for surviving and overcoming corporate crises. These questions of com-
munication in crisis management need to be investigated, as due the questions of
marketing strategy and product, pricing, or sales policy.

2 Cirises as the Stage Setting for Marketing

In order to understand and describe the opportunities for marketing in the setting of
a company crisis, it is essential to understand the terms, objects, and
management-relevant aspects of a crisis in terms of the scenario it represents for the
many perspectives of marketing policy. The key is the basic recognition of “crises”
and their characteristic qualities as recurrent elements of considerable practical
relevance in the cyclical development of any company. These recurrent crises call
for specific management responses, which crisis-oriented marketing management
needs to live up to (contingency approach).

2.1 The Objects of Company Crises

“Crisis” would seem to have become the dominant theme of the current times, with
economies still reeling from the impact of the financial crisis, economic crisis, and
Euro crisis or the many other crises of a more political nature (international
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terrorism, the Crimean crisis, the Syria crisis, the crisis of Greece, etc.). Crises in
this sense refer to concrete threats that have become salient and urgent and that need
to be mitigated or managed to protect the people affected from their potential
impact. Crises are the result of prior risk scenarios; in this sense, they are risks made
manifest. “Risks” are therefore the possible realization of unfavourable conditions
which make certain hurt and damage likely. If such an unfavourable scenario has
indeed become actual reality, the people affected need to contain its impact and stop
the aftershocks. The general notion of the term “crisis” is therefore coloured by a
risk-oriented macro-perspective that can just as well be applied to the
micro-perspective of the affected institutions. One such micro-perspective is the
treatment of the crisis phenomenon at commercial companies, that is, companies
involved in a competitive market.

“Company crises” can similarly be defined as the occurrence of certain con-
stellations of risks with a considerable, often existential threat and major strategic
relevance for the company affected. Such crises, as already explained, are typically
inherently dynamic, complex, and threatening to the company’s competitive
standing. This risk-focused notion of crisis is just one of many possible interpre-
tations; it emphasizes the possibility of anticipating and influencing crises before
they hit and their strategic (planning) relevance. In practice terms, it brings together
the perspectives of risk and crisis management. German literature has increasingly
become reliant on a property-oriented procedural definition of crises [1], which
would consider company crises as unintentional and unplanned processes that are
temporary, only partially susceptible to influence, and ambivalent in terms of their
outcomes. Crises can endanger the continued survival of a company by impacting
on its goals [2, 3]. They typically occur with little or no forewarning and create
significant pressure in terms of time, stress and their impact on the ability to fulfil
the expectations of relevant stakeholders [1]. In the four German-speaking countries
of Europe, media reports suggest that every year witnesses about 220-260 such
critical incidents in private enterprises or official institutions [4]. In 2014, more than
13,500 bankruptcy proceedings were begun in Switzerland [5], compared to 24,000
in Germany [6] and 5400 in Austria over the same period [7]. The collapse of
companies can be considered the negative end point of a corporate crisis. This
suggests that even the considerable presence of such crises in the media reflects
only a minor share of the actual incidents. At the same time, this implies that
company crises are an essential and existential object of everyday business
operations.

2.2 Types and Causes of Crises

The most essential thing to do when trying to affect the course of a company’s crisis
is to consider and understand its cause and nature, which often affect each other.
The causes of crisis can be many and diverse: researchers have identified a vast
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number of relevant constellations from their quantitative and qualitative studies.
The first avenue of research is aimed at typical crisis-prone or crisis-favouring
properties of companies in crisis. Companies in the service sector, small businesses
and smaller limited companies, companies established for fewer than four years and
older companies of 10 years or more are particularly prone to crisis [1]. The basic
distinction between exogenous and endogenous occasions of crisis goes back to the
original research into the qualitative causes of crisis [8]. Hauschildt [9] argues
against this distinction, as the responsibility for a crisis and for managing the crisis
always lies within the organization in question or, in other words, with “misman-
agement”, even if exogenous factors come into play: “crises are caused by the
failure of management to adjust adequately to external circumstances, not by these
circumstances as such”. Even if the distinction between internal and external causes
holds, researchers commonly point to the dominance of internal forces or the typical
finding of a combination of internal and external factors [10]. Assuming in this
sense that the causes of crises are essentially always to be found in management,
which relates very well with a strategic understanding of the phenomenon, we can
distinguish between different elements of crises and their relevant causes by dis-
tinguishing between different areas of practice failures and causal forces [9]:

The entrepreneur as a person, e.g. inexperience, poor leadership, illness.
Institution/Organizational state, e.g. strategic mistakes, poor choice of legal
form, problems with associated partners, unhelpful organizational structure,
poor information management, poor HR management.

e Financial, e.g. credit lines cut, receivables lost.

e Operational causes: poor decisions about investments, productions, logistics,
procurement or sales.

Considering the causes of crisis in marketing, Hauschildt explicitly refers only
to operational causes concerning the product range (outmoded technology, too
high/too poor quality, no thought-through portfolio, internal competition), pricing
policy (too expensive/too cheap, not dynamic, not sustainable) and sales channels
(too strictly/loosely defined, too abrupt changes). Problems in communication
policy (e.g. excessive advertising spending and failure to reach the right audience)
are not addressed by him. Such aspects relating to marketing strategy are related to
the institutional/organizational failure cluster (too fast external growth, too strong
reliance on a too powerful partner). The list of causes mentioned here is therefore
clearly not complete. In an earlier study of the relative frequency of the different
failure types, Hauschildt [11] names sales problems as the most common
crisis-causing type of failure. More recent empirical studies also point to the great
importance of sales in this respect. Hauschildt et al. [12], for instance, attribute
more than 20 % of all company crises to the aspects of sales or the market state.
A similarly dominant position is held only by leadership failure.

Just as researchers have been distinguishing between different categories of
causes for crises, different concepts for distinguishing different types of crises have
also been put forward. The criteria for making such a distinction include, in
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particular, threats to the company’s goals (value, material or social goals), the
relevant causes (internal, external or combined causes), the incidence of the crisis in
the company lifecycle (growth, stagnation or contraction crises), the dynamic state
of the crisis (threatening, latent, acute, but manageable, acute and uncontrollable),
or the time available to prevent or mitigate the crisis (strategic crisis, performance
crisis, liquidity crisis, insolvency) [10]. These types are not without their overlaps
and similarities and can clearly be combined with each other. Depending on the
type of crisis, different forms for preventing or mastering it are thinkable: Miiller’s
[13] basic distinction between strategy, performance and liquidity crisis in partic-
ular has proven its practical worth as an empirically sound patterns for structuring
the crisis experience from a managerial point of view. Strategic crises affect the
capabilities of the organization in question to a massive degree, but they allow
substantial leeway to prevent or mitigate the escalation of the crisis. Such strategic
crises can evolve into performance crises over time and make themselves felt in
many important performance indicators (e.g. profits, revenue). Liquidity crises
represent the escalation of financial problems in a crisis scenario, affecting the
organization’s ability to service its liabilities and adding new debts, which can end
in the final crisis phase of insolvency. A similar phase model of Topfer [14, 15]
excludes this final stage and contrasts the tripartite concept of “evolutionary crisis”
(strategy, performance and liquidity crisis) with “sudden crisis” which erupt without
forewarning and have an immediate impact on performance (e.g. insolvency of a
main client, losing an important revenue stream). Figure 2 integrates these
endogenous or exogenous shocks into the three-phase concept. In this sense,
spontaneous crises are not seen as the opposite of the three-phase concept, but as
shocks that can affect all active levels and can ramp up the urgency of the crisis
massively. Spontaneous crises can lead to strategic, performance or liquidity crisis
at any given point in time. The three-phase model is therefore not (just) an ideal
sequence, but a representation of the different spheres for managerial action that
remain relevant throughout the entire crisis period (and have no clear-cut borders
between them). Each has its own urgency and calls for a specific response.

High
N\ Spontaneous Crisis \
Pressure to act: +
Dynamics Liquidity Crisis
Complexity A
Competition | Success Crisis | |
I T 1
Strategy Crisis
} } | Development
Low CI’\ISIS
7
Time

Fig. 2 Types of crisis and pressure to act



8 J. Schellinger and K.O. Tokarski

2.3 Crisis Management and Business Development

“Crisis management” has become the accepted term for the management and
development of the corporate sphere before, during, and after a crisis. Its conceptual
focus, however, lies clearly on overcoming crises that are active and have been
recognized as such. This bias can also be seen in the general thrust of scientific
involvement with this aspect of management.

Crisis prevention management has the basic purpose of either preventing crisis
from occurring in the first place or, if that be impossible, to prepare the company as
effectively as possible for responding to crises when they do occur [15, 16]. A more
expansive notion of crisis prevention would include post-crisis activities after a
crisis has been successfully mastered, which includes analysing and assessing the
effectiveness of the crisis management processes. “Learning from the crisis” is the
key here and helps create awareness for other potential crisis factors. It can pro-
fessionalize decision-making processes in active crises, e.g. by teaching the com-
pany that a liquidity crisis needs to involve more stakeholders in communication
than just the capital investors. Prevention correlates strongly with the strategic
vision of crisis management. Crisis prevention management is an essential com-
ponent of strategic crisis management, which includes the management of strategy
crisis and the strategic aspects of the operational response to performance or lig-
uidity crisis. In terms of strategic management, crisis prevention management
primarily concerns strategic monitoring [17] (strategy controlling, controlling the
strategic premises, planned progress and potential). Considering the risk-oriented
definition of crises and the great relevance of risks and opportunities in strategic
decisions, risk management can also be included in crisis prevention as part of
strategic crisis management. Operational crisis management begins as soon as a
crisis strikes and covers all responses to prevent the collapse of the business. Both
strategic and operational crisis management require functional specification; that
is, it needs specific monitoring and response plans for procurement, production,
marketing, HR and finance. For marketing, this means that strategic and operational
crisis management typically calls for action on the marketing strategy and product,
price, sales and communication policy. Figure 3 presents the correlations and
shared aspects of the different dimensions of crisis management.

Crisis management has also evolved into a distinct management function since
crises have stopped to be considered as isolated, singular challenges for manage-
ment and have become recognized as specific constellations of companies and their
environments that can occur again and again in a company’s evolution and are
indeed important for the company’s very ability to evolve. Crisis management, seen
in this vain, represents company management approached from the vantage point of
specific development phases. The need for and empirical presence of such a
phase-dependent management approach are supported by several representatives of
lifecycle-oriented management concepts [18] and is, as such, one pillar of the St.
Gallen management concept [19-21]. The same can be said of the great relevance
of crisis constellations for the qualitative and quantitative development of
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Fig. 3 Perspectives of crisis management

companies and their markets. Greiner’s model of growth is one of the most popular
concepts in this respect, linking crises and the stages in a company’s development
by causal mechanisms [22]. Considering the special case of marketing, one can
point to the five-phase model proposed by Becker [23]. Referring to the life cycles
of companies, he sees the need for a new look at the basis questions of how
marketing is done and distinguishes between the life phases of foundation, growth,
saturation, and contraction. Each phase has its typical practices and leadership
qualities (phase-oriented management types). Saturation and contraction represent
more or less pronounced crisis phases, which often lead to a complete rethinking of
marketing concepts in the pursuit of a turnaround. In them, the call goes up for
“restructurers” or “pioneers” to initiate and steer the necessary change processes.
The market and customer perspectives of the changes plays a particularly prominent
role in this, “because only companies that align all of their activities with their
markets and customers (market- and customer-driven companies) can survive in the
long run” [23]. The all too frequent simplistic focus on reducing costs is not
sufficient in this respect. Profit margins need to be targeted just as well by selling
the right products to the right customers at the right time and for the right price.
A fitting, crisis-oriented marketing mix is needed [23]. Becker’s marketing con-
cepts pay attention to the marketing-specific aspects of development-driven crisis
management only to a rudimentary degree and without much more insight in terms
of marketing policy. However, his model remains a very effective means for
understanding the development dimension of crisis management. It matches the
proposed notion of crises as recurrent normal states in which marketing plays a
particularly important role: “... crises are becoming an inseparable part of modern
business” [24]. The model also offers a first frame of reference for marketing
practice that is aware of the crisis context and reminds us of the need for functional
differentiation in crisis management. The main elements of Becker’s proposals are
illustrated in terms of their relevance for marketing in Fig. 4.
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Fig. 4 Corporate development and the marketing aspects of crisis management according to
Becker [23]

2.4 The Contingency Approach: Marketing in the Crisis
Context

The need for a discussion of marketing in the context of company crises can be
explained with the situational approach of organizational theory and the closely
related “fit” philosophy of strategic management [17]. The basic idea of the situa-
tional approach suggests that the structures and systems that determine the efficiency
of a company are formed by specific situational conditions [25-27]. From a man-
agerial point of view, this means that a given endogenous or exogenous context
would typically have an “optimum fit” combination of structures and systems, which
affects behaviour and practice in such a way as to lead to effectiveness, efficiency
and, by implication, profitability. The company and its environment are brought into
the right fit by “contextually appropriate” (strategic) management (organization—
environment fit). Taking company crises as temporary, but highly relevant and
impactful contexts, their specific properties allow us to define specific requirements
for management or, specifically, marketing from a contingency-driven, situational
point of view. A number of recent marketing publications have taken up this train of
thought, at least implicitly, when looking at the increasing frequency and relevance
of critical constellations [24, 28-31], but similar ideas were also already included in
older contributions, such as Shama’s insights into the links between economic crises
and marketing management [32]. On the strategic level, the contingency approach
mirrors the idea of strategic management as a “dynamically flexible concept” [33]. In
this sense, Ansoff’s original proposition of strategic issue management and his
concept of weak signals [34] can also be considered a fit-oriented crisis prevention or
preparation technique. According to Lombriser and Ablanalp [33], crisis manage-
ment itself is also part of such a dynamically flexible understanding of strategic
management which always comes into play when pre-emptive measures have failed.
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Figure 5 represents the basic mechanisms of a contingency-oriented marketing
approach as a pragmatic application of the situational approach.

In terms of their relevance for practice, crises present two sets of characteristics:
first, there are their general traits, such as their complexity, dynamic nature and
competitive intensity; second, distinguishing different types of crisis is important to
choose the right means for the context in order to master them. Crises are often
affecting the conditions in the market and can influence the perceptions and habits
of consumers or lead competitors to change their practices. The typical outcome is a
drop in demand [35], which represents an important foothold for marketing in its
response to the crisis on the sales side. Changing conditions in the market are often
the results of the original causes of the crisis (e.g. the downturn in demand in many
industries in the wake of the financial crisis), even though they tend to stand at the
beginning of the causal chain for a company’s specific crisis experience (e.g. a
product crisis caused by reports of health hazards). As the relevance of such
market-side effects of a crisis increases, the importance of marketing for over-
coming the crisis also increases. Companies confronted with such crises need to

Situation / Environment b
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Contingency Approach of
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\ J
|
General Properties — More of: Company
- Dynamics
- Complexity c
) ™ orporate Strategy
Competition and Crisis Management
Corporate Crisis —) 1
Types of Crisis - Depending on: Modified Marketing Mix:
- Threatened Objectives - Product
- External / Internal Reason(s) - Sales & Distribution
- Corporate Development Stage - Price
- Aggregation State - Communication
- Time

I 1

Customer Behaviour / Demand

Sales Market Crisis-Marketing Fit

Competitors Behaviour

Fig. 5 Contingency approach of marketing in the context of corporate crisis
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reconsider the impact on the corporate strategy and install crisis management that
leads to changes in the marketing strategy and product, pricing, sales or commu-
nication policy. A marketing mix modified and focused for the crisis can contribute
to achieving the right situational fit between the company and its new environment.
The model can also be used to systematize possible options for preventing or
preparing for crises (e.g. modelling crisis scenarios).

The following sections will investigate the various practical dimensions of the
marketing mix in terms of adequate crisis responses. Following the contingency
approach for crisis marketing as proposed here, the focus will lie primarily on
understanding the types of crisis with strong direct or indirect effects on sales
market. This type of crisis will, in essence, always concern massive and disruptive
drops in demand, which typically goes hand in hand with a change in competitors’
practices before or during the crisis. Similar marketing responses would also be
possible in other types of crisis whenever a sudden impact on revenues occurs as a
result of certain critical constellations on the side of resources or capacities (e.g.
critically high damages to be paid after infringing a patent).

3 The Scope for Marketing in Times of Crisis

As the crisis-specific frame of reference for marketing has been defined and
translated into a contingency approach for marketing in times of crises, the next
step, the second degree of concreteness, would be the definition of the most
important aspects of the scope for marketing in practice. Before considering the
four traditional objects within the scope for marketing, i.e. product, sales, com-
munication and pricing policy, we need to consider the basic thrust and planning of
marketing in a crisis. The latter defines the strategic frame of reference for the areas
of practice, delimits them and ensures their coherent definition. A third and final
step, which will not be covered here, would be the concrete application of all of this
at a specific company faced with a specific crisis (case study). There are empirical
studies that have investigated such real phenomena (also) in terms of marketing in
crisis and proposed specific responses [24, 30, 36—40]. Their insights have been
used to arrive at the following concepts on this second level of concreteness.

3.1 Strategic Marketing

The investigation of strategic crisis management has revealed three distinct com-
ponents that are relevant on the strategic level: preventing crises, which covers
strategic controlling and risk management; responding to strategic crises in terms of
the threat to revenue streams; and considering the strategic aspects of the opera-
tional response to the crisis. Strategic crisis management therefore means more than
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overcoming or preventing evolutionary crises; it is also of relevance in unexpected,
emergent crises. These distinctions also point to the most important pillars for
strategic marketing in the crisis context. The three components now need to be
filled with life in terms of marketing. Following the concept of market-oriented
business management [38, 41], we can assume that the marketing strategy plays a
vital role for the overall strategy of the company. In many cases, the marketing
strategy is practically identical with the corporate strategy [42—44]. This applies in
particular to cases where a more expansive understanding of marketing is used,
which also includes stakeholder management and internal processes and resources
in the design of the marketing strategy, which is often the case at small-to-medium-
sized enterprises in particular. The important factor here is the underlying planning
process. Strategic marketing planning, its operational implementation in the
marketing mix and its budget need to be flexible in a time of crisis. By implication,
this also goes for the marketing strategy as a whole or in its various parts. Changes
to strategic decisions are, however, not necessarily required in every crisis, as the
changes can often be limited to temporary operational aspects in the various policy
areas, e.g. to communications. One example of this would be a turnover crisis that
leads to serious liquidity issues and might be the result of external sabotage, but has
no relevance whatsoever to the actual marketing strategy or the business model it is
based on. Apaydin and Gecti [30] emphasize the relevance of focusing on core
operations and improving marketing efficiency as the key jobs for strategic mar-
keting planning. Market monitoring is particularly important here, as is the (re-)
planning and definition of market opportunities and the marketing mix, the stabi-
lization or even growth of the company’s market share, and the reviewing of the
return on marketing investment.

When strategic marketing is concerned, three areas are relevant for investiga-
tion and practice: the business model, the customer focus and the marketing
strategy as the sum of the parts of the marketing mix (product, pricing, sales and
communication strategy). Questions of marketing efficiency also need to be asked
with a view to the costs involved.

The business model represents the core of the company and marketing strate-
gies. It defines the most important pillars for the marketing strategy and expresses
the company’s potential for commercial success in a nutshell. Built for the long
term, it should not, however, be static when one remembers the dynamic evolution
of the business. In a crisis context, the dynamic changes under way reflect the
innovations that are required [24, 31, 38]. Massive disruptions in the market can
even call for a complete rethinking of the business model, e.g. when unexpected
technological innovations make an old product obsolete overnight. Another such
situation would be the forced entry of powerful and innovative competitors into
one’s home-turf market, which companies such as Google or Apple are wont to do.
A strategic crisis also demands a replacement or modification of the business
model. Depending on the main causes (endogenous/exogenous, resources/markets,
customers’/competitors’ practice), the focus of the adjustments changes.
Nonetheless, there are few strategic crises that will have no impact on sales markets
or customers. A procurement crisis can be caused by a competitor taking over the
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main supplier for essential capital equipment, which forces a company to change its
product range or eliminate a product line or which causes massive problems with
products and maintenance services down the line. The situation is different in more
operational ad hoc crises that have little to do with the business model as such (e.g.
disasters). Here, the focus will lie on adjusting the marketing mix on the ground. In
a company crisis, all components need to be investigated to understand whether and
how they concern the business model. The business model also offers a helpful
means for analysing the monitoring and risks management measures in crisis pre-
vention. The focus would here lie on market-focused considerations about possible
changes in customers’ preferences or competitors’ decisions.

The customer focus represents an important point of reference for strategic
marketing [43] at most companies. It means the coherent alignment of all products
and services and the underlying processes with the needs and expectations of the
customer. Neglecting that perspective is often the immediate or a contributing factor
for a strategic crisis, which can then deteriorate into a performance or liquidity
crisis. Two customer-related aspects are particularly relevant here: customer loyalty
and profitability. Depending on the changing preferences of customers in a crisis or
the actions of competitors, the basic activities that the company uses to refain
established customers [28] need to be analysed, because the slow loss of formerly
loyal customers will have substantial repercussions that go beyond the immediate
loss of revenue. Every lost customers means more pressure to acquire new business,
which is particularly problematic in a crisis and considerably more expensive than
maintaining good relations with established partners. Apart from customer satis-
faction, this calls for attention to other areas, such as changes to contractual terms to
gear them more towards long-term relations or mutual dependence. However,
customer retention is not enough for a customer-focused response to a crisis.
Retention has to be selective. The profitability of the customer has particular
relevance in a crisis. Customer retention has to try to maintain or promote only the
profitable or commercially promising customer relationships. Unprofitable rela-
tionships should be reviewed in terms of their potential promise and, if there is no
such potential, cut-off. This naturally also applies to new clients acquired in a crisis.
Expanding market share by simply acquiring new, but unprofitable customers will
only reinforce the crisis. Neglecting the question of profitability is a common reason
for why companies fall prey to crises and fail to survive them. The emphasis on
customer focus as an important strategic reference point has many implications for
the various dimensions of the crisis marketing mix, which will still be investigated.
The basic principles that underlie the question of customer focus also need to be
considered when trying to prevent a crisis.

Marketing strategies are functional expressions of the corporate strategy that go
beyond defining the sales market, although this stands at their centre. They rep-
resent pragmatic guidelines for implementing the company’s and marketing targets.
The marketing strategies are typically developed on the level of the strategic
business units (one or more related product/market combinations) [41]. The fre-
quent identity with the corporate strategy has already been mentioned.
Lifecycle-oriented standard strategy models are intended to come up with
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phase-specific recommendations for shrinking or stagnating markets and focus on
added value, customer loyalty measures, rationalization and process streamlining.
The option of withdrawing or exiting from a market is always included by impli-
cation if remaining in the market is not possible or not a viable option [41]. Current
literature also distinguishes between a range of market strategy types that relate to
type-specific questions [42] and represent the relevant strategic decisions. They
become the strategic bundles that make up the holistic marketing strategy. Meffert,
for instance, distinguishes between the following types [41]:

e Market selection strategies (market field strategy = product-market strategies;
market area strategy = regional definition; market segmentation strategy = dif-
ferentiation in market approaches);

e Market actor strategies (customer-oriented = developing the market in terms of
the customer; retailer-oriented = retail strategy; competition-oriented = competi-
tive strategy; stakeholder-oriented = indirect market management).

In essence, when a crisis occasions a company to rethink its strategic decisions,
the company needs to check and, possibly, revise their quality in practice and their
general validity. This can be done by means of a business model analysis and by
processing the results of a customer focus analysis, paying due attention to the
interrelations and correlations in strategic company planning and the company
strategy. The strategic framework chosen for the marketing mix instruments (pro-
duct, sales, communication and pricing strategies) needs to be adjusted where
necessary and implemented in operational practice [30, 37]. This is affected by the
crisis’ typical impact on available resources (e.g. high costs) and the mentioned
characteristics of crises. As in business model and customer focus analyses, the
parameters for strategic decisions also need to be referred to when monitoring and
scanning for potential strategic discontinuities and risks. In addition to these three
main objects, the actual marketing activities of the company need to be checked and
optimized in terms of their efficiency. Sophisticated cost-oriented efficiency mea-
sures in marketing should definitely be preferred to blanket cuts in marketing
budgets which are often the first option that companies go to, aside from unthinking
price reductions. The trick is not to reduce the activities in general, but to make
more efficient use of the available means in the crisis.

Figure 6 sums up the main aspects of strategic marketing in a crisis.

3.2 Product Policy

Product policy concerns the programmes and measures that are normally deter-
mined by product strategic considerations. It concerns practical decisions about
individual products, product lines or entire product ranges.

For product policy, the following parameters of product strategy [41-43] are
particularly relevant and should be included in the often short-notice reviews and
changes when a crisis has struck:
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Product quality, features and design (functionality and value for the customer).
Brand and packaging.

Product-related services and warranties.

Product lines and product portfolio.

Product policy covers many dimensions: product innovation and development,
variation and diversification, or product elimination. Brand management, that is, the
focused management of the brand’s value, is another related dimension [42, 43] that
determines the nature, reach and structure of the brand, the brand presence (in
particular, the brand name), intellectual property or other aspects of brand devel-
opment [41-43].

A drop in demand and intensification of competition as the result of a crisis,
leading to changing habits among customers and competitors, calls for a number of
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product policy responses. In current literature, product policy and other aspects of
marketing policy are discussed as well-established and empirically proven factors
for commercial success, with specific options for responding to the typical lower
demand and scarcer resources in a crisis. This can be seen in the publications of
Marasovic¢ et al. [28] and Simon [45].

The first perspective for product policy lies in tightening and standardizing the
product range to become less complex [30, 39, 46] and allow the company to
concentrate on products that are sufficiently or even highly profitable. In turn,
products that are not commercially rewarding enough should be eliminated if this is
possible in view of the repercussions for the product portfolio. This streamlining
and standardization—or indeed modularization—are often neglected options in
crises, although they have great promise [46]: “our experience suggests that
changes to the product range (be it to sell more or to save product costs) are the
greatest lever for a turnaround. It is surprising to see how rarely this lever is used
in restructuring”. Adding a new product should only be an option when it repre-
sents an essential expansion of the core range. Integrating vertically “neighbouring”
products in the range offers the opportunity to evolve from a product manufacturer
to a provider of systems [45]. The pressure on resources in crises leads many
companies to cut back their own research and development activities in terms of
product innovation [28], which is a clear case of saving at the wrong end. There is
empirical evidence to suggest that increasing research and development spending
is much more promising for crisis management, irrespective of the type of company
in question [24, 47]. There are also definite signs that involving the customer in the
innovation process is a positive idea, not least in a time of crisis. Intensive and
positive customer relations are a key resource for added value, again also in a crisis
[35, 48, 49]. Another common recommendations for improving the appeal of one’s
products is to offer more services around the product affected by the crisis.
Additional, expanded or more flexible services in demand by customers can have a
significant impact on commercial performance. These services often have much
higher profit margins than the original products in question, are less cyclical in
nature and can thus cushion the impact of the crisis. They can also help retain
customers through the crisis and are a good example of the customer focus principle
of crisis management. They make the company’s competitive advantages more
durable and make its offerings less easily replaceable. Another option in this respect
is the offering of unusual warranties and guarantees to reduce the risks for the
customer (e.g. guaranteed returns on real estate investments) or of extended trial
periods [28, 30, 37, 45]. As consumers are afraid and more careful with their money
in a crisis, as was seen in the global financial crisis and its aftermath, companies
also need to be aware of the changing habits of consumers in terms of different
product categories. In the years after 2008, the markets revealed interesting dif-
ferences in consumers’ habits: Essential products (such as drugs) were not affected
at all. Products that are deemed necessary and whose purchase cannot feasibly be
delayed (e.g. food or hygiene articles) were only affected to a minor degree. The
market for so-called postponables, that is, for products that could just as easily be
purchased at a later date (e.g. cars) or luxury goods (e.g. designer clothes) suffered
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from a downturn in demand in the high double digits, bringing many companies to
the brink of collapse. There were other market segments that indeed benefited from
the crisis (such as used cars) [28]. A detailed sense for the different preferences of
customers can be essential for product policy in a crisis. One example of a response
to the crisis of 2008 was the accelerated allocation of company cars to the
employees of the luxury car maker Daimler AG, which fed into the used car market
for the company’s models. All of the measures named up to now are aimed at
increasing gross turnover or reduce costs. In some instances, however, it can help to
limit the total sales volume, as a drop in the volume often has a less severe impact
than a drop in prices. Sales volume management can keep prices stable and shield
against competition. However, it is only feasible if the competition behaves like-
wise, which suggests that the market needs to be closely monitored and responded
to [45].

Brand management faces the challenge of realigning existing brands with new
or changing preferences in the market. In a general downturn in demand as a result
of an economic crisis, the emphasis should lie on the value for the customer.
Consumers also tend to give their preference to local or domestic products in such
instances, which could be an opportunity to emphasize the (local) origins of the
product. Another tendency among consumers is to replace premium brands with
less popular or store brands [28], which allows companies to upscale their brands
and poach market share from formerly dominant premium competitors. A strong
brand is an important source of distinction in a crisis, with its emotional charge
contributing substantially to maintaining or even improving turnover. It also offers
opportunities for entering into new market segments by diversifying the brand.
Identity-driven brand management tries to establish a strong brand and therefore has
great potential for preventing or preparing for eventual crises [37, 50-52]. Changes
in the product’s or brand’s perception can, however, also be a cause for a reputation
crisis, which places brand management at the frontlines of the crisis response [53].
Brand management in a crisis is, in this sense, closely linked with crisis commu-
nication, and both policy areas need to be fully aligned.

Recommendations for the maturity or degeneration phases of products’ life
cycles [43] mostly concern market development measures in the sense of reposi-
tioning the brand, developing new target groups or increasing the usage. For pro-
duct development, the focus here shifts to quality improvement, added
functionality, new variants and models, or new designs. Figure 7 presents the main
product policy responses for implementing the product or portfolio strategy in a
time of crisis.

3.3 Sales Policy

Sales policy refers to all measures that apply the sales strategy in the design of the
sales system, the sales partnerships, the actual sales operations and the distribution
of goods [41-43]. As part of crisis management, the sales responsibilities need to be
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subjected to a critical review with due consideration for the given circumstances
(own vs. external sales operations; direct vs. indirect sales; single or multi-level
sales; and single or multi-channel sales). This applies to the systems of cooperation,
power or contractual relations with sales partners or key clients, the way of
engaging with clients (personal contacts) and the logistical terms in the distribution
of the goods to the client. Current literature offers a complete bundle of pragmatic
recommendations that are particularly relevant for the various policy areas of crises
[8, 24, 28, 30, 45, 46, 54-56]. In line with product policy, the basic assumption is
that a difficult situation in the market will demand certain measures to maintain or
increase turnover and improve the sales margin, while coping with substantial cost
pressures.

One empirically proven lever for increased market share, revenue and prof-
itability is the number and quality of sales channels. In times of crisis, the used
channels should be checked to see whether they should be developed or indeed
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eliminated [46]. Generally, the distribution chain should be as short as possible to
increase sales efficiency. Companies should also use all opportunities afforded
direct sales, which offers new and more intensive ways of engaging with the client
[45]. When developing new sales channels and partners while a crisis is actively
impacting demand, care needs to be taken to prevent the inclusion of new channels
from having a negative influence on the company’s image or work with established
partners (e.g. when launching a branded product in a known discounter market)
[28].

Belz and Belz [57] see three perspectives with relevant practical opportunities
for sales in times of crisis: concentration, saving or rebuilding. Potential for short-
term turnover growth can be had by reinforcing work with clients with high
performance, the more careful selling of key services and the investment of more
time on customer contacts. The recommended cost reductions achieved by reducing
commissions for sales professionals, reducing expenses or reducing the size of the
sales force as a whole should be taken with a pinch of salt, as these options can
come into a serious conflict with the aim of increasing turnover and revenue. Sales
innovation, more professional sales practice, restructuring in sales or improved
customer relations management are meant to generate new potential for future
sales.

Simon [45] mentions a set of emergency responses in sales and field sales, all of
which have a similar thrust in common. In line with Faulhaber and Grabow [8], he
also considers sales as the critical bottleneck factor in turnover crisis, which
deserves priority attention from management. The first recommendation concerns
the intensification of sales management and the careful reduction of inefficient
sales activities [45]: “savings in sales during a crisis means savings made at the
wrong end. This does not, however, refer to targeted efficiencies”. Another option
for reinforcing turnover lies in direct sales and in increasing the core sales time.
The relevant process improvements in this respect can focus, e.g. on the use of not
fully employed internal sales capacities to provide support and relief to field sales.
Internal sales personnel can even be developed to become fully qualified field sales
professionals [56]. For added impulses, companies can consider poaching effective
sales personnel from competitors. Room for improvement is also seen in more
professional contact and route planning, which includes the more sophisticated
management of customer contacts and concentration on the more profitable cate-
gories of clients. In addition to increasing deliveries to existing customers,
neighbouring customer segments can be developed by building up new regional,
industry, or price-related segments. Monetary incentives are particularly relevant in
sales, which should be aimed at actual profit and not simple turnover and should be
designed to be fully compatible with any planned changes in pricing. Considering
the question of knowledge transfer in sales, established top professionals can attain
an important role in training up the remainder of the sales team. Many times,
opportunities for cross-selling are left unused. This also applies feeds into con-
siderations of improved customer loyalty and creates new footholds for other sales
partnerships that can lead to a complementary expansion of the product range.
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The turnaround concept of Faulhaber and Grabow [8] distinguishes between six
turnaround levers in sales :

e Realigning the sales strategy (refocusing on selected customer/product groups in
a balanced mix, concentrating on successful regions and improving order sizes
and make-up).

e Redesigning sales processes (reducing the number of contacts with less pro-
ductive clients [30], administrative relief for field sales and restructuring internal
sales).

e Training the sales team (improving key account management, job rotation for
field staff and reinforcing tele-selling).

Intensifying sales management (opt. with new executive personnel).
Modifying incentive systems (reducing the fixed and expanding the variable
components).

e Optimizing the sales IT systems (streamlining interfaces, using efficient CRM
systems).

In his discussion of the implications of company crises for sales, Carter [55]
emphasizes the person of the sales director and his or her duties. He applies a
three-phase model for the development of crisis solutions to distinguish between the
various functions and methods of relevance for sales executives. The primary
responsibility lies in an intensive collection of the available facts and sales data,
which provides a basis for developing different scenarios for sales during the crisis.
Sales executives should be included in the crisis management team, depending on
the nature of the crisis and the presence of the relevant competences, or indeed to be
put in charge of it. They can be the troubleshooters and motivators who keep the
sales force empowered and capable. Suitable remuneration rules that reward
appropriate risk management and prevent too much risk-taking can achieve a
focused risk response. At the same time, unprofitable transactions and general sales
overhead need to be reduced. Crisis management should provide suitable software
solutions to support ongoing sales. For the greater involvement of the client, cus-
tomer advisory boards are proposed as suitable options. Generally speaking, crises
are seen as opportunities for the evolution of sales and the sales or general company
culture.

It is striking that the aspect of sales-related goods distribution is not really
covered by current literature. It could be considered part of the general primacy of
efficiency in the sales response to a crisis. The priority objects for a crisis-oriented
sales strategy are covered by Fig. 8.

3.4 Pricing Policy

The price of goods and services gets a particular political relevance in times of crisis
[39]. Frequently, price adjustments are the only decisions made by sales for a
market-side response to the crisis. The reason lies in the simple flexibility of pricing
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and the immediate impact it can have [41]. However, this also comes with the flip
side of the great difficulty of taking back pricing decisions once made. With its
simultaneous impact on the volume and value of sales, pricing has an important role
to play for the commercial performance and profitability of any company [8, 56].
Relevant factors informing pricing policy include the elasticity of the
consumer-side response to prices, the behaviour of consumers (e.g. interest in
prices, reference prices, certain thresholds) or the nature of the market. The objects
to be considered in the decision include the general positioning of the price
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(premium, general or discount markets), the product lifecycle and certain differ-
entiation aspects (e.g. by region, by time, by target groups) [41]. Prices can be
calculated by considering costs, demand or the competition, although the most
common approach, also in crises, is a combination of methods that covers all
perspectives and seems centred on the question of value for the customer [8, 58]. To
introduce and enforce certain prices, other aspects of the terms and conditions also
need to be considered, such as discounts, terms of payment or financing options.
Companies should also remember that other perspectives of their policy also affect
their pricing decisions [41-43, 56].

Empirical studies have produced different, sometimes contradictory findings
about the effect of pricing policy. There is, however, a general consensus that prices
are frequently adjusted during crises that often have a massive impact on the prof-
itability and image of a company [28, 51]. Marasovic et al. suggest three options for
crisis pricing [28] in the pursuit of increasing demand: maintaining the old price
while increasing product quality; reducing the price while keeping quality constant,
or a combined reduction of price and quality. Other feasible options like an increased
price [56] combined with more variety in product quality or a reduction of supply are
not addressed. Announcing higher prices for luxury goods can not only lead to
improved revenues, but even a short-term spike in sales, as was seen when
Daimler-Benz increased the list prices for its cars in the wake of the oil crisis of the
1970s [40]. Like most proponents of using pricing policy as a tool in crisis man-
agement, Marasovic et al. emphasize indirect pricing via changes to terms and
conditions, which are easier to revert once the crisis has been overcome. In this
respect, Simon emphasizes the need for nonlinear pricing and price bundling, that is
in essence, offering volume discounts [45]. Maintaining the established prices while
offering greater benefits for the customer is generally proposed as a preferred option.

Grappling with the developments in the wake of the 2008 financial crisis, Elste
[59] bases his recommendations for price management in times of crisis on the
signalling and demand-influencing effects of pricing policy and on its function in
terms of creating value and recovering costs. More than half of the industries
affected by the crisis decided to lower their prices by substantial margins in order to
counter the often double-digit drop in demand [39, 59]. As product quality typically
remained unchanged, companies later found it exceedingly difficult to revert back to
their original prices and were confronted with questions and criticism about the
honesty of their pricing policy. Any price reduction in a crisis should therefore only
be introduced in tandem with a reduction in the service offered and only as long as a
negative impact on margins is unlikely when price—value relations remain
unchanged [30, 59, 60]. Companies could also consider reducing prices while
keeping quality at the original level if they are subsidized by public support, as in
the case of too-big-too-fail corporations or industries. Defending the price is one of
the core objectives of crisis management. Ruinous price wars need to be avoided at
all costs [8, 39, 45, 51, 59]. This needs acceptance of the price leadership of the
dominant provider and active and early information for competitors, as far as
possible under normal antitrust legislation. Volume is therefore the preferred lever
in times of crisis or in general cases of excess capacities. This can also mean
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offering material discounts that are easier to retract again than actual price discounts
[45]. In the case of major cost spikes, e.g. caused by a sudden upsurge in the cost of
raw materials, the extent to which such costs can be handed down to the customer
should be checked, e.g. in the form of direct material cost surcharges. The pricing
and terms and conditions should be transparent and easy to understand, while also
following the old adage that the customer should not notice any price increases
(staying “under the radar”, e.g. by imposing fees for formerly free services), while
discounts should be made public [45]. A crisis therefore also represents a great
opportunity to simplify pricing policies that have become overly complex and
inconsistent over time and return to fair pricing [37] in terms of the target clientele.
Many companies can accept losses of up to 31 % because of the uneconomically
minute orders of small-scale clients. Losing such clients because of crisis-driven
price increases can indeed represent an advantage for these companies. The prin-
ciple should be that discounts can become greater, the greater the contribution
margin of the client [8]. In terms of price-driven sales management, the key is to
close old pricing loopholes (e.g. hidden reimbursements or credit) and spread
awareness in the sales team for the increasing importance of the price—value
argument [8, 59]. Furthermore, pricing policy and its effects can be tracked via
dedicated indicators to immediately recognize any relevant deviations. It would
seem particularly relevant here to quantify and monitor the price-turnover function
[45]. Established rules for calculating prices are, essentially, not challenged by
crises; however, they need to be enforced more consistently and with more sense
for the given circumstances in the pursuit of more professional price management in
crises [58, 59]. Figure 9 reveals the most important objects of crisis-oriented
pricing.

3.5 Communication Policy

Communication policy obtains a particularly important role in crisis marketing, as it
can override, support or even undermine all other activities. It can be understood,
resembling strategic marketing, as an integrative framework bringing the marketing
mix for use in the crisis together. At the same time, it has the potential to break up
that mix and fuel the escalation of the crisis. There have been many instances of
poor communication in a crisis becoming the actual engine of the crisis [61].
Speaking generally, communication policy means the targeted influencing of the
attitudes and behaviour of certain target groups by means of the planned commu-
nication of information. With a specific set of circumstances to work with, it deals
with the right selection and creation of communication messages, instruments and
audiences. The target audience defined by means of specific criteria should be the
basis for marketing communication, focusing primarily on the customer and his
specific traits [41, 42]. Typically, more general corporate communications are also
considered part of the marketing function, which expands the scope of such
communication activities to all stakeholders of the company (Public Relations und
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Corporate Identity policy). PR activities that are appropriate for the given situation
and the targeted stakeholders are particularly crucial under the conditions of cor-
porate crisis [62, 63]. The traditional planning process begins by defining the goals
and target groups for communication and then defines the communication budget,
plans and designs the media activities, and conducts and monitors the
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communication activities on the ground [42]. Companies tend to apply specific
heuristics to define their communication budgets, such as referring back to the
spending of a previous period, referring to turnover, to competitors, to defined
objectives or simply to the available means. In the last case, this will automatically
lead to cutbacks in a crisis, which would be a counterproductive decision. The most
important communication activities include print advertising, TV, cinema, or radio
broadcasting, exterior advertising, social media, online or mobile marketing, direct
marketing and sales promotions, expo and event management, public relations and
corporate identity management or sponsoring and product placement [41-43].
These activities need to be scrutinized closely in a crisis to see that they match the
unique needs and circumstances in it.

Considering the two trends in current literature on the subject, the creative
structuring of communication policy in a crisis context should also distinguish its
objects. The most common area covered in publications is crisis communication,
that is, communicating the crisis to the relevant stakeholders. What is less common,
but increasingly frequent since the economic crises of 2008 and later, is the
exploration of the consequences of crisis situations for the established aspects of
marketing communication. This concerns questions of the marketing mix in terms
of communication in a crisis. The focus here lies on communication with clients to
recover or strengthen demand. Both perspectives need to be seen in close con-
nection with each other and should be treated as an integral whole by marking in a
crisis.

Crisis communication in the sense of communicating the crisis is typically
recognized as a crucial element of corporate crisis management. It concerns the
problem-centric response to current and often highly ambiguous information [64],
using internal and external communication to protect the company’s reputation and
sustain loyalty as a means of overcoming the crisis itself. Crises have the habit of
attracting public attention, and a response is called for. The manner in which a
company responds to this can have a negative effect on its entire industry [65], since
such crises, depending on their severity, are interesting and, from a journalistic
standpoint, very attractive topics. They concern questions of uncertainty, individual
stories, of blame and of sheer curiosity, although the latter concerns mostly the start
and growth of the crisis and not its end or resolution. Crisis resolution attracts only
a fifth of the media attention that the previous phases do. For companies, this means
that bad news need to be cushioned with immediate, proactive, constant, unam-
biguous, truthful and empathetic communication [61, 64]. Hobel and Hofmann [8,
39, 66] both distinguish between six factors for successful crisis communication:
time (speed before comprehensiveness), personnel (a qualified communication
team), trust (empathy vs. fear), complexity (reduction and conflict resolution), cost
(investments into crisis communication pay of) and expertise (crisis manual as a
pool of knowledge). These relate closely to the characteristic traits of different types
of crisis (accident, disaster, image, personnel, change management or mergers,
hijacking or blackmail, compliance, information, legal change, product, finance,
international crisis) that represent the situational context for the communication
going on in them.
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Crisis communication normally takes places under severe time pressure, which
can be mitigated by introducing preparatory measures before a crisis hits [61, 64,
66-69]:

Forming trust in the relevant public.

Establishing media contacts.

Developing a crisis plan (manual) with instructions concerning the methods,
contents and responsibilities in communication.

Coordinating human resources.

Providing a crisis centre with the right equipment.

Telecommunication, outbound services and call centres.

Providing images and video material for broadcasters.

Developing darksites (easily upscalable crisis websites).

Establishing a protected internal information platform.

Using a alarm software for potentially relevant parties.

Crisis training (TV and media training, phone and interaction training, simu-
lations, stress and self-management).

In view of the fact that crises are increasingly becoming a recurring fact for
businesses everywhere, preparing for crisis communication can be approached as
part of corporate development and change management.

After the crisis has materialized, the aim is to take proactive action to maintain
control over the discourse. It is essential to avoid ambiguous messages and to
ensure that everybody involved speaks with “one voice”. Corporate communica-
tions, corporate wording and corporate behaviour need to be fully aligned, espe-
cially in times of crisis. Honesty is another prime directive in order to maintain
one’s position of trust among stakeholders after the crisis has hit. The frequency and
level of detail in communication depend on the urgency of the crisis [39]. Crisis
communication needs to take account of its inherent dynamics, which makes it
necessary to constantly rethink the impacts [64, 67]. Of particular relevance in
terms of the inherent dynamics and potential loose-cannon quality of crisis com-
munication are social and online media. Companies in crisis are faced with an
active subset of the wider public with an opinion-shifting impact even on traditional
media outlets [61, 66, 67, 70]. Many crisis communicators also tend to neglect their
internal audience, that is, the employees and their representatives or the executives
not included in the crisis team [71]. These also need to be involved from the very
onset of the crisis; employees need to be kept informed about what the press knows,
and they can act as important multipliers for the crisis messages in their presence on
social media. They should know the official language and understand that any
expression of their private opinions can be taken up by media and should therefore
be marked as such [8, 61, 66]. The worst-case scenario is the exclusion of the
workforce from crisis communication, forcing them to revert to online media or the
social network rumour mill for their own information.

When assessing and developing concepts for crisis communication or engaging
in communication after a crisis has been overcome, official practice guidelines can
be of use for companies. One of the most quoted sources is the US National Center
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for Food Protection and Defense (NCFPD) and its publication of best-practice
guidelines for risk and crisis communication with the following key concepts
[72, 73]

Planning ahead (crisis guidelines) for an immediate response.

Establishing a broad network for crisis communication.

Accepting insecurity (tell what you know).

Forming external partnerships during the crisis.

Being aware of the public perception of the crisis.

Open, honest and credible communication.

Knowing and responding to the needs of the media, always being available.
Expressing compassion and empathy.

Providing ideas for the people affected by the crisis to protect themselves.
Always updating the crisis plans.

Accepting and considering the cultural differences at work (stakeholder-specific
communication).

Similar recommendations for risk or crisis communication can be found in the
practice tips of specialist consultants [e.g. 74].

Communication in a crisis considers the crisis only a specific phase in which
marketing communication policy is enacted. The all too frequent and unthinking
cutting back of communication budgets in crisis is generally rejected by profes-
sionals in the field [35, 75]. A number of empirical studies have revealed the
benefits of the anticyclical maintenance or even extension of the communication
budget as against its reduction as a deceptive source for cost savings [28].
Economic crises actually make the success of communication efforts more likely as
the consumption of media increases, while the cost of media services falls [60]. In
such crises, advertising should emphasize customer benefits to account for the
stricter rational choices made by consumers in these periods. On common recom-
mendation and actually frequent observation is the reallocation of advertising
efforts to cheaper and more innovative online media [28]. Specifically, this can
mean reinforcing one’s social network presence, engaging in more search engine
work, integrating online and offline media, starting more customer and
sales-oriented email communication, or redesigning corporate web pages [35, 51,
75]. In a crisis, reinforcing marketing activities on social networks is a particularly
promising option when it comes to attracting new clients. It is economical, has the
potential for viral marketing and represents a global, immediate and emotionally
charged access to the client [75]. It is also important to involve the sales team in
communication during a crisis. The direct communication efforts of sales profes-
sionals remain the most important and most cost-efficient options for marketing.
They should be supported by intensive sales promotions [28]. As in crisis com-
munication proper, communication in a crisis also has the creation and protection of
trust as its primary purpose, although with a much stronger focus on the customer.
Consumers that are more cautious with their spending money and more distrustful
should be reached with complementary public relations activities, instead of tra-
ditional advertising [28, 53, 69]. Apaydin and Gegti [30] would favour the cost
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Strategic Marketing in Crises

Business Model: Innovation

Marketing

Customer Focus: Loyalty & Profitability Efficiency

Market Selection Strategies
Market Attendance Strategies

Marketing-Mix Strategies

l

Implementation of Communication Policy

Crisis Communication:

- Preparation of Communication Measures (e.g. Building
Reputation and Communication Networks, Darksites,
Trainings etc.)

- Consistency of Communication with different Stakeholders

- Honesty and Actuality of Communication Activities

- High Relevance of Social and Online Marketing

- Involvement of Organizational Members

- Controlling and review of Measures (Best Practices)

Communication in a (Market) Crisis:

- Retention or Enhancement of Communication Budgets

- Focus on Customers and Customer Value Arguments

- Innovative Online Communication

- Involvement of Sales Force Team (Direct Communication)
- Enforcement of Public Relations Activities

- Realizing Saving Opportunities in Communication

Fig. 10 Communication policy: crisis communication and communication in a crisis

aspects in communication; when considering the practices of companies during
crises, they see possible savings in reducing advertising spending, standardizing
advertising, performance-oriented pay for advertising agencies and using low-cost
communication channels. They too recognize the increasing importance of public
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relations and online activities, but they disagree with the sales-focused recom-
mendations of Marasovic et al. in emphasizing the savings options in the field of
quite costly sales promotions. Whether these should be increased or, indeed,
reduced should depend on the specific sales constellation in each case. Each
company needs to weigh up the cost impact of changes and their effects on revenue,
as should be done for all communication efforts. Concerning the stronger focus on
the customer in times of crisis, it serves to remember the commercial rationale of
focusing sales activities on selling solutions for the customers’ problems: “offerings,
information and communication must be based not on what the company wants to
sell, but what customers may need to buy” [51].

Figure 10 illustrates the most important aspects of communication policy in
times of crisis.

4 Summary

Our investigation of a contingent approach to the crisis-specific management of
different policy aspects in marketing was occasioned by the apparent rise in the
number of crises experienced by companies in the real world, their relevance for
corporate development and the surprising lack of a comprehensive analysis of crises
as a phenomenon from the functional perspective of marketing. Crises were defined
as highly dynamic, complex and competitively relevant “peak” events of these three
qualities of the business environment at a specific point in time. They bring about a
specific constellation of risks with often life-threatening impact for companies. An
indicator of the relevance of such crises, not least in the German-speaking countries,
is the constantly high number of insolvencies, which the general public only tends
to notice in the rare instances of spectacular company collapses. Corporate crises
are recurring events in the evolution of any company with a special constellation of
internal and external conditions. They can be considered critical, but “normal”
incidents.

Corporate crises are “home-grown” first and foremost. That means that the forces
threatening the survival of a company, even if they come into effect as a result of
external events, can always be traced back to poor management before or during the
crisis. Current literature offers a vast array of categories of corporate crises to support
a professional response to the phenomenon in business practice. Combined with the
established triad of strategy, performance and liquidity crises, contingent crises (e.g.
emergencies, health risks caused by a product) are described as exogenous shocks
that come into effect on all levels, i.e. at all stages of their development and that can
force the company’s hand when their impact is made worse by the forces of com-
plexity, dynamics or competitive relevance. The creative aspects of crisis manage-
ment come to the fore when a distinction is made between strategic and operational
crisis management. Strategic crisis management concerns the prevention of crises,
the response to strategic crises and the management of the strategic aspects of
operational crisis management, which is tied in with the strategic perspective, but
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often has to take precedence because of the urgency and dynamics of an acute crisis.
From the strategic or operational approach to crisis management, one can arrive at
more specific functional categories in the traditional management areas such as
procurement, production, marketing, human resources or finance.

For the theoretical approach to marketing in a crisis context, we drew attention to
the situational approaches of organizational theory or the fit perspective of strategic
management. In this sense, the situational, contingent properties of crises determine
the structure and behaviour of marketing management, intentionally or uninten-
tionally. The contingency approach for marketing in crises aims at achieving a
“crisis-marketing fit” to form the frame of reference that the different policy areas in
marketing use in the pursuit of that right fit.

The first, general creative area concerns strategic marketing, which is often a
formative force for the company’s general strategy or even a direct mirror image of
it. Three areas for exploration and creative intervention were identified in strategic
marketing: the business model as the nucleus of the corporate and marketing
strategy, whose evolution reflects the need and ability to innovate in a time of crisis;
the focus on the customer, which means involving and aligning marketing activities
with the actual needs of the customer, retaining customers and maintaining prof-
itability in customer transactions; and marketing (sub-) strategies as the functional
expression of the corporate strategy. All three areas are subject to the overriding
mission of protecting the efficiency of marketing and lead to concrete action plans
in the various policy areas of the crisis-marketing mix.

A set of typical responses was identified for product policy, which includes
brand management: Standardizing and streamlining the product range, redoubling
the effort invested in innovation and R&D, offering additional services, considering
the importance of crisis-specific product categories, fine-tuning the sales volumes or
modifying the brand carefully. For sales policy, the proposed responses are more
versatile again: they range from rethinking the number and quality of sales and
distribution channels, focusing on direct sales, introducing crisis-specific incentive
systems or development opportunities for the sales team to targeted economy
measures in sales. Another list of possible responses could be proposed for pricing
policy, such as holistic cost, demand, competition- and customer-oriented pricing,
focusing on indirect price management via specific terms and conditions, or
avoiding ruinous price wars. The last question of policy, that is, communication
policy in the sense of communicating the crisis, has attracted most attention in the
literature on crisis management. It helps to distinguish a second perspective, i.e.
communication in a crisis. There are viable options for both perspectives, such as
emphasizing the importance of pre-planned crisis communication (communicating
the crisis), communicating the added value for the customer to potential consumers
(communicating in a crisis), or engaging in trust-inspiring activities as an important
area for both types of communication.

Crises are a normal part of any company’s development, but their specific nature
also warrants a specific marketing response, adjusted to match the conditions of
each individual set of circumstances. This general statement, however, also reveals
the inherent weakness of a contingency-driven response to crisis management, as
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we need to ask whether it is possible to propose any general recommendations as
each and every crisis comes from a different cause and takes a different course.
Nonetheless, this is a basic problem that faces all disciplines of management theory
and constitutes a dilemma that business economics, as a creativity-oriented science,
has always grappled with and will still face in future. The systems and policy
recommendations made here are therefore only intended as an offer of support, a
possible means of simplifying the practical response to this phenomenon of busi-
ness which no company can hope to avoid at some point in its story. Turning the
argument around for a more positive outlook, a confrontation with marketing policy
for crisis situations is, by needs, a great occasion to do marketing as it should
always be done.

Review Questions (Yes or No)

Are all corporate crises preceded by a specific constellation of risks?
. Can all corporate crises be traced back to internal causes?
3. Should spontaneous crises be treated as a type of crises different from strategy,
performance or liquidity crises?
4. Is the management of a strategic crisis the same as the management of the
strategic aspects of a crisis?
5. Is the contingent nature of the situational response only relevant for structural
questions?
6. Is marketing efficiency the key paradigm in strategic marketing?
7. Does an expansion of the product range as a product policy decision typically
help alleviate a crisis?
8. Should direct sales normally be intensified in times of crisis?
9. Is supply management to be preferred to pricing management in sales crises?
10. Is crisis communication the same as communication in a crisis?

N =

Answers to the Review Questions

Yes /2.1
Yes /2.2
No /2.2
No /23
No /24
No /3.1
No /3.2
Yes /3.3
Yes /3.4
No /3.5

A S

—_
e
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Understanding Digital Marketing—Basics
and Actions

Teresa Pineiro-Otero and Xabier Martinez-Rolian

Abstract This chapter provides a technical outline of the basics of online mar-
keting. The outline includes an introduction to digital marketing and strategic
planning and development. Our contribution offers theoretical and practical insights
relative to this growing marketing area, with information on the main areas for
which online marketing is particularly suited: (1) the E-commerce section explores
different business models and what techniques are used for their development;
(2) Web Search Marketing focuses on SEO and SEM, as well as in keyword
selection for optimisation; (3) E-mail Marketing offers interesting content to
develop a successful newsletter; and (4) Social Media Marketing addresses plan-
ning and the most important tools used to maximise communication through social
media. In a nutshell, this chapter offers an overview of digital marketing and its
strategies for an active and effective Web presence.

1 Introduction

In The Third Wave, Toffler [1] predicted the demarketisation of postindustrial
societies. Three decades later, the end of marketing is still not in sight, even though,
as Kotler [2] already suggested, marketing had to rethink its foundations to adapt to
Third Wave societies and individuals.

In 1999, Schutz and Holbrook [3] referred to the tragedy of the commons to
stress the low efficiency of market strategies due to overuse and reiteration of
strategies and tools. In the last decade of the twentieth century, organisations were
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forced to use more resources to reach dwindling audiences. Consumer resistance to
marketing actions highlighted a deep crisis.

This context of communicational saturation in which an increasing number of
brands compete for the attention and loyalty of audiences forced traditional mar-
keting perspectives and concepts to change. During this process, the most relevant
change was the power shift from marketers to consumers.

The consumer perspective has been present in the definition of marketing since
the 1960s [4] even if it was only in recent decades that it took centre stage in any
marketing strategy. This approach has led to the incorporation of aspects such as
consumer satisfaction, market orientation or consumer value in marketing man-
agement [5].

However, many marketers still think in terms of product, place, promotion and
price, McCarthy’s variables or 4Ps model [6], which does not leave any role to
consumers. This production-focused marketing paradigm was later challenged by
Lauterborn’s user-centred models [7]. The 4Ps of the marketing mix yield to the
4Cs that turn product into customer solution, price into cost to the customer, place
into convenience and promotion into communication. This is a new perspective for
operational marketing that will be of special relevance for the online world.

In recent years, further steps have been taken—marketing does not only focus
exclusively on consumers but also tries to bring different audiences to organisa-
tions. This new approach was defined by the American Marketing Association as an
activity, set of institutions and processes for creating, communicating, delivering
and exchanging offerings that have value for customers, clients, partners and
society at large [8].

The Internet boom for organisations and the daily life of different audiences
brought about a deep transformation of marketing, its tools and strategies [9].

Although initially organisations understood the Internet as a new channel to
increase their presence, they soon started looking for ways to maximise its different
platforms and services. At present, online marketing communications are an
essential part of operational marketing from the point of view of becoming, in
themselves, a specific marketing line: digital marketing.

2 What Is Digital Marketing?

The first approaches to digital marketing defined it as a projection of conventional
marketing, its tools and strategies, on Internet. However, the particularities of the
digital world and its appropriation for marketing have fostered the development of
channels, formats and languages that have led to tools and strategies that are
unthinkable offline.

Today, rather than a subtype of conventional marketing, digital marketing has
become a new phenomenon that brings together customisation and mass distribu-
tion to accomplish marketing goals. Technological convergence and the multipli-
cation of devices have led to an opening up of the ways in which we thinking about
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marketing in Internet and have pushed the boundaries towards a new concept of
digital marketing—user-centred, more measurable, ubiquitous and interactive.

The development digital marketing strategies offer much potential for brands and
organisations. Some of them are as follows:

e Branding. Platforms and 2.0 services are a great opportunity to build a brand
image on the Web due to their scope, presence and constant updates.

e Completeness. The possibilities to disseminate information through links offer
consumers the chance to approach the organisation in a wider and customised
way.

e Usability—functionality. Web 2.0 offers simple and user-friendly platforms for
all in order to improve user experience and allow for their activities.

e Interactivity. In the context in which organisations try to forge long-term
relationships with their audiences, Internet offers the possibility of having a
conversation and therefore of generating a positive experience with the brand.
Such interactivity can be basic, as product assessment, or become an
all-encompassing experience.

e Visual communication. In line with visual thinking, digital marketing offers
marketers different image- and video-based tools. This is an attractive way of
reaching audiences that can lead to greater engagement.

e Relevant advertising. Easy segmentation and customisation of advertising in
Internet maximise the output. Besides, free from the limitations of other media,
this environment has allowed for more attractive advertising.

e Community connections. Internet is a unique opportunity to connect organisa-
tions with their audiences and users among themselves. This connectivity can
improve their experience and enhance the relationship with the product, brand or
organisation.

e Virality. The essence of Internet as a Web of interconnected nodes makes
exponential expansion of any content possible. Taking the model of WOM
(word of mouth) communication, viral communication becomes more relevant
due to connectivity, instantness and shareability of online platforms that
enhance the dissemination of content.

e Measuring output. Online platforms rank first in the availability of follow-up
options and the possibility to assess output.

In any case, to make the best of all these possibilities, organisations must ensure
that their Internet presence or their presence on their different 2.0 channels follows a
strategy with concrete goals, in line with their brand or organisational image. Being
on the Web without proper planning can not only mean a lost opportunity in terms
of resources and potential, but also it can indeed have a negative impact on the
organisation, as the audience, their needs and perceptions regarding the organisa-
tion are unknown.
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3 Digital Marketing Plan

A digital marketing plan is a strategic document that takes the current situation of a
particular organisation to set some midterm goals and to determine the strategy and
means to accomplish them. This document also describes the responsibilities, the
time frame and control tools for monitoring.

The aims of a digital marketing plan include discussing organisations and their
environment. Likewise, it needs to be a roadmap of how to manage the organisa-
tion’s marketing strategy, so that resources are properly allocated. The plan also
helps control and evaluate output and tackle any potential deviation from the
organisation’s expected outcomes. In this line, a marketing plan becomes a flexible
document that must be adapted to the situation of the company and that must feed
into the results obtained by each of the actions developed, especially in the digital
arena.

The development of an online marketing plan is similar to a conventional one in
its structure, but it also includes some variations at an operational level. In fact, this
means not only that some specific strategies and tools are to be developed, but also
that the volubility of the digital media and its capacity for immediate measurement
force organisations to develop a strategy that can be revised in the short term, as
well as the iterative process between action and control.

An online marketing plan is a document in line with the company’s strategic
plan that sets goals of an activity in the digital environment, as well as the what,
how, when, who and why (6 Ws) of Web presence.

There are different options regarding the structure of a marketing plan. We
advocate for a four-phase structure as this is simple and clear to plan for any
action’s strategy (Fig. 1).

4 N N [ N [ N\
SITUATION GOAL STRATEGY ACTION &
ANALYSIS DEFINITION CONTROL
Mission it
Vicier Specific
Value Measurable Media selection Timing
. Asignable
SWOT analysis o ; ; Resources
general & online Realistic Main actions A "
N : esponsibles
Online pressence Time R.elated Plan strategies
& reputation Flexible & tactics Monitoring
Target & publics Al Evaluation
deffinition
G AN RN RN J

s

Correction & changes

Fig. 1 Marketing plan. Source Prepared by the authors
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3.1 Situational Analysis

One of the most relevant parts of any strategic document is the definition of the
baseline situation of the organisation and its environment. This analysis allows for
the development of an action plan that is reality based and shall therefore minimise
the risks in the development of a strategy.

The starting point of any situational analysis is to define the mission, vision and
values of the organisation. This definition helps guide any marketing action.

e The mission defines the chore of the company, its essence. This definition
usually includes the work or activity of the organisation, reference to its audi-
ence, business models and the singularity or differential factor of the organi-
sation. The mission responds to questions such as who am 1?, where do I come
from?, what do I do?, whom do I address?, what is my field of operations? and
what is my competitive edge?

e The vision must describe the future goals of the organisation in a short and
concise way. These goals must be realistic and achievable in order to motivate
all stakeholders in their achievement. The organisation’s vision answers ques-
tions such as where am I going to?, what do I long to be? and where do I want to
be?

e The values are the principles that guide the business culture and that the
organisation—must—fulfil in all its activities.

Once we have defined these three essential aspects from a communicational and
strategic perspective, the next step is the development of an internal-external
analysis of the organisation.

An internal analysis is relevant to determine weaknesses and strengths, and it
must address aspects related to production, commerce, organisational and financial
issues, as well as the attitude of management.

For an external analysis, the goal is to determine the threats and opportunities,
thus considering the specific environment (products, clients, competitors and sup-
pliers), as well as the general environment, namely the ecological, technological,
economic, legal, political or socio-cultural constrains.

Both analyses lead to a SWOT matrix.

A digital marketing plan, apart from being a study of the organisation and its
environment, must analyse its online presence and position. This study shall help
determine a concrete digital strategy and shall help compare its results with the
initial situation. In this sense, the following must be developed:

e Monitoring of the organisation’s keywords, competition and sector (some useful
tools are Mention, Google Alerts, Hootsuite).

e Web positioning assessment of the organisation and its platforms (e.g. Google
search or Alexa ranking).

e Social network evaluation. Presence, activity, influence, etc. (here tools, such as
Klout, PeerIndex and Kreed, become relevant).
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Fig. 2 Empathy map. Source XPLANE [10]

e Competition benchmarking and main influencers in the sector present on digital
media.
e Specific SWOT.

In order to complete the situational analysis, audiences must be defined, with
special attention to the target group, without neglecting the remaining stakeholders.
This description must also focus on the presence and activities of these audiences in
the digital world: active presence in platforms and services, access devices, usage
times, contents of interest, main activities, etc.

The explanation of audiences must be very detailed in trying to adjust the
proposal both to the real needs of those users and to their aspirations and frustra-
tions (Fig. 2).

This phase helps determine the organisation and its situation in the environment
in which it operates and, more particularly, in the digital world. From this infor-
mation, the potential and gaps of the organisation can be identified to design a
future strategy.

3.2 Goal Setting

Setting goals is one of the key phases in any marketing plan. Goal setting offers an
idea of where the organisation is going and it enables adjustments to the marketing
strategy.

Goal setting must follow SMART criteria [11]

e Specific: simple and easy to understand.
e Measurable: they can be measured through any kind of quantitative or quali-
tative unit.
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e Assignable: they can be assigned and implemented by a member of the
company.

e Realistic: with accessible resources, goals can be achieved in a realistic
framework.

e Time-related: they must have a time frame to achieve them.

In the specific field of online marketing, such goals must also be flexible to adapt
to the changes in the company and Web evolution and reached through a consensus.
Many of the actions of digital marketing are horizontal—for example actions on
social media—and involve different departments in the company; therefore, con-
sensus is key.

In an online marketing plan, the most usual types of goals are as follows:

Scope goals.
Activity goals.
Conversion goals.
Loyalty goals.

Once these goals are set, they must be implemented through key performance
indicators. These indicators enable measurement and monitoring.

3.3 Planning a Strategy

In order to accomplish the planned goals, a specific strategy must be defined.
A strategy is the implemented scheme to achieve such goals. This strategy mate-
rialises in activities that are the ways planned to achieve such goals.

An online marketing strategy is based on the model of a marketing funnel
suggested by Strong [12] as a development of the AIDA model (Awareness,
Interest, Desire, Action). The transformation of marketing in recent decades and the
particularities of the digital world have allowed for a revision of this marketing
model so that it captures the conversion strategy, as well as the loyalty strategy, key
in the online world.

There are several proposals, such as that by Rogers [13], who advocates that,
apart from Awareness, Consideration, Preference and Action (an update of the
AIDA model phases in the current context), two new states must be incorporated:
loyalty and advocacy. Like Strong’s model, each phase means a higher level of
commitment, and therefore, loyalty and advocacy are at the bottom of the model
(Fig. 3).

However, in the online world, loyalty and support for the brand can lead to
change consumers into prescribers, thus increasing the scope of the organisation’s
action, which could lead to an expansion of its consumer base.

In the phase of determining a strategy, means and actions must also be defined.
The translation of conventional marketing to the Web, as well as the multiplication
of 2.0 platforms and services, has stressed the complexity of the new media reality.
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Fig. 3 Marketing funnel review. Source Prepared by the authors based on Rogers [13]

While the classification of paid, earned and owned media has been a constant in
marketing, in the past differences in the three categories were clearly defined. Most
marketing initiatives focused on paid media, while owned and earned media were
used to reinforce and amplify advertising messages. Loss in efficacy in advertising
and the appearance of the social Web has led to rethinking this model by blurring
the lines between different media types.

Their convergence is taking root in digital channels, rapidly moving from one
type of media to another. Companies must know and combine the three types of
media in order to ensure greater effectiveness in the building process of their own
audiences.

In the context in which users are more critical with the organisations and in
which peer assessment is given more credit than brands, earned media become key
against paid or owned media. Many funds can be allocated to advertisement, but
one cannot force consumers to assess their experience or recommend a product or
service in particular.

Any comment about a particular brand on Internet can have a measurable impact
in terms of scope; therefore, the goal of organisations is to have a significant
relationship with their users so that they convert into consumers and, on a higher
level of commitment, prescribers (Fig. 4).

Despite the increase in relevance of earned media, the three types must be used
in a coordinated fashion to maximise the efficiency of a digital marketing strategy.

e Owned media Corporate channels such as websites, social network profiles and
mobile apps. These channels are unique, and organisations have total control
over their content within the limits of each platform. Owned media offer avenues
for most content distributed by the organisation, and thus, they become the
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Fig. 4 Convergence media. Source Prepared by the authors based on Lieb and Owyang [14]

backbone of the digital strategy of a brand. However, due to the fact that they
are biased communication, they do not always have the push or scope needed.
Earned media Content about the brand developed by external users, for free.
Earned media is essentially online word of mouth: mentions, shares, reposts,
reviews, recommendations, product reviews on specialised Webs or assessments
on online shops or specific social platforms (e.g. Ciao! or TripAdvisor). Peer
recommendation is essential in the current context, as it is perceived as genuine
and unbiased, as brands lack control over them. One of the most effective tactics
to get public support for brands is to combine a good organic positioning in
browsers (SEO) with a good content strategy.

Paid media These are spaces or content that the brand had to pay for. They tend
to be used to foster or increase the scope of the messages and initiatives of the
brand in owned or earned media, as well as to improve their output. Apart from
advertisement display and advertisement in social media, earned media includes
retargeting, Pay Per Click, promoted tweets, paid reviews in specialised blogs or
recommendations by influencers on social media (they should be identified as
such). Good management of paid media fosters content for earned media, as
well as increasing traffic in owned media. Such an increase in the Web can lead
to sales of a product or services.

Each of these media offers their own advantages and scenarios; therefore, using

them complementary can lead to accomplishing the set goals. All of them contribute
to the development of a digital marketing strategy, although each brand must
analyse what media is more appropriate for them and on which the return on

investment (understood in its widest sense) is higher.

Despite the fact that actions in digital marketing have changed to adapt to new
platforms and users, some of the most relevant in terms of use and results are
e-commerce, Web search marketing, e-mail marketing and social media marketing.

Their features and strategies are developed in the following sections.
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3.4 Action and Control

In the process of setting up a strategy, a large number of actions are defined, and the
possible theme areas for the development of content or keywords are listed (e.g. in
the Social Media Plan). Likewise, the development of each strategy requires time
planning to programme implementation.

In this sense, an essential part of any digital marketing strategy is the scheduling
of tasks and timing for each of them. In the case of marketing strategies based on a
limited number of tools—or example a branding campaign where a Facebook
profile and newsletter are exclusively used—the content of each of the actions
(publication, sending the newsletter) can be briefly mentioned in the scheduled.

Likewise, for online marketing strategies linked to traditional marketing, offline
actions have to be included in the schedule whenever they are interdependent on
online tasks.

Scheduling means assigning tasks in the digital marketing strategy, with clear
indication of who is responsible for each action. Therefore, all departments in the
organisation should have a copy of the marketing plan, especially those depart-
ments and professionals involved in its proper development.

In the action phase, the cost of different actions planned must also be considered.
In this estimate, both technical and operational costs related to the implementation
and monitoring of the online strategy are to be clearly included, especially those
related to websites or online shops.

In the case of other 2.0 tools, despite the fact that most of them are free for the
development of marketing strategies, the cost of the professional developing and
monitoring the strategy must be included or, otherwise, training of staff and pur-
chase of specific management tools for the strategy, its monitoring and output
assessment.

Constant feedback and quantitative data of interactions allow for constant con-
trol of the planned strategy’s evolution. However, dates must be set to assess the
different actions and tools in detail, looking at the specific features of each of them.
This can be a quarterly evaluation for SEO, monthly for the corporate Web or
weekly for some strategies on social media.

These actions can be reviewed and corrected depending on the output of each
individual action; however, the value of the development of the complete strategy
must be periodically assessed. Generally speaking, 4—6-month intervals are rec-
ommended for such assessments, always taking into account the total duration of
the digital strategy and the type of techniques used.

The conclusions to review the strategic document shall be drawn from this
process. This document has to be updated to maximise the efficiency of the fol-
lowing implementation phase. At the end of each phase, the process shall be
repeated.
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4 Social Media Marketing

Social media are a great opportunity to establish significant relationships and create
ways of social interaction defined through dynamic exchanges between their members.
Social media is booming in terms of the number and variety of platforms and users.

Thus, one can find audiovisual platforms such as YouTube, Vimeo and
SoundCloud; image platforms such as Flikr, Picassa, Pinterest or Instagram; general
social networks such as Facebook, Twitter, Google+ or specialised ones such as
LinkedIn; news or bookmark aggregators such as Digg or Delicious; blogs; and
wikis, etc., a vast digital arena where they become the new Web winners.

Although the notion of a social network is not new, it has reached new heights,
thanks to Web penetration and connectivity. Social networks have developed
through platforms that show different types of functions, but common features.
These features aim at creating a community by connecting users, who can interact,
discuss, offer insights or knowledge. Technology in the case of these platforms also
needs to be flexible and conducive to an exchange of information. This means that
free web standards; and modular architectures that lead to complex but efficient
applications are usually favoured [15].

In essence, a social network manager is a service that allows individuals to create
a public or semi-public profile within an enclosed system, to articulate a list of other
users they share connections with, and to use that list of users, as well as other
nodes in the system. The nature and nomenclature of such connections may vary
from one site to the other [16].

Such platforms become content containers as they grant space and tools for a
user who plays an increasingly more active role. In this sense, brands and organ-
isations should be part of the social conversation and use the interactive channels to
listen to their users, who share their perspectives, insights and knowledge, or
generate value through content development.

4.1 Prosumers: Paradigm of an Active User

Internet penetration and the democratisation of some information and communi-
cation technologies have favoured the creation of a World Wide Web with constant
information flow. In this mesh of social digital relationships, each user or node can
become a content producer.

The breaking down of the classical division between sender and receiver has
favoured the appearance of the prosumer (acronym for consumer and producer), an
active user who not only accesses and uses content, but also produces and dis-
seminates it, thanks to the appropriation of 2.0 tools. Despite the fact that the idea
that a user is both a content producer and consumer had already been presented by
Toffler [1], this was seen as a utopia until the advent of Web 2.0. Users produce
more content on a daily basis than any other classical senders such as corporations
and media, thus becoming the undisputable pillar of the Web.
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On the social Web, Internet users have access to a number of free platforms with
simple and user-friendly interfaces that allow them to create their own content,
make it available for thousands of users and get feedback in just a few minutes.

The democratisation of such collaborative platforms paved the way for an alter-
native production system based on crowd wisdom that calls for a rethinking of the
marketing strategies by organisations. More and more users look for precision, rele-
vance, power and reciprocity in marketing, the actual bases for concurrence marketing.
Precision and relevance refer to the agreement with the consumer in both targeting and
messaging. On the other hand, power and reciprocity are linked to cooperation with the
consumer and product design or to marketing implementation [17].

With customisation, concurrence marketing becomes an opportunity for the
establishment of long-term relationships with audiences. This is a new scenario that
has led to the transformation of social interactions, information access and use, a
scenario that has forced brands to stop bombarding consumers to have a conver-
sation with them instead.

Organisations have started looking for touch points to their different Internet
audiences. These touch points are seen as spaces for interaction whereby brands can
trigger strategies to add value and transform their messages in an attractive expe-
rience for the user. Marketing is more effective when it is consumers who look for
brands rather than the other way around.

4.2 The Role of Community Managers

In a new environment of interactions in which brands and their audiences share
space and conversations on an equal footing, a new professional profile has
emerged: that of community managers.

A CM (community manager) is a professional in charge of the social platforms
of brands or public persons, so that they become the link between the
organisation/person and its community. The roles of a CM are community based, as
they are responsible for building and managing a community, as well as for content
production and activation.

The tasks of a CM include listening to a social audience and identifying opinion
leaders, an action that may help them optimise management of their community
while they gather value-added information for the strategic management of the
organisation. In this way, the CM becomes the voice of the company for external
audiences and the voice of the social community for marketing directors.

Increasing specialisation of the sector has led to the specialisation as community
managers, who, as Baston [18] highlighted, in agencies of digital marketing and
large corporations, shares space with more specific social profiles such as:

e Social Media Manager: they coordinate the community managers.
e Social Media Strategist: they interpret the reports and designs a strategy for
social media.
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e Social Media Analyst: they have a technical profile as data analysts and interpret
the metrics to draft reports.

e Social Media Developer: this is a hyperspecialisation of a programmer who
knows the social APIs and designs project code for social media (e.g. compe-
titions or specific landing pages).

Social Media Public Relations: they foster content outside their own channels.
Social Media SEO: they apply SEO techniques to social media, especially for
campaigns of online reputation.

e Content Curator: they select and organise relevant information.

4.3 Social Media Plan

A Social Media Plan (SMP) is the master document that guides an organisation’s
presence on social media, and it covers all aspects to be considered when setting up,
maintaining and integrating social networks in the organisation’s digital marketing
strategies. Therefore, any Social Media Plan must be in line with the marketing
plan.

A Social Media Plan is a living document that needs close control due to the
liveliness of the virtual world in which it is implemented.

This document usually follows a relatively stable structure including goal set-
ting, types of audiences, platforms, strategies and tools, and output measurement.
With output measurement, the whole process begins anew (Fig. 5).
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LISTEN PLAN STRATEGY ACTION &

CONTROL
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Fig. 5 Social Media Plan. Source Prepared by the authors
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4.3.1 Goals

Apart from following SMART criteria when they are discussed, the goals of a
marketing plan must cover three different nonexclusive targets:

e Visibility: making the brand popular (e.g. more Facebook hits).

e Sales: to increase sales or leads through a specific platform (e.g. to turn visits to
the site into actual sales through twitter links to products of an online shop).

e Loyalty: to preserve an audience that has already been attracted (e.g. through a
media-based customer support service).

4.3.2 Audience

The objectives must be targeted at a specific audience. The more you know the
organisation knows its target audience, the more possibilities it has of fostering
efficient communication and forging a significant relationship. In the case of social
media, most of these data are given by the users themselves when they create their
profiles. Data are further defined by actions and interactions among users in social
platforms and, generally speaking, on the Web. It is also common to use statistics
portals to select more specific audiences.

4.3.3 Channels

Goal setting and a definition of target audiences give insights into the channels to be
used for our social media marketing strategy. To materialise this decision in an
efficient way, each of the suggested platforms should be schematically analysed in a
dedicated document. This document must include the type of user, topic of interest,
type of format and languages, segmentation possibilities, and the best timings for
marketing communications.

4.3.4 Defining a Strategy

The time has come to define specific actions for the strategy. In this phase, actions
to be undertaken, the type of content to be disseminated through social media and
the editorial calendar of such content will be planned.

Some of the rules and techniques used for content on social media during the
drafting of the marketing plan are Pareto’s principle, marketing content, branded
content, content curation, competitions or customer support, among other.

Content Marketing: these are actions to create and disseminate relevant and
useful content to raise interest in the audience and attract them, instead of inter-
rupting them so that they buy products and services [19].
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Despite the fact that content marketing is not a new phenomenon—see the
monthly magazines of airlines—it has boomed with Web 2.0. Through their own
media, brands disseminate useful and quality content to attract and retain qualified
traffic. Content must be of quality and useful, must have the brand personality and
be multiformat and segmented.

Furthermore, content marketing tries to change users into sneezers, expanding
the scope of the brand beyond its own channels.

Formats to implement this strategy are varied: from more traditional formats
such as white papers, e-books or specialised magazines to other types of formats
specific to the digital world such as podcasts or videos, or other types of content
with higher virality such as infographics or memes.

Content Curation: this is the process of collecting, selecting, organising and
adapting the relevant information on certain topics or trends on the Web to be
published in an attractive and significant way.

Content curation allows the company to be constantly updated and know new
Web features, especially in terms of its audiences, while it saves time in the process
of content creation.

Having a content curator can help brands design their content action plan and
indicate possible developing lines depending on the topics of their audiences in the
social conversation or who they follow on the Web. Tools such as Google Alerts or
Google Trends and Mention, RSS readers such as Feedly or bookmarks such as
Scoop or Delicious enhance identification and selection of topics of interest.

Customer Support: customers come to brands through social media looking for
direct, useful, fast and effective contact. Thus, managing customer support through
2.0 platforms completes the customer experience with the brand.

Social networks allow for direct and instant contact with the company, fulfilling
the concrete need of the customer at a critical point that, if successfully handled, can
generate loyalty from the user, or undo a conversion otherwise. In both cases, the
user can comment online about their experiences with the company and enlarge the
scope of their experience.

Competitions: they are one of the best tools to promote an organisation’s
presence on social media, especially during product launch. In order to properly
manage competitions, the following needs to be considered:

e Competition strategy: it must be adapted to the possibilities of each social
media. Using 2.0 specific services for competitions such as Cool Tabs or
Offerpop for Facebook is encouraged.

e Regulations: they have to be clear and concise and provide a detailed expla-
nation of the operations, dates, participation, award, etc.

e Prize: it must be attractive and therefore encourage participation. If a product or
service by the company is given as prize, it can not only reduce the competition
cost, but also help convert a user into a customer and afterwards into a fan.
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4.3.5 Measuring Outcomes

Assessing the actions taken on social media is vital to measure success and check
whether the goals set have been accomplished. As there is a large variety of
measurable items for social media, KPIs must be concretely described and adjusted
to the goals in order to develop a successful Social Media Plan; otherwise, there is a
risk of going into vanity metrics that do not measure real performance [20].

A KPI can cross-check different metrics to measure an objective. For example, in
order to know whether popularity on Facebook has increased, one can use the
number of hits or interactions with the brand in a particular period, compared to
competitors or a previous period.

Metrics usually revolve around the following factors:

e Audience: community volume (e.g. Facebook fans, Twitter followers). This is
one of the most basic metrics. Quantitatively, they can indicate the evolution of
a community, but they do not offer qualitative data about it.

e Scope: this is related to the size of the community, although it really measures
direct amplification. It can be measured on Facebook through the number of
shares, on Twitter with retweets, etc.

e Engagement: this is one of the most highly valued metrics; it measures the
degree of engagement of the audience with the brand. It helps detect stake-
holders and real fans.

e Influence: this measures the repercussion that is generated in the audience, so
that it can be seen as part of engagement. One of the most widely used KPIs to
measure influence is the Klout Index.

e Interaction: this is a complex metrics because it involves engagement and brand
perception. On Facebook, for example, this is measured by PTAT (people
talking about this), a metrics that counts the users that in some way have
interacted with the brand.

4.3.6 Pivoting

Once the actions implemented are evaluated and the accomplishment of goals has
been checked, some conclusions must be drawn so that the organisation can pivot,
integrating precise changes in its marketing strategy on social media.

4.4 Social Media Advertisement

Most social networks show business models based on advertising. If we take for
granted that a social network manager is a massive database, with large amounts of
qualitative data from its users, using them allows brands for microsegmentation of
their advertising actions.
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Facebook is the king of segmentation. Its advertising platform, Facebook Ads,
allows for a delimitation of the target audience of each ad depending on location,
age, sex, languages and even interests and behaviours. Facebook is the social
network with more data on its users. The basic data filled in by the user alone in the
process of registration on Facebook includes name, e-mail, sex and age of the new
user.

Facebook advertising formats are inserted either on the sidebar on the right-hand
side of the platform itself or on the users own timeline (Web and mobile), as well as
on the logout page. These adverts must to be identified as such, while their goal is
to foster as much interaction with users as possible. They thus try to increase
engagement, lead users to a website or special offers, get more likes on pages, app
downloads... etc.

Twitter, on the other hand, has less information on users; therefore, its seg-
mentation capacity is lower. However, through its advertisement platform, Twitter
Ads, they have launched some highly efficient publicity formats. This is the case of
Twitter cards, a format focusing on promoted tweets to generate tweet engagement,
website clicks or conversations, app installs or app engagements, followers or leads
on Twitter, to name a few.

Other advertisement formats on Twitter are promoted accounts, which are placed
on the profile recommendation section, or sponsored trending topics on the list of
topics at a particular point in time.

5 E-mail Marketing

E-mail marketing is an online marketing technique that uses e-mail to send
advertisements or commercial information. This is a communication tool used to
attract new customers or make those that one already has loyal to the brand.

E-mail and Internet have gone hand in hand since the Web was created. The
beginning of Internet dates back to 1969 (Arpanet at that time), while the first
e-mail was sent two years later (1971). This first e-mail showed some basic features
that have remained till the present: the use of “@” on the user name, as well as the
fields “To”, “Subject” and “Message”.

In such a volatile environment, e-mail has been one of the Web tools that have
best adapted to change, both in content and in scope and penetration. Therefore,
e-mail marketing becomes one of the main tools in a digital strategy.

At present, e-mail is the first Internet service ahead of social media. In 2015, the
number of e-mail accounts in the world was about 4.353 million users from which
205 billion e-mails were sent [21]. This volume of traffic includes legitimate e-mails
and spam.

The term “spam” refers to those messages we do not request and we do not want
or with an unknown sender, usually sent though mass mailing. Although spam can
be used on other platforms and devices, for example SMS on mobile phones, e-mail
is the most important channel for this practice.
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The line between commercial information sent by e-mail and spam is, in many
cases, a fine one that experts in e-mail marketing must properly identify in order to
avoid making mistakes in their work.

The most common form of e-mail marketing is the newsletter: a publication that
is distributed with a specific periodicity on an interesting topic for all recipients,
called subscribers.

The complexity level of a newsletter shall depend on its goals and content; they
can be simple with mainly plain text as the predominant feature or be enriched with
images, graphs, adverts and/or hyperlinks.

The objectives of e-mail marketing can be multiple and varied; however, all of
them could be grouped around four main goals:

e Diverting traffic to our website: be it the home page or any special section inside
it.

e Promoting a special action: either promotion of new services, special discounts,
sales, download of applications, etc. When the goal is to increase traffic or some
Web-based special promotion, specific websites are usually created. Such pages
are called landing pages.

e Cost savings: e-mail marketing supports order management and information to
the customer regarding the status of such orders, as well as the provision of
customer support services at a lower cost than other communication channels.

e Brand popularity and image: same as for other types of campaigns online, e-mail
marketing is suited to generate popularity and brand image among consumers.

5.1 Advantages of E-mail Marketing

The strong penetration of e-mail in the current context becomes an important reason
to include it any digital strategy, but there are also other important reasons to do so.

This is mass technology that instantly reaches everyone and whose use spans
devices and screens (desktop, laptop, mobile telephones, tablets, etc.).

The system is direct and able to reach individuals in a scalable and targeted way.
This is due to the fact that an e-mail can be sent to a single address or thousands,
while content can target different types of audiences . In fact, the system’s scala-
bility does not hinder customisation; despite its capacity for mass mailing, it can be
highly customised at a cost far lower than that of other types of campaigns.

This is also a multimedia channel that offers the possibility of sending a large
amount of information as text, images (static or moving), sound or hyperlinks, in
any combination.

As this is digital communication, its impact can be quantified through different
metrics that allow for an evaluation of the output of each campaign.
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5.2 Disadvantages of E-mail Marketing

Despite the many plus points of this marketing format, starting e-mail campaigns
can be hindered due to some disadvantages inherent to this channel:

The most important enemy of professionals in the sector are antispam filters of
e-mail managers that identify e-mail marketing as spam, thus reducing the effec-
tiveness of campaigns.

Furthermore, explicit authorisation by the end-user to receive ads through mail is
needed. Such actions are regulated by data protection acts and specific e-commerce
laws.

Depending on the country and specific laws, sending unauthorised messages
may result in very high fines for the companies sending them.

This need for prior authorisation to include the person on an e-mail database of a
particular organisation has pushed e-marketing into the group “permission mar-
keting” [22].

5.3 Legal Framework

The legal framework regulating e-mail marketing is important as it can inhibit some
of its features.

On the one hand, legislation protects personal data in order to prevent the illicit
transfer of databases. The relevant legislation forces the company to have a register—
in some cases physical—of user data and makes the company responsible for the
protection of such data.

On the other, each country develops laws to regulate mass mailing, a standard
that influences commercial communications or advertising and those of transna-
tional or relational character.

Despite the fact that the legal framework can vary from one country to the other,
there are some common elements:

Mailing must have explicit authorisation by the recipient. This authorisation
must be prior to the inclusion of the person in the mailing list.

The fact that the message is linked to advertising must be explicit, as well as the
identification of the sender on the e-mail, the subject and the heading of the
message.

In the cases of offers, competitions and promotional games, they must be
identified as such and be clear and explicit about the conditions and participation on
them.

In some countries, the advertising message has to be identified with the word “ad-
vertisement” or abbreviation, as well as with a valid postal address for the company.

Simple procedures for the user to withdraw consent are a must.

In the case of multinational companies, the relevant legislation is that of the
country where the company is based and not that of the recipient.
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5.4 The Heart of E-mail Marketing: Subscribers

The success of a marketing campaign lies precisely in target management; there-
fore, a good strategy to attract and retain subscribers is needed.

The recipient database must be meticulously kept and segmented. The essential
question here is quality over quantity; therefore, purchasing user databases is dis-
couraged—unless this is unavoidable, or unless their usefulness has been proven.

Best practices in e-mail marketing stress the need to generate and maintain the
organisation’s own database. The reason is simple: it is easier to get back a client
than to get a new one.

Getting subscribers is a slow but steady task, although it can be sped up through
online and traditional channels. Registration boxes can be created on a website,
either as pop-ups or in another Web section where registration is required to request
information (e.g. a budget) or in exchange for exclusive content or downloads.

Generally, easy forms must be used, where the compulsory fields include name
and/or e-mail, although the number of fields in the form may be increased depending
on the value of the treat one is offering the user in exchange for their registration.

Another common instance is e-commerce. When a user registers on a particular
online shop and accepts the use and service terms, they are automatically included
in the e-mail marketing database.

Regarding traditional channels, the compilation of e-mails and information
related to the users can be done through competitions, on-street promotion, post-
cards, loyalty cards or formal information requests through e-mail, phone or postal
mail. Traditional channels demand, however, the digitalisation of the data to be
included in a subscriber list.

Keeping subscribers is a task that needs special attention and that must be
implemented while new users are added. In this process, brands must be especially
careful regarding content and the form e-mail communications take. Content must
be interesting for the user, giving priority to quality instead of periodicity.

In a nutshell, it is about adding value to commercial communications with
complementary information (comparisons, advice, features, etc.) useful for the
consumer.

5.5 Newsletters—Some Key Aspects

Four key aspects are to be considered for effective newsletter design:

e Database. In order to have good content segmentation, the organisation needs to
know the subscriber base of their newsletter as much as possible. This infor-
mation will allow for specific profiling depending on demographics, geo-
graphical data, interests, etc., thus increasing the efficiency of communications.

e The content of the newsletter. The content must be useful and interesting, and
the weight of commercial information must be properly balanced. Subscribers
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value content that adds value or is useful to them. In fact, newsletters are one of
the key tools of content marketing.

e The field “from”. In the context of communication saturation, the customer will
look at the field “from” as a filter to recognise the origin and dismiss—or not—
the mail.

e The field “subject”. Same as with a slogan or tagline, the field “subject” must
stand out above the mass of incoming e-mails. Likewise, this field must fulfil the
criteria of usefulness and interest for the user and, above all, honesty about the
content they will find in the mail. Otherwise, the company runs the risk of their
mail becoming invisible and that the subscriber requests to unsubscribe from
their database.

e The field “subject” must not be too long or complex, although it allows for the
inclusion of special characters such as emojis.

There is no exact formula to predict the success of a newsletter. Each campaign
is different and is closely linked to the audience it addresses. In any case, campaigns
may be optimised using A/B tests.

These tests are random experiments with two differential variables. Two different
versions of the newsletter are sent to two subgroups of the database just changing a
single element (the field “subject”, layout or organisation of content, the colour of
the download button, the size of the main image, etc.). This process allows for an
empirical test that reveals which version of the message works better and leads to
higher ratios of opening, clicks, conversions, etc., so that optimisation of future
versions of the newsletter becomes possible.

5.6 Basic Metrics to Assess the Efficiency of E-mail
Marketing

There are three elements to assess e-mail marketing: the user database, sending the
newsletter and conversion metrics.

In metrics related to databases, estimating the index of increase in subscribers is
easy or, if that were the case, the rate of unsubscribers. Identifying the cause for any
increase or decrease in subscribers is of essence. As they happen in a timeline, the
cause can be traced back to a particular content item, so that the organisation knows
what content works better.

Regarding sending newsletters, there are four indicators to measure the success
of e-mail marketing:

e Sent index: Percentage of deliveries to the recipient (i.e. where there was no
mistake in sending).

e Opening rate: Percentage of e-mails that have been opened by the recipient.
Some applications provide information about what recipients have received and
opened the e-mail, as well as reception and opening time.



58 T. Pifieiro-Otero and X. Martinez-Rolan

e Clicks on links: It is possible to determine what are the links that have been
clicked and establish a popularity ranking depending on the number of clicks.

e Unsubscribers per batch sent: Number of people who have cancelled their
subscription to a newsletter after they have received a particular issue.

Finally, a conversion rate can be established between the sending of the
newsletter and the accomplishment of a particular goal, for example downloading a
mobile application, using a discount voucher, registration on another website and
sending additional information by the user.

5.7 Applications and Resources for an E-mail Marketing
Campaign

The supply of existing applications around e-mail marketing is wide, with many
applications for different operating systems, such as Windows (G-Lock EasyMail7,
for example) or OSX (Direct Mail, for example), although market trends seem to
focus on the development of Web applications that help manage this kind of online
marketing. The advantages of Web services lie in their mobility and the possibility
of accessing them from different devices.

Thus, we can have a wide array of Web services to implement an e-mail mar-
keting campaign successfully. The features vary a little across platforms, although
there are a series of functionalities that must be present for a proper professional
development of such marketing:

e Contact and list management, with the possibility to import and export, and to
create segmented contact lists.

e Newsletter design, usually HTML based. Many of the tools incorporate visual
editors to make the design aspects of the newsletter as easy as possible, to
include multimedia elements and to distribute the elements in the newsletter.

e Sending campaigns and the possibility of scheduling and automating the
process.

e Statistical analysis of output.

Some tools enable the integration of the newsletter with other services and
platforms regularly used by organisations. Some examples are the incorporation of
a widget on the company’s blog, the integration of social media or tools such as
Google Analytics.

The most widely used newsletter editors are Teenvio, Dopple, MailChimp,
Benchmark, MailRelay, Campaign Monitor, MPZ Mail or SendinBlue.

These kinds of services tend to offer freemium business models, offering a
limited free version that allows to test the service with some restrictions; they are
usually linked to the number of subscribers and/or monthly dispatch of e-mails (see
Table 1). Choosing one platform or the other depends on the needs of the company
and the possibilities they offer on their free or payment versions.
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Table 1 Comparison between the most important e-mail marketing applications

App Business model Free subscribers Monthly mail delivery
Benchmark Freemium 2000 14,000

MailChimp Freemium 2000 12,000

MailRelay Freemium 15,000 75,000

MPZ Mail Freemium 2000 12,000

SendinBlue Freemium Unlimited 9000

TeEnvio Freemium 1000 5000

Source Prepared by the authors

E-mail is a powerful marketing tool that is also easy to combine with other
strategies and platforms, such as social media and e-commerce.

6 E-commerce

E-commerce means the development of transactions between companies and/or
individuals on Internet, mainly for buying and selling products and services, using
applications such as e-mail, instant messages, shopping carts or Web services, to
name a few.

The progressive penetration of Internet and its possibilities have multiplied
online trade relationships. This trend started in 1970 with the transfer of funds, with
the arrival of the World Wide Web, and it became an opportunity for traditional
companies and the beginning of businesses operating only online.

The boom of mobile devices, smartphones in particular, has opened the doors to
mobile commerce (m-commerce), i.e. electronic commerce using a mobile device
[23].

E-commerce is an increasingly wider and more diverse phenomenon; therefore,
classifications are difficult. In any case, the most widely used classification of
e-commerce is based on the nature of its transactions looking at the relationship
between companies and/or between them and their final customers. In this line, we
can speak of:

B2B: Business to business, these are already established companies that operate
through Internet where consumers are not involved.

Car manufacturers, for example, use online purchase platforms for their suppliers
to place their orders.

B2C: Business to consumer, this is the most popular and widespread model on
Internet, where a company sells its products (e.g. Zalando, Amazon, AliExpress) or
services (Spotify) to the consumer through the Web.

B2E: Business to employee, this is a model of e-commerce that is derived from
the previous one, where only the company and its employees take part. Microsoft,
for example, uses it so that its workers can order office supplies, documents and
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company cards. This is a type of business that generates engagement by the staff
through, for example, attractive offers that push their performance, which is the
reason why big companies are so keen on this model.

G2C: Government to consumer, this is a variation of B2C for the public
administration. This is a model of e-commerce that is gaining progressive weight in
its implementation through the e-administration. A clear example is payment of
taxes through Internet.

C2C: Consumer to consumer is common in sectors where end consumers relate
to each other, away from companies, for their own transactions. This is a business
model that is becoming stronger with crowd sourcing economies (e.g. BlaBlaCar or
Uber) or online purchases and sales portals (eBay).

6.1 E-commerce Techniques

6.1.1 Online Shop

In order to purchase or sell on Internet, an online shop is not a must, but it becomes
a useful Web tool for efficient e-commerce [24]. Some of the most common sec-
tions in any online shops are as follows:

e Properly structured product catalogue with sections, images displaying the
product alone, as well as accurate and honest product descriptions.

e Shopping cart, always visible so that the customer can check, with just one
click, the products added, shipping costs, taxes and discounts (if applicable) and
the total purchase price.

e An internal search engine, which will be more important as the product cata-
logue and sections develop.

e Explanation of payment methods allowed and contact/customer support area. As
there is no physical contact, companies must offer communication pathways for
their online shops so that users can share their concerns and increase their trust
in the company.

e The availability of several payment options is recommended. Some of the most
common payment methods are credit card, which needs a safe payment gate-
way, bank transfer or other e-services of great penetration and reliability such as
PayPal. Payment against delivery, which was a star method for distance sales,
can also be used on some shops, although it is becoming outdated (Fig. 6).

Apart from the quality of the product that the description and the picture on the
online shop match the product, companies must be very careful with the shipping
options, especially in the case of physical products. In online sales, transportation
and the delivery of the product become the only phases where the customer has
physical contact with the company, and therefore, a bad experience with the courier
or deficient packaging can ruin the purchase experience.
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Fig. 6 Main sections of an online shop. Source Prepared by the authors using a screenshot of
Amazon.com

Companies must take care of these aspects to the last detail, as they are part of
the image the consumer will have of their brand. Guarantee and delivery dates by
the courier must be considered, as they are key e-commerce issues.

6.1.2 Development of an Affiliation Programme for the Online Shop
(Affiliation Marketing)

Affiliation marketing is an online marking tool widely used for e-commerce. In
essence, it means taking the commission business model to an online environment.
Amazon was a pioneer in this type of marketing when, in 1996, it allowed other
websites to sell their books in exchange for a percentage of the unit sold.

Affiliate networks appear in order to regulate trade relations between merchants
—the real product sellers—and affiliates—those who publish the ad of a product
online. Such networks include Zanox, TradeDoubler or Commission Junction, and
they act as mediators between advertisers and affiliates, while they provide them
with tools to follow up sales and the proper development of their relationship. The
affiliate network is supported by a commission that the merchant pays the affiliate
(Fig. 7).

For the merchant, the advantages are obvious—they only pay if the target is
accomplished and it can reach its potential clients through the hundreds of Webs
promoting them. However, some affiliate networks demand a monthly fee—and
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Fig. 7 How an affiliate programme works. Source Prepared by the authors based on Quirk
eMarketing [25]

even an entry fee—that can be up to 600 €, a threshold high enough for small- and
medium-sized merchants [26].

6.1.3 Retargeting or Remarketing

Retargeting is an online marketing technique to turn a user into a customer who,
despite having shown some interest on the products or services of a website, did not
manage to finish the purchase or action required.

Google labels this technique “remarketing” and uses it through their display
network.

Retargeting works as follows: The user visits a product X on an online shop.
Without finishing the purchase, they leave the website and continue browsing the
Web. When they access another site, the user will find adverts on product X, adverts
that will “follow them” during browsing and—in case they click—will bring the
user back to the initial online shop (A) (Fig. 8).

Retargeting is only used for consumers who have shown any interest in a pro-
duct before, and therefore, it is a quality impact that often ends up in a purchase.

Prospect Prospect Brand ad on
is tracked leaves other sites

seni

PROSPECT RETURNS TO YOUR SITE

Prospect Brand site

Fig. 8 How retargeting or remarketing works. Source Prepared by the authors based on Hussain
[27]
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Retargeting is part of “behavioural marketing” and is supposed to yield high
profitability for e-commerce.

6.2 Business Models to Estimate Payment Per Page
in Advertising

Many of the online marketing strategies are based on digital advertising; therefore, it
is essential to know the different formulae to hire and estimate the cost of an online
campaign. Some of the online advertising models available include the following:

e CPM (cost per 1000). This is related to the number of times an ad is shown on
the screen, also known as impressions. The CPM indicates the cost of 1000
online impressions of the ad. This system is basically used for branding cam-
paigns, and the process of brand equity is the most economic option of all.

e CPC (cost per click). This is related to the interactions of the user with the ad
through clicks. They are used to divert traffic to a website, paying only when the
user clicks on the ad and is redirected to a Web (therefore the name PPC, Pay
Per Click). CPC does not guarantee sales, but it ensures traffic and is less
volatile than CPM.

e CPL (cost per lead) refers to a contract based on quality contacts without
implying direct sales. In particular, CPL is the price that is paid for each user
who completes the objective or lead. Such leads vary depending on the mar-
keting goals of the company; a lead can be to fill-in a Web form, becoming a
follower of the company on social media or to disseminate content on the site.

e CPA (cost per acquisition) is hiring ads per sales; that is, payment is done for
each action that has generated a customer. In the mobile environment, this is
also referred to as CPI (cost per install) and indicates the applications installed
after interacting with the ad. In this case, the installation of an APP, even if it is
free, becomes a purchase (Fig. 9).

Impr eSSiOns

Clicks

Leags
branding Saleg
traffic increase generate qualified transactions
brand business info
knowledge
CPA
cPL
cpC
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Fig. 9 Models of online ad purchasing. Source Antevinio [28]
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Of the previous models, only CPA and CPI ensure a transaction between the
customer and the company, so that they are formulae that require more economic
investment.

6.3 E-commerce Glossary

Understanding the language of e-commerce is not simple. The use of common
words with a different meaning can sometimes be confusing.
Some of the most usual terms are as follows:

e A/B test: through this technique, organisations show two different versions of
the same content to understand which one is more widely accepted. A/B tests are
common in e-commerce and online marketing and they must be done with just
one change every time the test is performed.

e Shopping cart abandonment: this is the moment a potential customer gives up
before finalising the purchasing process on an online shop.

e APIL a set of operations and instructions released by software to interact with it
and access higher quantity of data and options.

e Backoffice: administration of the backoffice of an online shop. This is mainly
geared towards catalogue and stock management to optimise the browsing
process and purchase of a product on the said shop.

e Call to action: this is an initiative to create interest among users and encourage
them to participate or react before a particular stimulus.

e CAPTCHA: Turing test inserted on a website, generally on a form, to check
whether the data are being fed by a person or a machine. It is useful to avoid
spam.

e Shopping cart: a key tool of an online shop showing the products a user has
selected for their purchase, their price and taxes, as well as the final cost for the
user.

e Cash flow: same as for traditional businesses, e-commerce needs to look at its
cash flow or the difference between receipts and payments of a company in a
particular period.

e CMS: Content management system that allows, in a simple way, to organise,
treat and publish on a website. This is also used for the online product catalogue
and, generally, for any content on the online shop.

e Cookies: website information stored in the browser enabling better under-
standing of the user through their browsing (habits, interests, etc.). This is key
for retargeting strategies.

e Checkout: guided process of finalising a purchase that converts the content of
the shopping cart into a real sale.

e Display network: it is Google’s affiliate network with over two million websites
available.
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e Dropshipping: type of retail sales in which the retailer does not have the actual
stock of the product and issues the purchase order to the supplier once the
shopping process is over. This is especially relevant for an online shop envi-
ronment because it saves stocking costs.

e Eye tracking: technique and instrument to eye track the areas of the screen users
pay special attention to, as well as their reading line.

e Lead or Conversion: each of the concrete goals set by the company. Usually, a
lead is equivalent to a sale, but this is not necessarily so; they can be linked to a
database of subscribers and prescribers.

e Payment gateway: it triggers payment processing.

e Payment processing: it allows for payment management.

7 Web Positioning

Accessing information on Internet is done mainly through the World Wide Web, a
vast digital arena that has experienced constant expansion since it was created in
1991 by Tim Berners-Lee. The current volume of websites is around 850 million
(July 2015).

When Internet started, the number of websites was low enough to access all of
them through their domain. As Internet expanded, it became clear that there is a
need to create a system that allows for Web searches and enables access.

Until the end of the twentieth century, classification systems with embedded
categories, known as directories, offered good results in an expanding community
of Web users. The most widely known directory was Yahoo, still accessible on the
website https://business.yahoo.com/.

However, a more intuitive and simple way to access the increasing volume of
sites and Web pages was needed. That was when browsers first appeared.

A browser or search engine is a computer-based system that indexes websites
using some dedicated software. A search engine offers a list of the results depending
on the search terms and connectors used by the user to access the desired content.

This simple process is currently the most important pathway to access online
content, while it becomes the marketing base for browsers: SEO and SEM.

SEO stands for search engine optimisation, and it refers to a set of techniques
applied on a website—structure, code, content and links—to improve positioning in
the organic results of a concrete browser [29].

SEM stands for search engine marketing, and this refers to a publicity system of
a browser offering users ads that are related to their search terms. Unlike SEO, SEM
offers induced results (payment), even if they are presented to the Web surfer as the
best result of their search (with the same look as for natural results) (Table 2).

Both types of positioning are opposing, even if they are both based on two key
aspects: search engines and keywords (Fig. 10).
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Table 2 Differences between SEO and SEM
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SEO

SEM

Mid- and long-term results

Immediate results

Results are sustained for longer

At the end of the campaign, the results are
erased

Organic results

Paid results

Results are always shown at the centre of the
screen

Results appear mainly on the screen top or
sides

Source Prepared by the authors
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Fig. 10 How search engine optimisation and search engine marketing results are shown. Source

Prepared by the authors

7.1 Search Engines

Each search engine uses tracing software for websites for their indexing. The
software used is known as Internet bot, Web crawler or Web spider, and periodi-
cally tracks the Web looking for new content or modifications on sites.

The search engine processes Web tracking, while it uses its own algorithm to
classify websites and offer its results, as well as their order, depending on the search

terms used.

Therefore, both in order to improve the organic result (SEO) and to improve the
efficiency of advertising campaigns (SEM), selecting a specific search engine is of

essence.
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Fig. 11 Penetration share of o
Web browsers worldwide. Yahoo, 4%
Source Prepared by the Baidu, 1% _
authors using Statista [30]
data for July 2015

Bing, 4%

Google, 88%

Despite the fact that there are several search engines available (Ask, Bing,
Yahoo!, AOL, Baidu, Yandex, etc.), Google ranks as the search engine with the
deepest worldwide penetration.

In fact, Google is the search engine with the highest market share in most
countries in the world. In countries such as Japan, Russia, China and North Korea,
it ranks second.

In order to optimise resources for positioning, organisations need to adapt to the
search engine’s algorithm most widely used when speaking about positioning in
browsers, usually meaning SEO and SEM action in Google (Fig. 11).

Google started in 1998, and in a few years, it became a world reference, thanks
to an innovation they introduced in the result system: PageRank. This algorithm
gives marks to each page depending on the quality of their incoming links; thus, the
results are more closely adjusted to Web searches.

In recent years, Google has introduced changes in its algorithm in order to avoid
anomalous positioning and bad practices in its results. Thus, Panda (released in
2011) and Penguin (released in 2014) have refined their positioning criteria.

7.2 Keywords

Keywords are the terms or phases that users use to search something on Internet.
Likewise, keywords are search criteria matching a specific website.

When trying to positioning a site using some search criteria, several words are
used for each keyword, avoiding generic terms at all times. These words will be
increased and/or modified with time.

The extent of use of these keywords on a particular website is also important, as
it is checked against the total number of words on the Web page. The percentage
obtained is known as keyword density, and it must be over 2 % and below 5 %.
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Likewise, in many sectors, several websites want to position themselves with the
same keywords. The degree of competition to position a website over another one
using the same keywords is called keyword competence. The SEM section is
particularly relevant, as there is more competition and this will increase the prices to
get those keywords.

7.2.1 Tools to Select Keywords

In order to select the keywords, a manual list is prepared with the marketing and site
goals to be optimised. This manual list can be filtered and improved using some
useful Web services.

Google Trends is a Google tool showing quantitative data regarding term
searchers by their users.

The evolution of Web searches of one or several terms can be observed, thanks
to this service by using three parameters:

e Time trend or interest through time, from 2004 until the present;

e Seasonality throughout the year, to be chosen since 2004 (the year the service
started);

e Location, so that the result can be shown in global terms or per country.

Google Trends provides information regarding how certain search terms behave
in the long run, and this is quite useful to discard or optimise a list of keywords
before implementing them on a website.

Google AdWords is a PPC (Pay Per Click) advertisement management platform
by Google and therefore the SEM of this browser. This platform includes a key-
word measurement tool called Keyword Planner.

Keyword Planner offers information on the potential performance of a term list
with data regarding the average monthly searches and competence of keywords for
SEM campaigns. Due to this, Keyword Planner becomes an added value tool to
select keywords.

Other interesting tools to plan keywords are Ubersuggest, which suggests
alphabet-based replacement terms for a keyword; Soovle to suggest added value
keywords for the most important search engines; or SEMRush to monitor
competitors.

7.3 How to Use SEO Techniques

SEO positioning is improved by working on two aspects: internally or externally,
depending on the control level that the Webmaster has over the website.

Internal SEO means undertaking actions to improve content, code and/or
accessibility, aspects related to the website to be controlled by the Webmaster or
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company. Regarding this, keywords must be adapted to the website [31]. Such
keywords must be included on:

e Title tag: the website title, visible on the top bar of the browser.

e Meta tags: even though they are losing importance (especially meta tag key-

words), meta tag description is very useful, both for Web crawlers and for users,
as the content of that tag is used as a rich snipped in the browser results.
Links: using keywords on friendly URLs.
Content: keywords must be within the content of the website. In order to be
considered relevant, the content of each website has to be over 300 words and
the position and density of keywords have to be looked into. Regarding location,
in order to optimise the use of keywords, they have to be placed near the Web
heading and on the title or subtitles of the text. Likewise, in order to improve
positioning, the density of keywords should be over 2 % but not over 5 % so that
browsers do not penalise the site.

With the latest update of Google’s algorithm, content has become more
important. Offering original and quality content is one of the recommendations by
Google for those who want to get started in the optimisation for Web searches.

Apart from selection and use of keywords, improving Web positioning requires
the development of other actions on the website’s structure and code.

For example, having a sitemap helps Web crawlers index the website. A sitemap
is a file with different URLs that make up the website.

Another action in this line is to indicate to Web spiders which content is relevant
and which is not, so that they trace it (or not) and index it (or not). This action is
done through the robots.txt file, located on the root directory of the website.

On the other hand, external SEO focuses on aspects that are less controllable for
the company, for example incoming links (coming from other websites), with the
goal of gaining popularity and higher quality of the links. A link is perceived as a
quality link when it is created by a site or reference platform from the sector the
company is in and/or that works on the same topic.

Since 2012, Google penalises malpractice related to external links, for example
link farms (group of websites that all hyperlink to every other site without having
any type of theme or sector link); therefore, it is important to work in order to create
quality links to other websites relevant for the sector.

This technique is known as link building and can be implemented through
concrete actions such as:

e Exchange of links between different websites sharing themes and content.

e Links from social networking sites such as forums or social networks, adding
the link and the signature to the message or the content shared.

e Link baiting: publishing content that encourages visitors to create links from
their websites to that content. The key to success lies in their viral or mimetic
nature, and though it is a technique that is difficult to master, the results are
outstanding.
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Quality external links could also be improved by registering a website on general
or theme-based directories. This practice is no longer used since Google stopped
considering them in their update of the algorithm in 2013.

7.4 How to Use SEM Techniques

SEM campaigns require being familiar with the keywords that are related to the
business one tries to promote. Each click of a user who is not part of the target is
lost money.

In order to optimise a marketing campaign using browsers, one has to know the
structure of an ad. An ad usually has a title of less than 25 characters linked to the
destination site: a visible URL, which need not be the destination site URL, and two
lines of text, around 35 characters per line. The content of those texts must be
carefully decided as it must create interest in users, especially in the body of the
message as the ad will be placed on locations where only a single line will be
visible.

The most important ad platform for browsers is Google AdWords, which
operates its own search engine and a network of associated websites (display
network). In order to have SEM in Yahoo or Bing, the two other most widely used
search engines, Bing Ads has to be used.

In order to successfully develop a SEM campaign, one has to consider the
following questions:

e An ad must have the keywords of the destination site. If keywords that are
different from the content of the website are bought to raise interest in users,
many hits will be registered, but they will lack any value and shall only waste
resources.

e Ads ready to pay more per word will be placed at a better spot. The value of
keywords correlates with demand.

e Ads with more clicks are located in a better position.

e When designing a text, the most important aspect is that it matches the searches
of users, in order to optimise the click ratio: concordance can be wide, of a
sentence, exact or negative (Table 3).

7.5 Malpractice: Black Hat SEO

The importance of search engines as ways to access information of a website has
opened up a space for a new professional profile: optimiser of search results—
organic or paid—to increase traffic to websites.
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Table 3 Keyword matching options

Match type Special Example Ads may show on searches that
symbol keyword

Broad match None Women’s hats Include misspellings, synonyms, related
searches and other relevant variations

Broad match +keyword | +women’s +hats | Contain the modified term (or close

modifier variations, but not synonyms), in any
order

Phrase match “keyword” | “women’s hats” | Are a phrase and close variations of that
phrase

Exact match [keyword] [women’s hats] Are an exact term and close variations of

that exact term

Negative match | ~keyword | —women Are searches without the term

Source Google [32]

These experts master the algorithm of browsers and can make the best of the
websites. This mastery allows them to know the limits of the browser and imple-
ment anomalous SEO improvement.

Black Hat SEO is a set of practices that try to illicitly improve the positioning of
a website in the search results.

Such practices are against the standards of search engines. In this sense, each
update of the search algorithm penalises some of these practices and finds out which
websites have improved their positioning using them.

One of the oldest Black Hat SEO practices is to place keywords or links of the
same colour on the website’s background. The text, invisible for users, is indexed
by search engines, increasing the density of keywords and the number of outgoing
links. This practice is called hidden text and lost momentum when Google started
penalising keyword density over 5 %.

Another type of Black Hat SEO practice are the above-mentioned link farms, a
set of artificially connected websites through incoming and outgoing links. This
practice tries to manipulate the popularity of these websites presenting them to the
search engine as more relevant sites and, therefore, suited for better positioning.

8 To Summarise

In this context of intense digitalisation of individuals and organisations and of the
relationships between them, it is often the case that Internet presence is perceived as
a must. This is, however, not necessarily so.

Being in Internet demands constant updates of the different channels with inter-
esting content for the public. Likewise, conversations on social platforms happen
24/7, so that a brand cannot just publish, and they have to follow the social con-
versation around their publications and even stimulate the participation of users to
achieve higher engagement. All this needs resources that not all organisations have.
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In this sense, the must is not to be on the Web but to listen to it and do it actively.
In the current context, no company, regardless of its size, can live with its back to
Internet.

If they do not have enough resources to have an active presence adapted to the
digital world, at least they need to have a strategy to monitor and know what is
being said about their company on the Web.

In this chapter, we have presented some of the most widely used and most
effective digital marketing strategies. Such action can be scaled up and adapted to any
brand and organisation that wants to have an active and effective online presence.

We have discussed some techniques to attract users and the right audiences, to
create attractive and interesting content so that customers remain loyal to organi-
sations and brands. While we have also presented some concrete strategies and
techniques to measure outcomes, organisations working in the digital environment
must be careful not to get lost in the complex universe of tools and platforms. They
must give and receive value, and their most important asset is in their real essence
and audience, regardless of the channels used for this relationship.

9 Review Questions (True or False)

1. The goals of a digital marketing plan must be SMART—specific, measurable,
assignable, realistic, time-related.

2. Own Media is essentially online word of mouth: mentions, shares, reposts,
reviews and recommendations.

3. A Social Media Plan has nothing to do with a marketing plan; it is a different
document altogether and not at all related to marketing.

4. KPIs are useful metrics for objective measurement.

5. E-mail marketing is a mass, cheap and highly customised tool—the keys to its
efficiency.

6. Retargeting is an online commission-based business strategy.

7. CPA is cheaper than CPM as a business model to estimate ads.

8. Google Trends and Google Keyword Planner are useful apps for selecting
keywords.

9. Search engine ads related to a Web search are known as SEO.

10. Nobody can escape the Internet.

Answers to the Review Questions

1. True
2. False
3. False
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10.

R

True
True
False
False
True
False
True
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Part 11
Speaking About Human Resource
Management



Human Resource Management:
An Operational Perspective

Carolina Feliciana Machado

Abstract The main aim of this chapter is to give some ideas about the relevance of
human resource management (HRM) in nowadays organizations, with a special
emphasis in the operational perspective of HRM. So, and beginning with a glance
about the evolution and concepts, giving relevance to the transition from personnel
management to HRM, the chapter follows with the discussion of some of the
challenges presented to this management and the presentation of the main policies
and practice of HRM that can be developed by the different types of organizations.

1 Introduction

Taking into account the importance that people have in nowadays organizations, the
main aim of this chapter is to give some concepts and the main ideas about the
importance of HRM in competitive organizations. Indeed, and considering that all
of us need to deal with people at work, it is off a critical relevance that we can have
the necessary knowledge about the development of HRM in these organizations. At
this level, one question can arise, namely “HR, and consequently HRM, is an HR
managers problem or, on the other hand, is a problem of all managers?”
Obviously that it is a problem of all managers, of all the organization. Although the
existence of a HRM department, it is important to say that HR are not strictly
affected to this department. On the contrary, HR are widespread by all organization
in such a way that we can say that dealing with all the employees that work with
them, all responsible are managers of these employees, and in other words, all of
them are HR managers. This is why we say that HRM is a line responsibility as well
as a staff function. A staff function considering that it is the HR manager who has
competence to manage, organize, and coordinate all the employees that belong to
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the organization. In other words, what we want to say is that HRM is a management
global philosophy that goes beyond the management of simple technical issues
related to employees.

HR decisions are among the more difficult, but also the more relevant decisions
that organizations need to take as they affect the organization future but also the
employees own life. Nowadays, HR managers need to be flexible and with a great
ability to adapt to a changing environment, as well as be proactive in identifying
HR problems and, consequently, implementing new programs. HR activities
assume a crucial role in the organization performance not only today, but also more
and more in the future.

Beginning with a brief analysis of the evolution and HRM concept, giving some
emphasis to the transition from personal management to HRM, this chapter looks to
discuss some of the main HRM challenges in the second section, ending with a
glance about the main HRM policies and practices.

2 Human Resource Management: Evolution
and Concepts. From Personal Management to Human
Resource Management

Although the human being has, since ever, belonging to organizations, and over
him has been developed different action policies, it has been only from the middle
of the XX century that human resource management, understood as a strategic
approach of the organizations’ people management, has assumed a greater rele-
vance (with a special focus to the last two decades of this century). To Armstrong
[1], its growth, as well as its future development, was deeply related to the envi-
ronmental changes that were felt outside and within the organizations.
Specifically, with reference to the management thinking beginning, we can say
that it was with the industrial development that was felt at the end of the XIX
century, beginning of XX century, in the USA and continental Europe that it was
felt the need of a greater sophistication and development of the organization tra-
ditional principles. Before that, the environment was characterized by the existence
of a great diversity of organizations, with different dimensions, low income levels
of the used machines, high waste levels, great dissatisfaction on the employee side,
among others, facts that favored the emergence of a management science [2, 3]. In
this period, a high number of employees are called to the organization, which leads
managers to develop a set of principles, rules, measures, regulations, and proce-
dures, compatible with a great employee monitoring [4]. A special focus has been
given to the division of labor and worker specialization—principle that was, since a
very early stage, defended by Adam Smith in 1776 in his book entitled “The Wealth
of Nations”—conducive to a growing repetition and monotony of tasks. Having as
main proponents Taylor [5], Ford, Gilbreth [6], Fayol [7], and Weber [8], of the
Classical School, giving a special focus to the efficiency and effectiveness in the
function development, the worker was, however, treated as a machine piece.
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It was with the Human Relations School that it has been given a special
emphasis to people in the work environment. It is now coming to be realized that it
is only possible to the things through people, in other words, working with the
people. We should highlight that even this School is, by excellence, that one which
begun by emphasizing the human being in the organizations, this idea has been
supported a century earlier with Robert Owen. It was Robert Owen who, in the
beginnings of the XIX century, and in his quality of manager, began by understood
the importance of the people who worked with him. Considering people as “vital
machines”, Owen followed the principle from which if there were a great concern
with the workers, giving them better working conditions that will be extremely
rewarding to the organization, at the same time that will allow to overcome the
human poverty that was felt on that period.

This is why we can say that claiming for an ideal workplace to workers, Owen
was at 100 years ahead when, in 1825, he wrote his book “A New View of
Society.” Indeed, it was necessary to wait 100 years to, at the end of the twenties;
beginning of the thirties, Elton Mayo, through the Hawthorne studies, could con-
clude that the attention given to the social factors, at the workplace, had a relevant
impact in the workers productivity levels. In the Human Relations period, many
organizations created their personal departments, whose role consisted in “(...) to
help keep the workers in line” [9, p. 14]. More than the simple work security and
financial compensation, workers want, now, that management can see them as
people, with their own needs that they want to be satisfied. It is highlighted here the
importance of communication between the worker and supervisor, as well as the
need to the establishment of a more participative work environment. At this level,
organizations make use of their personal departments in order to create a desirable
organizational climate.

Based in the Human Relations School Principles, added now by the contribu-
tions given by other scientific areas, namely psychology, sociology, political sci-
ence, and among others, we face with the Behavior Science School.

Focusing, deeply, in the organization as an all, and not so much in the person
itself, the Behavior Science looks to analyze the relation between the workplace and
the worker, and in other words, how the workplace affects the worker, as well as
how worker affects the workplace [4, 10, 11].

Understood the worker as a critical factor to the organization functioning [12-14],
were many the academics that have developed a great number of action principles
about this subject. Specifically, and following the work developed by Carnegie [15],
Maslow [16], and McGregor [17]—to whom it is possible to add the contribution
given by Peter Drucker [18]—'were various the psychologists and sociologists that
had given their contribution, namely Fiedler, Vroom, Herzberg [19], McClelland
[20], Hackman, in the psychologists groups, with contributions in the field of
leadership, motivation, and positions design, as well as Perrow [21] and Pfeffer [22],

Tt was Peter Drucker who, in 1954, in the book “The Practice of Management”, for the first time
had characterized the concept of “management by objectives”.
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in the sociologists group, contributing to a better understanding of power, conflict,
and organizational design [2].

Notwithstanding the dynamic and deep interaction that is felt among all the
resources that make up the organization, the idea that the human factor assumes a
particular relevance can be seen as the mobilizing force of all the other resources, is
reinforced by the philosophy subjacent to the sociotechnical approach, according to
which, although important, the technic subsystem is not more than the responsible
by the potential efficiency of the organization. The change of the potential efficiency
in real efficiency only is possible through the social subsystem [23], which
understood the individuals, their physic and psychological characteristics, as well as
the social relations that are felt in the organization among the workers.

Following the importance that the human factor is assuming in the organiza-
tional context, also the associated personal department saw is functions changed,
changing from a simple absenteeism and working times controller, and simple
assistant in the recruitment processes, to the assumption of great responsibilities.
More specifically, is also now from their responsibility to promote the workers
socialization, training, and development. It is up to them to develop adequate
processes of workers communication and motivation, promoting in them the nec-
essary abilities and competences in order to face the environment turbulence. In
summary, it is of their competence to develop a proactive working force, able to
face the market challenges.

We pass, therefore, from a more rigid and close perspective of people man-
agement, to a more open, dynamic, and interactive perspective. In other words, we
pass here from a personal management, oriented to the short-term, pluralist and
obedient, bureaucratic mechanistic and with a strong incidence in costs mini-
mization, to a human resource management oriented to the long-term, proactive,
and strategic, promoting of a high commitment and autocontrol, unitarian, and
organic flexible, seeking to usage at the maximum the capacity potential of its
workers, in which it is possible and should invest [24].

The high competitiveness levels of the markets, the learning given by the
Japanese management system as well as the high-performance level of organiza-
tions that gave a special emphasis to human resource management, the fall of the
unions intervention, and among others constitute, according to Beaumont [24],
some of the motivations that have led to the further strengthening of human
resource management.

However, and although the growing relevance that has been assuming, human
resource management is not yet clearly defined in the literature, not having an
established knowledge body, with well-define frontiers [25, 26]. According to
Popper and Guest [27] (referred by Brewster [25, p. 56]), the fluidity present in the
human resource management concept “(...) is both instructive, in terms of indi-
cating its potential power as an explanatory theory; and frustrating, in that it
becomes impossible to test a theory that can subsume such a range of, often
contradictory, propositions.”

From the exposed results, it arises the possibility of made a distinction between
two different models: a hard model, arising from the work developed by Fombrun,
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Tichy, and Devanna in 1984 and a soft model, proposed (at approximately the same
period) by Beer and colleagues from Harvard School [12, 24, 25, 28]. Showing a
special focus in the strategy—human resource management systems should be
adjusted to the strategy issues (Galbraith and Nathanson 1978, referred by Hendry
[12])—the hard approach differs with the emphasis put in people—with their needs
and personal development potential—arising from Harvard School (soft model).

More exactly, in the hard version, people are understood as simple resources, as
well as many others that belong to the organization, to whom is focused a minimum
cost policy. Indeed, should to be managed as any other resource of the organization,
they need to be obtained at the lowest cost and used at the most possible efficiency
way, in order to explore their maximum potential.

According to this approach, the key elements of the human resource policies are
selection, performance appraisal, development (including training), and compen-
sation, which allow to channeling the behavior to obtain specific objectives of
development.

In summary, being very similar with the “human capital” theory [12], this
approach focuses in the word “resources” that is present in the expression “human
resource management” [25]. This way, and because this expression is used in
detriment of the word “workers”—while people that have their own needs to be
satisfied—this author has the opinion that technics such as outsourcing, franchising,
and subcontract can, in some circumstances, be perfectly applicable to this approach.

On the contrary, human resource management soft approach focuses, essentially,
in the human side of the expression “human resource management,” having as
source of inspiration the School of Human Relations/Human Resources.
Understood the workers as a resource that must be distinguished from the others,
we observe that although to some organizations they assume a higher cost, they are,
however, seen as the only resource that is able to create value based on the other
resources. Indeed, it is the resource whose creativity, commitment, and abili-
ties/capabilities can originate real competitive advantages [25].

Commitment is, indeed, one of the key words that, parallel to motivation,
communication, participation, and involvement, are subjacent to this approach.
Assuming a special emphasis, this commitment is obtained through mutuality.
Beginning from this point, Walton (1985, p. 64, referred by Hendry [12, p. 9]) has
the opinion that “The new HRM model is composed of policies that promote
mutuality—mutual goals, mutual respect, mutual rewards, mutual responsibility.
The theory is that policies of mutuality will elicit commitment, which, in turn yield
both better economic performance and greater human development.”

It results that in opposition to a total interest divergence, workers direct their goals
to the organization goals, assuming, freely, as theirs the goals of the organization.

In line of these ideas, workers, understood as one of the most precious resources
of the organization, require most attention from the human resource function,
namely a more careful selection process, more support and development, adequate
compensations, as well as a correct integration process in the organization. In
addition, and as a result of the importance assumed by this factor, more and more is
possible to verify that human resource management, contrary to be assigned only to
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the specialists, is from the responsibility of all managers, whose should promote the
involvement, participation, and commitment of all their workers.

Gradually, they become to be required different abilities/capacities to the dif-
ferent stakeholders in the organization, whose can contribute to the
enter/maintenance, as well as to the exclusion from specific markets, depending,
respectively, to its existence or inexistence. We can observe that contrary to be
understood as a strategy follower (hard approach), human resource management,
on the soft approach, is related in a more symbiotic way with the organizational
strategy [25].

However, the reality where we live is provided of high levels of uncertainty and
continuous change, being multiple the challenges that progressively are presented to
the organizations and, within them, also to human resource management. Resulting
from these challenges, human resource management cannot be guided only to the
strategy/business not even to the people. At this level, Armstrong [1] has the
opinion that during the last years, human resource management has been facing the
challenge to direct both to the business and to the people. In other words, strategies
that need to be developed at the human resources level should be in accordance
with the organization general context and its goals. However, it is also important to
consider that workers, having their own needs and expectations, as well as higher
demand levels—both in individual and collective terms—cannot be treated as any
one of the other resources.

It results that HRM action field is in a constant change. At this level, Martell and
Carroll [29], Budhwar [30], Mabey, Salaman, and Storey [31], and Khatri and
Budhwar [32] have the opinion that based progressively in a deeper strategic action,
human resource functions, such as recruitment/selection, training/development,
compensations, and performance appraisal, are in a constant interaction not only
with the organizational strategy, but also with each other. We face, this way, and
gradually, with the concept of integration (internal and external), as well as, and
reinforcing what we have focused before, with the concept of responsibility
attribution.

Highlighting this problematic Schuler [33], Brewster and Larsen [34, 35],
Brewster [25], Budhwar [30], and Mabey, Salaman, and Storey [31] consider that in
what concerns HRM, one of the issues that during the last years have been a focus
of discussion, refers to the HRM integration in the organization business and
strategy, by one side, and the attribution of responsibility to line managers (in
substitution of personal specialists), at the practices/policies level that need to be
developed in the HRM area, on the other hand.

Adding to these key questions, other critical elements, such as the issue that
there are the workers that belong to the organization that “make the difference,”
considering that there are their abilities and commitment that allow to distinguish
the best successful organizations from the others; and also that manage HR assume
a real strategic relevance [31]; contribute to the idea that HR, and consequently,
HRM in organizations can be understood as a sustainable source of competitive
advantage [31, 32]. This idea is, furthermore, shared by Goshal [36] when he said
that the real scarce resources are people, ideas, entrepreneurship, and knowledge.
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Summary, it results that, in general, HRM expression can be understood as
synonymous of strategic HRM, concept that, according to Boxall (referred by
Budhwar [30]), highlight the nature, progressively proactive of the HR function, its
potential relevance to the well succeed performance of the organizations, as well as
the ability to change the HRM function from a reactive, prescriptive and admin-
istrative perspective, to a proactive, descriptive, and executive perspective.

3 Human Resource Management: New Challenges

From this exposition, it is possible to deduce that HRM is in a constant interaction
with the organizational strategy. Reporting to the research developed by Storey and
Freedman, Brewster [25] has the opinion that both in the research and in the
management area is evident a growing attention in the relation that exists between
the organization strategy and HRM. Reinforcing this idea, this author adds that as
organizations are oriented to knowledge, service, or new technologies, more the
human behavior become a competitive factor, deeply related with the organization
strategic direction/orientation.

This is why we say that strategy, structure, and HR function need to be inter-
related in order to obtain the organizational effectivity. Indeed, we can say that in
many circumstances HR function should appear in first place [37], as far as HR
quality, extremely difficult to be imitated by competitors, is seen as a critical factor
in the competitive context in which the organization is integrated.

Based in a set of policies, practices, and systems that influence employees’
behavior, attitudes, and performance [38, 39], HRM has been a focus of special
attention in the management area during the last years. According to Fisher,
Schoenfeldt, and Shaw [39, p. 5] “This increased attention comes from the real-
ization that an organization’s employees enable an organization to achieve its goals,
and the management of these human resources is critical to an organization’s
success.”

Understood as a critical factor, when effectively implemented, HRM practices
are related with the organization performance, contributing to the employees and
clients satisfaction, the innovation, productivity, as well as the promotion of a
favorable image of the organization in the markets where is integrated [38].
According to these authors, although important, the HRM potential role, at the
organizational performance level, has been recognized only during these last years.

Conscious of this problematic relevance, Mueller [40] and Huselid [41] have
developed some research in order to study the relationship between the adopted HR
strategies/policies and the organization performance. However, and although the
constant argumentation about the existence of a direct relation between the effec-
tivity of HRM practices developed by the organization and its performance, the
results obtained by these authors do not allow us to conclude this. Showing a less
optimistic position from that of Huselid—to whom that relation is automatic—Frank
Mueller [40] has the opinion that effective practices of resources do not translate,
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necessarily, in the organization performance growth. Completing his mind, Mueller
[40, p. 164] considers that in order that HR can be seen as “strategic assets,” “(...)
what is truly valuable is the ‘social architecture’ that results from ongoing skill
formation activities, incidental or informal learning, forms of spontaneous cooper-
ation, the tacit knowledge that accumulates as the—often unplanned—side-effect of
intentional corporate behavior.”

Without questioning the divergent opinions of these two authors in what con-
cerns these issues, other researchers such as Newton and Findlay [42] and Storey
and Sisson [43], although highlighting the difficulties in guarantee, immediately, the
existence of a direct relation, have, however, demonstrated, in a well succeed way,
the growing potential contribution of HRM (from a strategic point of view) to the
organizational performance [14].

During this debate, we can observe that there are many the challenges that
progressively are being posed to HRM, namely in what concerns the emphasis
posed in teamwork, flexibility, the employees involvement, as well as in the or-
ganizational commitment. About this last one, Guest [27, 44] has the opinion that
the achievement of high levels of innovation and the development of strategies
based in quality, in order to be well succeed, require a workforce that needs to be
committed in the organization.

Progressively, the dynamic that is felt in the environment put new exigencies to
the management and, within it, to the HRM, conducting that parallel to the tradi-
tional needs—more oriented to the working physical conditions, also necessary to
be obtained—HRM systems should also answer to the new needs related to
teamwork, flexibility, participation, and commitment both at the employee and at
the organization, as an all, level [24].

The flexible organization development assumes, nowadays, as a critical factor to
organizations, demanding from management new competences and abilities. In
order to face a more competitive market, it is not enough to invest in new tech-
nologies characterized by a greater flexibility. Beyond these, also the own orga-
nization and its HR should be flexible and, in other words, susceptible to adapt
quickly and easily to the new market exigencies. According to Kovacs [45, pp. 30—
31], “Management methods and more flexible organizational forms spread more
and more as they seem to be most appropriate not only to face market and tech-
nology changes, but also to satisfy HR with higher school levels and exigent in
terms of their work content, responsibility and participation.”

By the relevance that it is subjacent, flexibility is understood as a multidimen-
sional concept, “demanding agility and versatility; associated with change, inno-
vation, and novelty; coupled with robustness and resilience, implying stability,
sustainable advantage, and capabilities that may evolve over time” [46, p. 198].

By opposition to a type of functional organization, where functions and tasks are
separate, flexible organization supposes the existence of flexible HR, in other
words, qualified HR, responsible, able to work in teams and according a polyva-
lence system. At the polyvalence level, and in order to better obtain it, the devel-
opment of training programs assumes a special highlight.
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Pioneer in the study of flexibility at the HR level, Atkinson [47, 48] has developed
the “flexible organization” model, in which highlight the difference between func-
tional flexibility, clearly expressed in the organization employees hard kernel—per-
manent employees, with full-time contracts of employment—and numerical
flexibility that is present in the employees peripheral group, characterized by the
existence of part-time, subcontracted, and temporary contracts of employment.

Doing a comparative study among different European countries, Brewster,
Hegewisch, and Mayne [49] and Brewster, Mayne, and Tregaskis [50] distinguish
between contractual flexibility, giving to telework a special focus, and flexible
working time. Albeit to a lesser extent, these authors also focus their attention in the
functional flexibility, which withdraw from the functions rigid description, char-
acteristic of the classical management model.

Following the Atkinson’s [47, 48] “flexible organization” model, Kovécs [45]
has the opinion that more than a technical phenomenon, flexibility consists in a
technic organizational phenomenon, considering that it refers not only to the
flexible equipment, but also “(...) to the ability for a rapid adaptation of employees,
groups, units and the organization management as an all, to the new exigencies and
opportunities,” ability that can be obtained “(...) by the vertical and horizontal
integration of the tasks” [45, p. 33]. Kovacs [45] also appeals to the professional
flexibility, which referring “(...) to the employees ability to develop different tasks
with autonomy” [45, p. 33], and has subjacent the existence of a polyvalent
qualification, as well as the creation of new professional profiles.

Following the organizational flexibility, we can observe a progressive vertical
and horizontal integration of tasks/functions—by opposition to a traditional spe-
cialization—which are now developed not by individual employees strictly related
to a certain workplace, but by teams that have under its responsibility a diversity of
functions. In other words, in a flexibility context, teamwork assumes as the most
adequate as long as provided its members with a polyvalent training, followed by an
effective cooperation, communication, and participation; it is possible for them to
identify and act quickly in the presence of possible malfunctions.

Assuming the own team a higher autonomy and the responsibility by the allo-
cation of the respective tasks, this may bring a high level of motivation [39] and
commitment [51].

Fisher, Schoenfeldt, and Shaw [39] have the opinion that team participation tends
to motivate employees. Asking to employees to use their creative abilities, making
them responsible by their performance, promote the enrichment of functions.

Edwards and Wright [51], conscious that commitment can be obtained by dif-
ferent ways—Guest [44], for example, has the opinion that HRM is widely
understood as promotor of the employees commitment in organization—consider
that work teams are a way, particularly developed, to promote the employees
commitment. Indeed, considering that commitment is based in an auto regulated
behavior—and not controlled by sanctions or external pressures to the person [52]
—it is possible to observe that teamwork, based on an autocontrolled system,
constitutes an excellent support to a commitment promotion.
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Contributing to higher commitment levels, employees’ participation, at their
responsibilities level, also assumes a special focus reason why should they be one
of the priorities to implement. Effectively, only with a participative management is
possible to overcome the high number of resistances that are, frequently, seen in the
different work situations. Felling as a part of the decision-making processes, em-
ployees show a high level of motivation, involvement, and commitment when they
develop their tasks. It results that in the sequence of this participation, arising from
highly oriented people management practices, all the change is understood as a
change implemented by the people and of the people.

Even more, and resultant from the evolution and the dynamic that progressively
is emerging in the environment, HRM has to deal with a number of challenges.
Indeed, issues such as diversity management [53-56], equal opportunities at the
employment level [57-59], gender problematic [60—63], sexual harassment at the
workplace [64], ethics in HRM [65], international HRM [25, 66-71], and among
others are only some of the multiple challenges that contribute to the HRM
dynamic. More than simple themes that can be added to the Behavior Sciences,
each of them represents a new way of see and understand the work, the worker, and
the own world [72].

In order to deal, and consequently answer, to all of these challenges, organi-
zation should promote the existence of an open culture, interactive, where we can
observe a continuous apprenticeship of all of their members.

We face here with the concept of learning organization, according to which the
employees develop, continuously, their abilities in order to obtain the established
results [38]. More exactly, and according to these authors, subjacent to learning
organizations, we observe that organizations should “live” a constant apprentice-
ship process through environment monitoring, assimilate information and take
decisions, as well as restructure in the flexibility direction, in order to compete in
the environment where it is integrated. It is observed that all organizations that
develop such apprenticeship abilities are promoting the creation of competitive
advantages.

In view of this, results that with times development, HRM has been assuming a
higher relevance at the organizational context. Effectively, from a simple admin-
istrative role, with a special focus to the hiring, control and remunerations, without
any strategic sense, HRM began, progressively—and as we have seen before—to
give a special focus to a great number of policies, practices, and systems that
influence behaviors, attitudes, and the employees performance, namely HR plan-
ning, recruitment, selection, training and development, compensation and incen-
tives, appraisal and performance management, labor relations, communication,
leadership and motivation systems, and support and follow-up. More, understood
the human being as one of the success critical factors, HR managers are progres-
sively asked to intervene actively in the strategic decision processes, resulting from
this new challenge the establishment of new exigencies in what concerns the
abilities they need to have. More exactly, and according to Noe, Hollenbeck,
Gerhart, and Wright [38], in these recent years, and even more in the future, HR
managers, parallel to a technic professional knowledge, also need to pursue abilities
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related to the organization activity/business, the change process management, as
well as integration abilities (namely in what concerns the integration of all the other
abilities).

In all of this process, the support, follow-up, motivation, involvement, partici-
pation, and commitment of all employees are a reality widely subjacent to these
new abilities.

Concluding, and taking into account Sparrow and Marchington [73, p. 313]
“Commitment to a professional and proactive HR philosophy, (...), is a central
feature of the new agenda.”

4 Looking at the Main HRM Policies and Practices

HRM consists in the planning, organization, development, coordination, and con-
trol of a set of technics that are able to promote the efficient and effective perfor-
mance of all those that work in the organization [74, 75]. More exactly, what we
can say is that HRM process in an organization is comprised as shown in Fig. 1.
Taking into account this figure, it is now time to analyze each of the policies/
practices that are possible to be implemented at the HRM level.

4.1 Job Analysis

Whenever we want to develop an HR planning necessary to any organization, we
face a first step that consists in implementing a job analysis about the functions that
exist in the organization. But, what is a job analysis?

Job
g analysis

HR training and
planning development
performan _ .
e promotions,
appraisal transfers, exit

Fig. 1 HRM process in the organization
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Job analysis is the act by which the organization analyzes and describes the work
that its employees do. This is a way which looks to allow the organization to
understand how its employees’ efforts are spent by them [75-77].

So, based in the job analysis, it is possible to managers to know what are the real
needs of the job, which works as a valuable tool, for instance, to the future pro-
cesses of recruitment, training, and promotion. Indeed, and as it is possible to be
seen below, are many the uses that can be obtained by the job analysis namely in
what concerns:

— HR planning, recruitment, and selection

— Job evaluation;

— Performance standards and performance appraisal process;
— HR training and development planning

— Compensation systems;

— Employee career planning;

— New technologies design.

At this point, it is important to highlight that job analysis focuses not only the
relevant issues related with the job execution (namely duties and responsibilities,
tasks and activities definition, the necessary behaviors, and performance standards),
but also the qualifications that employees need to pursue in order to develop their
functions.

To its implementation, managers can make use of a set of methods, namely
direct observation, interviews, and surveys.

4.2 HR Planning

When someone speaks about HR planning, the question that arises is to known
what is its main aim, in other words, what do we want with planning? At this stage,
one can say that HR planning is useful to establish the number and qualifications of
the employees that the organization needs in order to reach its strategic objectives,
as well as the actions that are necessary to be developed in order to obtain them in
due time [75, 78, 79]. More exactly, based in planning the organization looks to
anticipate which are its future needs in the HR domain in order to be possible to
develop and implement efficiently its future actions. To do that, it will be necessary
to fulfill three steps:

— The organizational main aims need to be previously and clearly defined and
established;

— The organization needs to have a deep knowledge of itself in order to know
what exists within it;

— The organization needs to have a deep knowledge of the work market.

Acting this way, the organization, and more exactly the HR department, will be
able to gather the necessary conditions compatible with the assumption of a
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Fig. 2 Human resource planning process

proactive attitude in relation to the environment in which is integrated (and not a
reactive attitude has happened in the past).

Graphically, HR planning can be presented as follows (Fig. 2).

From this analysis, it is possible to highlight that HR planning process is
characterized by three distinct phases:

— HR needs forecast;
— HR demand forecast;
— Action programs development.

In order to implement these forecasts, it is possible to make use of a set of
different technics, namely:

— Job analysis

— HR audit, in order to identify HR competences and abilities. This way, it will be
possible to obtain a global vision of the existent talents in the organization;

— HR needs and demands statistical methods of prevision.

Once estimated the HR needs and demands, it is necessary to proceed to its
comparison. Comparing HR needs (to short and long term) with internal demands,
estimation will be possible to elaborate HR plans for internal fulfillment (namely
training, promotions, and careers development) as well as for external fulfillment
(namely recruitment, selection) [75, 78].
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4.3 HR Recruitment

In a highly competitive society like this one where we live, the choice of the most
qualified employees is of vital relevance to the organization development. Indeed,
the good development of production is highly limited by the presence, or not, of
qualified employees in the organization. In this context, recruitment assumes a
relevant role, reason why it is important to understand in what consists the
recruitment process.

Recruitment can be seen as a set of technics and processes that look to attract
candidates potentially qualified and capable to occupy and develop different
functions in the organization, among whom will be possible, in a posterior phase, to
select the most adequate to the functions [76]. With recruitment, the organization
disseminate and offer to the HR market the employ opportunities that need to fulfill.
This is a way to open its doors and communicate with the external environment.

In what concerns the recruitment of its employees, the organization can adopt
three different types:

— Internal recruitment
— External recruitment
— Both internal and external recruitment.

About internal recruitment, it can be observed when the organization looks to
promote the internal mobility of its HR. This mobility can be expressed through
different processes such as promotions, transfers, and transfers accompanied with
promotions.

External recruitment occurs when the organization ought, or simple prefer, to go
to the external work market. Based in this option, the organization looks to fulfill its
functions with external candidates, people that are attracted by the different
recruitment techniques. Obviously that both of them present advantages and dis-
advantages [80] as shown in Figs. 3 and 4.

While in internal recruitment the main techniques to promote internal mobility
are job display and managers development; in what concerns the external recruit-
ment are multiple the recruitment sources available. Particularly, it is possible to
highlight the spontaneous, the recruitment agencies, other organizations (competi-
tors or not), universities (as well as other schools), professional associations,
employ services, head hunters organizations, journals and magazines advertise-
ments, and more frequently nowadays the Internet [80].

Nevertheless, the existence of these two types of recruitment, in practice, what
we can see is that organization never uses strictly the internal recruitment, nor the
external recruitment. What really happens is that organizations, based in the
complementarity that exist between them, prefer to develop a hybrid option as they
make use to both the internal and external HR sources.
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Disadvantages:

- May generate interest conflits
- Can lead to the Peter Principle

- Implemented in a continuous way may
conduct to a criativity and innovation lost

- Can't be exclusve as limit the organization
human capital

Advantages:

- More economic

- Rapid

- Higher validity and secutiry level
- Higher motivation levels

- Promotes career development

- Promotes higher organization loyalty
- Explores employees' training investments

Fig. 3 Internal recruitment advantages and disadvantages

In opposition to the recruitment process, is possible to observe the HR reduction

process. Very frequent in periods of crisis, needing decouple some of its employees
organizations can make use of [78]:

Tranfers: when employees are moved from one function to another. Not con-
tributing to costs reduction, this option may, however, contribute to a reduction
of imbalances within the organization.

Dismissals: HR are permanently detached from the organization.

Anticipated retirement: The organization gives some incentives to employees in
order to leave it before the retirement period.

Layoff: involuntary temporary dismissal. It can be observed for a few days as
well as be maintained for years.

Working hour reduction: Employees work less hours by week; divide functions
with other employees; or can make use of a part-time option.

Outplacement: when the organization looks to help its dismissed employees
until they find a new job. Usually, this process occurs when, due to some crisis
situations, some organizations feel obliged to dismiss some of its employees.
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- Disadvantages:

- More slow when compared with internal
recruitment

- More expensive

- Less security as candidates are unknown
- May conduct to less organization loyalty
- May influence internal salary rates

- May lead to the employee frustration

Advantages:

- Brings new experiences and ideas to the
organization

- Promotes the existence of new
competencies and qualifications

- Take advantage of other organizations
and/or candidates early training
investment

- Promotes the existence of high criativity
and innovation levels

Fig. 4 External recruitment advantages and disadvantages

4.4 HR Selection

Following the recruitment process, it will be necessary to choose, within the group
of candidates attracted by recruitment techniques, that or those that demonstrate
higher success possibilities in what concerns the performance of the function to
which the organization is selecting. Looking to choose the best and more adequate
candidate to fulfill vacancies, HR selection process aims to provide the organization
with the person(s) that joint the best conditions to perform the function(s),
increasing, this way, the organizational performance [76]. Closely related to the
organization strategy, in the selection process implementation, HR managers (se-
lection responsible) have at their disposal a diversity of selection tools, as follows
[79]:

— Application form: containing general information about the candidate, such as
name, address, qualifications, last jobs, and experiences,

— References analysis: analysis of the references given by third persons/entities
about the candidate,
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— Psycho-technique tests: At this stage, it is possible to make use of a diversity of
tests, namely intelligence tests, knowledge tests, capabilities tests, and person-
ality tests,

— Calligraphy analysis: using biographical method,

— Interviews: Although its subjectivity, this is a selection method with a high
practical application,

— Work sampling: consisting in perform a small sample of the function to be
developed,

— Assessment centers: which refer to the existence of centers to assess the can-
didates’ performance when simulating real work situations.

In practice, and in order to choose the most adequate candidates, HR responsible
does not make use of only one of these possibilities. On the contrary, the most
strategic option goes to the combination of some of them taking into account the
content of the job to occupy.

4.5 HR Integration and Socialization

From the moment when the candidate was selected to occupy the job, it is of critical
relevance to present him/her to the organization. It is necessary to proceed to his/her
orientation under which the new employee has contact with the organization his-
tory, learn about its products and services, and receive information about the
organization objectives, in short, and is presented to the other employees of the
organization (supervisors, pairs, subordinates). Varying from a few minutes/hours,
to somedays, or months, it is important that before begin effectively to perform the
function it is given to the new employee the needed time to fit in the organization.
Of course that the higher this period can be, more effective will be the integration of
the new employee.

Jointly with the orientation also the socialization process occurs, which is seen as
the process under which the new employee learn about the value system, the
organization rules, norms, and the behavior standards that are required by the
organization or the work group. At this moment, the employee becomes part of the
organization. As a new member, he/she begins to perform the attributed tasks
according to the respective function [74, 76].

4.6 HR Training and Development

Today, and even more in the future, people cannot stop learning. Resulting from the
challenges and changes that we face in the present days, it is of critical relevance
that everybody is able to conduct the necessary efforts in order to promote the
knowledge update as a way of better answer to the exigencies originating from the
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respective environment. However, if, generally speaking, this is our present reality,
it assumes a higher relevance in the organization context. Indeed, only with qual-
ified employees, with the necessary knowledge and abilities, organizations are able
to survive in a changing world. This is the reason why organizations have been
promoting (or, at least, should promote) increasing efforts and investments in
training and development programs.

But, what can we understand by training and development?

Training and development is a set of efforts developed by the organization, based
in a program, which look to promote the development of the employees technical
and interpersonal relationship abilities. It results that its main purpose is to improve
not only the present performance, but also the employees’ future performance,
increasing, through the apprenticeship, their technical and of relationship poten-
tialities and abilities [81].

Considering the importance that such a program assumes, and in order to meet
the desired aims, it should be implemented the following four different steps,
namely:

— Identification of training needs;

— Elaboration of the training program to answer the needs;
— Implementation and execution of the training programs;
— Evaluation of training results.

These steps can be found in the following representation: (Fig. 5)

Assessment Phase

Assessment Phase Training Phase

Assess training
needs: Organiza- Define training
tional, task and objectives
individual analysis

Select training
methods

Evaluation Phase

Measure and
compare training
outcomes
(considering training
objectives)

Training Phase

Implement the
training process

Feedback

Fig. 5 Training system model feedback adapted from [82]
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As it happens with any other type of investment, also here should have a
monitoring and evaluation process. More exactly, in what concerns the evaluation
we can say that it focuses four different levels [82]:

— Results (we want to know if the organization is better now, resulted of the
training program);

— Behaviors (the purpose is to understand whether employees now have a different
behavior, working better, and using the new knowledge, in their job);

— Learning (the objective is to understand whether the knowledge and abilities that
employees have now are greater than before training);

— Reaction (the interest is to know the opinion that the trainees have about the
training program, the trainer, the way how the training process occurs, etc.)

If, from this evaluation process, the expected results were not obtained, man-
agers need to find the reason why it has happened in order that it cannot happen
again in the future.

When we speak about personal development, in some way we have present the
idea of the employee growing in the organization. Related to this growing idea, it is
also possible to relate the idea of career in the organization. When an employee
enters to a new organization, he does not want to stay forever in the same job. On
the contrary, he establishes some aims, in terms of career, defining the most ade-
quate course to meet these aims. Regardless of these efforts developed by em-
ployees, the organization also should define and specify its employees’ career
development. However, if for a long period of time was possible to speak with
assurance about this issue, in other words, there exist well-defined career plans;
nowadays, the reality is completely different. In fact, the greater number of
employees with competencies to occupy higher hierarchical jobs, the flattening in
the organization structure, and among others are factors that have been contributing
to a most disturbed evolution within the organization, contrary to the linear career
evolution that was observed in the past, as shown in Fig. 6.

Taking into account this new reality, and in order to avoid possible frustrations
by employees, who began to understand that their career evolution is now more
difficult than in the past, the organization ought to give them other evolution
opportunities, such as greater responsibilities, more enriched jobs, and high par-
ticipation levels.

4.7 Performance Appraisal

When an employee is performing his tasks at the organization, it looks necessary to
analyze and appreciate his performance at the function as well as his performance
potential. Designed by performance appraisal, this process allows the organization
managers to know the employees value, excellence, qualities, and competences.
This is a dynamic concept as employees have been constantly evaluated, formally
or informally, in a continuous way. It is a critical tool as it allows find a lot of
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Fig. 6 a Traditional career
flow pattern. b Present and
future career flow pattern

—> Career Patterns

(b)

—> | _~> Career Patterns

problems, such as supervision, employees integration in the organization/function,
motivation, and misuse of the real employees’ potential. Generally speaking with a
performance appraisal system, the organization will be able to reach a set of pur-
poses like to give feedback to employees, to make more effective employees
decisions, to establish objectives for training programs, and to implement more
effective diagnosis of organizational problems [83—85].

It is important to highlight that this performance appraisal process is seen as
having a critical organizational role only when it gives feedback that allow, all the
time, to inform the employees about what they are doing and how they are doing.

Concerning to who implement this appraisal process, it is possible to say that
usually this role is given to the immediate chief. However, it can also be imple-
mented by colleagues, the own employee (autoperformance appraisal), external
sources (namely clients), or even a commission specially designed to this end. More
recently, the option by a 360° appraisal (through which the different persons that
establish a work relationship with the employee evaluate his/her job performance)



Human Resource Management: An Operational Perspective 97

becomes more and more frequent when we speak about performance appraisal
systems.

During this process, and although the assessment responsible should be neutral,
the truth is that many times he is not able to assume such neutrality, reason why is
common the existence of some errors in the evaluation process. Indeed, developing
a very subjective evaluation contributes to the existence of systematic errors which
can distort the evaluation processes. Among the most frequent errors, it is possible
to highlight the errors of complacence, severity, halo, central tendency recently.

Conscious of the possibility of these errors existence, it is important that the
performance appraisal is responsible to develop a set of activities before, during,
and after the appraisal [86]. More specifically, it is important that before this
process the responsible prepares itself to this process, namely getting training in
performance appraisal methods, be aware of the main aims and strategy of the
organization, and motivate the employees to the performance appraisal process
speaking with them about it. During the process, this responsible should encourage
employees participation, be clear and specific, be an effective listener, judge the
employees performance and not his/her personality, and establish jointly with the
employees the objectives to be reached in the future. Finally, and after the per-
formance appraisal process, it is important that the supervisors/evaluators establish
effective communication flows with their employees in order to give them a con-
tinuous feedback about their performance, as well as compensate these employees
by their positive performance.

4.8 HR Compensation

Finally, it is important to speak a little about HR compensation.

Taking into account the work spent by the employees, organizations look to
develop compensation systems in order to effectively compensate them. Along with
the remuneration itself, the compensation package also includes a set of incentives
and benefits. Traditionally, and very frequent nowadays as this is the most usual
practice, compensations are determined based in jobs characteristics. At this level,
job analysis assumes a critical role as is based on it that it is possible to identify the
most critical criteria of each job and consequently establish the different salary
ranges.

During the last years, however, we have been facing a diametrically opposed
approach which consists in compensate employees based on their working com-
petences and knowledge. This different approach brings a positive influence to the
organizational climate as well as the employees’ motivation [87]. Indeed,
employees are encouraged to improve their competences and promote their
development. Despite these advantages, this method presents an increased admin-
istrative complexity, originating a large increase in training and development costs.
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Still related to the compensations, it is possible to add that most organizations
pursue a system to compensate their employees through merit payment, which is
seen as an effective system to reinforce the desired behaviors. However, it is of
great importance that the design of these merit compensations is in accordance with
all other organization systems. For instance, if the employee develops an individual
job, compensation should be given in an individual way. However, if cooperation
among the different organization employees is of critical relevance to its proper
functioning, it should use team compensation plans (and not individual plans),
based in team performance, as an all, and never as a simple sum of individuals.
Further, a merit compensation system should be developed only after the imple-
mentation of a performance appraisal process that allows to distinguish, with
objectivity and validity, the different employees’ merit.

About incentives and benefits, these are understood as a set of facilities,
advantages, and services that organizations offer to their employees [88]. These
benefits constitute the so-called indirect compensation, which is given to all
employees independently of their job and is distributed jointly with the direct
compensation, that is, the job specific remuneration and result of the job evaluation
or the employees’ job performance.

More and more organizations are adopting the use of compensation packages
which include the remuneration/salary, monetary incentives, social benefits (such as
insurance, health assistance, and day care for children), status symbols, more
interesting jobs, flexible working hours, and among others.

The use of “cafeteria-style” compensations is also an option that can be used by
organizations. This is a kind of compensation which assumes a flexible form. The
organization gives to the employee the opportunity to choose the benefit package
that most interest him. According to the “cafeteria-style” system, the organization
offers to its employees, for instance, two or three alternative benefit packages,
where different needs are satisfied. Although this decision to implement this
“cafeteria-style” system may imply some administrative difficulties, it presents,
however, a high motivational power within the organization.

5 Some Final Remarks

Has we have seen before an organization is characterized by different types of
resources, namely physical resources (buildings, equipment, materials,...), financial
resources (money, investments, financial and capital operations,...), and human
resources (people). All of them are of critical relevance to the well and normal
organization functioning. However, if in what concerns the first and second type of
resources, there are not many difficulties in their measurement, as we have ways to
know how is their cost, the same does not happen about HR. Extremely subjective
and very diversified among each other, these resources are not so easily measurable
as the others. Obviously that it is also possible to determinate what its value is,
namely what is the cost of its recruitment and selection, its relocation, and the
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training and development investment. However, there exist much more beyond
these issues that are not easy to measure as they are not so evident and quantifiable
to one person eyes.

In other words, what we want to say is that HR concept is an extremely broad
concept, holistic, as it is present in all the organization and in a constant interaction
with all its parts and components, reason why it assumes a special highlight to the
organization the way how employees are evaluated and valued or, more exactly, the
way how organization attract and obtain its employees and maintain and develop
them within itself. HR are, by this way, one of its most critical resources, as they are
directly related to the acquisition of higher and more effective levels of organiza-
tional efficiency and effectiveness. Understood as human beings that can be more or
less motivated and commit with their job and their tasks, parallel to the necessary
coordination, organizations ought to promote high levels of motivation and
commitment.

6 Review Questions (True or False)

1. HR decisions are among the more difficult, but also the more relevant decisions
that organizations need to take as they affect the organization future but also the
employees own life.

2. There are many challenges that progressively are being posed to HRM, namely
in what concerns the emphasis posed in teamwork, flexibility, the employees
involvement, as well as in the organizational commitment.

3. Job analysis focuses particularly to the relevant issues related to the job exe-
cution, and in a marginal way the qualifications that employees need to pursue
in order to develop their functions.

4. HR planning is useful to establish the number and qualifications of the em-
ployees that the organization needs in order to reach its strategic objectives, as
well as the actions that are necessary to be developed in order to obtain them in
due time.

5. Recruitment can be seen as a set of technics and processes that look to select
candidates potentially qualified and capable to occupy and develop different
functions in the organization.

6. Very objective in its nature, interviews correspond to a selection method with a
high practical application.

7. Jointly with the orientation also the socialization process occurs, which is seen
as the process under which the new employee learn about the value system, the
organization rules, norms, and the behavior standards that are required by the
organization or the work group.

8. HR training and development process is characterized by three steps, namely
identification of training needs, implementation and execution of the training
programs, and evaluation of training results.
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9.

10.

C.F. Machado

Performance appraisal process allows the organization managers to know the
employees value, excellence, qualities, and competences.
Merit payment is seen as an effective system to reinforce the desired behaviors.

Answers to the Review Questions

COXNIANE LD~

—_

(True—see section 2)

(True—see section 3)

(False—see section 4.1)
(True—see section 4.2)
(False—see section 4.3)
(False—see section 4.4)
(True—see section 4.5)
(False—see section 4.6)
(True—see section 4.7)
(True—see section 4.8)
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Training and Development
in Organizations: Start at the Beginning

Ana Paula Vieira Gomes Ferreira

Abstract This chapter discusses, broadly, the T&D management process in
organizations. Following a brief description of the process, a particular emphasis is
given to the first step: the needs assessment stage and its implications in the other
T&D stages and human resource management (HRM) activities. Afterward, some
guidelines and tools to conceive, plan, and implement the needs assessment stage
will be suggested. The main objectives of this section are, as followed, threefold:
(1) to give a global view of the T&D process and its main goals; (2) to help
understand why needs assessment is a vital step in T&D; and (3) to suggest
guidelines and examples to effectively implement a needs assessment in
organizations.

1 Introduction

After having worked quite a few years around training and development (T&D)
aspects (as trainer, as trainee, as T&D consultant, and finally as an academic), it is
clear to me that T&D is paramount for individual employees and for their orga-
nizations. Indeed, the benefits of training inside organizational contexts are well
documented (for a review see [1-3]).

However, T&D is too often seen as a “magic potion” for resolving every or-
ganizational problem or situation. As such, sometimes organizations have an
“overdose” of training activities that can frustrate managers and their employees
[4]. Also, and again too often, T&D is seen by organizational members (both
employees and employers) as a waste of money and/or time.

T&D is mainly a tool—a powerful one—to enhance organizational performance,
competitiveness, and economic growth. Both organizations and employees, as well
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nations, need training: Workers need it to develop their careers or to get better
compensations; organizations need skillful and efficient employees to improve
performance and productivity, promote competitiveness, decrease absenteeism and
turnover, as well as to improve client satisfaction; governments depend heavily on a
skilled labor force with the capacity to learn, adapt, and master competitiveness in a
globalized economy.

Yet, the benefits of T&D for organizations will only fulfill their potential when
starting with a well thought process and taking into account the major purposes of
the companies and their stakeholders. One of the major difficulties in organizations’
T&D process is its beginning. Whatever the purpose of T&D in each company
(emphasis on “each”), it is paramount to start with the “right foot.” And, normally,
that does not happen.

The impression of a “bad start,” concerning the T&D process, struck me first as a
trainer in professional training courses subsidized by European Funds, directed to
help the development and sustainable growth of Portuguese small- and
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The “first bad impression” faded a little when
working in a private bank, where things seem to be much more strategic. But, then,
the purposes were quite different, .... As a lecturer, however, I hear from my master
degree students (most of them working in several different companies) that the
beginning of the T&D process in their companies might not be, again, the most
favorable way to get started... for all of the involved.

So, with this professional experience in mind, I will try to share some T&D
concepts, tools, and processes, and especially some of my concerns regarding the
need of a good start in the organizations’ T&D process.

This chapter discusses, in general terms, the T&D management process in
organizations. It starts by defining what T&D is and discussing its purposes and
benefits for organizations and its members. It follows with a brief description of the
process, and a particular emphasis will be given to the first step: the needs
assessment stage and its implications in the other T&D stages and human resource
management (HRM) activities. Afterward, some guidelines and tools to conceive,
plan, and implement the needs assessment stage will be suggested.

The main objectives of this section are, as followed, threefold: (1) to give a global
view of the T&D process and its main goals; (2) to help understand why needs
assessment is a vital step in T&D; and (3) to provide (suggest ...) guidelines and
examples of some tools to effectively implement a needs assessment in organizations.

2 Training and Development: An Overview

Training is often seen as a planned and systematic process of learning in the sense
of acquiring, modifying, and/or developing knowledge, skills, and abilities (KSA)
in order to achieve and/or improve the employees’ performance in the current job
and prepare them for an intended job. It is concerned with current productivity,
whereas development can be seen as a “general enhancement and growth of an
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individual’s skills and abilities through conscious and unconscious learning” [5,
p. 1]. The major differences between training and development are at the level of
time and scope. Training is a short-term process, using instruction to solve technical
problems and so it is used for specific job-related purposes. Development is a
“marathon”: a long-term process, where organizations and their employees proac-
tively seek competencies, skills and knowledge to resolve eventual future problems.
It is related with the necessity to meet future organizational needs (Table 1).

Although the purposes of training and the ones of development are somewhat
different, the process is the same. So, T&D in organizational context is an HRM
tool that can be thought of as a set of planned, methodical activities designed to help
the acquisition of knowledge, skills, attitudes, behaviors, and competencies that are
needed, in some way, both for the companies and their members (e.g., [2, p. 77])
(Table 1).

T&D is currently well established as a systemic process that brings advantages at
social, organizational, group, and individual levels. For instance, Aguinis and
Kraiger [1] referred some studies where economic growth, inclusion of a country in
a major economic block, or increased qualification of the workforce are benefits that
resulted from T&D initiatives, whereas Cheung and Chan [6] showed the impor-
tance of training regarding countries’ competitive positions. At the organizational
level, Salas and Cannon-Bowers [7], Aguinis and Kraiger [1], and Park and Jacobs
[8] all pointed out the results of T&D activities in organizational performance as
much in productivity, profit, or safety, as well as in the decrease of errors and
individual productivity. Ubeda-Garcia et al. [9] showed that training policies seem
to impact both objective and subjective measures of organizational performance.

At a microlevel—group and individual—training activities improve communi-
cation, performance, and task coordination within teams [1, 2, 10], can enhance
positive attitudes toward the organization and the job [11-14], and seem to be able
to increase employability within the firm [15]. In summary, to achieve success
companies need to master their ability to train and develop in employees, ways to
adapt to, and manage change. Here, T&D systems play a key role in strategic HRM,
contributing to the competitiveness, and business’s success.

Table 1 Differences between training and development

Training Development
Description | Purchasing behaviors, knowledge, Looking for complex results, less likely
framed in a function (performance) to objectify in terms of performance
Objectives Minimize individual differences Increasing variability of behavior
and standardize behaviors
Process Mechanical Organic
Emphasis on predictable responses Leads to less predictable responses
Orientation Toward work, task Toward the person
Content Competencies and attitudes needed Concepts to stimulate analytical and
to specific tasks critical skills

Time frame Short term Long term
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2.1 The Training Process: A Brief Overview

Training as a set of activities that are put in place when managing people in
organizational contexts, is an HRM practice that can also be thought of as a process
comprising four stages: needs assessment, training design, training delivery, and
training evaluation [12, p. 77].

The first stage, needs assessment, is a stage that will be of particular concern in
this chapter. It is vital to define how training is going to be accomplished.

The training design stage should be thought of in terms of “learning objectives,
trainee characteristics, current knowledge about learning processes, and practical
considerations...” [16, p. 403]. This stage is built on data gathered in the needs
assessment part. Plans, projects, and/or training programs are then elaborated, as
well as specific goals are set for each projected activity. Efficiency criteria must be
ensured in order to guide and control the resources, define methods, predict, and
anticipate results from training. This stage must also consider where and when
training activities should take place, and whom (trainers and trainees) will partic-
ipate [17].

When implementing and delivering training everything previously planned
should take place in the field. Here is the paramount to attend to (1) pre-training
conditions (individual’s characteristics, motivation for training; learning atmosphere;
trainers quality, ...); (2) training methods and learning strategies; and
(3) post-training conditions (training evaluation, training transfer, ...). (e.g., [1, 2, 7]).

The last, but not least, is training evaluation. According to Kirkpatrick’s [18, 19]
model, one of the most used evaluation frameworks, assessing the training process,
implies four levels of the analysis. The first one, reaction, regards the trainees’
opinions concerning the overall degree of satisfaction with the training conditions
and trainers. The second level targets learning outcomes: the knowledge, compe-
tences, and attitudes that were acquired (or not). Next, behavior must also be
assessed: it is important to know how knowledge, competences, and attitudes
acquired during training activities are transferred to the workplace and interfere
with performance requirements. Finally, training should also be evaluated accord-
ing to results in terms of financial or operational impact on the organization.

But, let us focus on the needs assessment.

3 Training Needs Assessment

How do people define or describe training needs assessment (TNA)? This is
something that a small questionnaire could help discover. So, when asking my
Facebook friends (they are actually not that many), 20 of them came up with some
answers.... (Thank you for the time!!!!).
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Table 2 Examples of answers for TNA definition—focus on workers

Definition

1 A collection of relevant information to see what training people need

2 Assessment process of the workers’ training needs

4 Auscultation of the subjects and skills that workers need to do better and/or learn,
upgrade

18 | Organization’s search in order to fit its training plan to the workers’ needs and
expectations

20 | Inventory of training areas that allow a group of employees to acquire general and
specific skills

Table 3 Examples of answers for TNA definition—focus on gaps

Definition

5 Identification of employees’ training needs by the employer

Diagnosis of organizational deficiencies at the level of employee training

8 Survey of skills/competencies deficit regarding the organizational strategy

16 | Difference between the profile of the function and the person’s profile

19 Identification of gaps in knowledge, skills, and behavior of workers, considered
important for their performance and for organizational success

When asked about what TNA means, twelve pointed out the organization’s
workers as the main subject of the definition. Some examples can be seen in
Table 2.

What was unexpected, especially considering that quite a few of these partici-
pants have some experience in management, is the number of answers indicating
the prevalence of the workers’ point of view. If you consider TNA as a tool, an
organization’s tool, to help achieve its goals, it is surprising that people with some
kind of management responsibility still see TNA almost as an employee
“wish/needs list” of training courses.

Actually, it should not be that surprising. Some studies point out that organi-
zations still use employees’ inquiries and pre-defined list of T&D sessions as some
of the most frequent instruments of assessing training needs [20, 21].

Other participants in this small inquiry gave a more complete definition focusing
on gaps and on the organization. Table 3 shows some cases.

3.1 Toward a Definition that Fits the Context

Employees and their employers surely need to understand that T&D is not only for
the sake of individual employees’ wants and desires, nor for choosing whatever
consultants have on their “menu.” T&D can really be used to motivate employees
and/or to reward them, but first companies need to think first if they can afford using
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T&D for these purposes all the time. Let us think about SMEs.... most of these
companies struggle to survive. SME’s owners and managers may need T&D to
innovate, to expand, to learn how to do more and/or better in order to compete with
other companies. In early stages of development, these organizations probably
cannot use training resources to compensate the employee of the month! They need
to use training in order to meet their survival and growth goals.

There is some evidence that the use of European Funds for T&D, for instance,
was not adequately used for the initial purposes (e.g., [22]) at least in some
countries. When working as a trainer for some Portuguese companies that applied
for European Funds, I really had the impression that some trainees were there
simply because they were paid and that some companies used the training programs
they choose to implement or to accept from consultants very wrongly. Later, I saw
some cases and heard of others that seem to fail the purposes of T&D, not due to a
bad practice, but because of a deficient knowledge of the importance, usefulness,
and techniques of the training process. Also, it seems to me that some people have
certain myths and beliefs about T&D; one that I hear a lot is that “training is always
good”! True... for the individual... not necessarily for the organization....

Sometimes organizations and its members seem to forget that T&D is an HRM
tool that must be used with a purpose. Managing means organizing and coordi-
nating a set of activities, with limited resources in order to achieve specific
objectives. Having more or less resources means to apply them efficiently in order
to be effective.

Hence, in order to help manage companies, TNA should be thought, first, as a
tool to determine whether training is the right solution for organizational and
workplace problems. TNA can be seen as a process of gathering data in order to
establish what training needs exist in a particular organizational set and, then, help
organizations to achieve their goals [4, 17, 23]. It is a detector of gaps that will help
to identify skills/competency gaps by isolating the difference in and between current
and future skills/competency.' TNA is a “diagnosis of what needs to be trained, for
whom, and within what type of organizational system” [2, p. 80].

3.2 The TNA Process

The goal here is to identify the needs of each organization in order to respond to its
goals and, above all, screening which ones can effectively be addressed by
training activities [23, 24]. This stage is the first of the designing process of T&D’s
plans and programs, and it must comply a rigorous data collection on the com-
pany’s current situation, its mission, and its resources.

'Source: http://workforceplanningtools.com.au/tools/training-needs-analysis/, accessed in 16/09/2015.
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Fig. 1 Causes and outcomes of needs assessment [17, 25]

But, as a managing tool, we also need to go outside the organization. It is
important to consider the context in hands. A scrutiny of the external environment,
as well as of the internal, is required.

Let us see some examples:

e What challenges does the economic, legislative, and contractual environment
where the company operates bring?

e What challenges are there in socio-demographics variables that might affect a
company’s human resources, as well as its clients?

e What are the industry and policy directions (national, state, local) that affect the
company’s business?

e Are there enough and good suppliers to operate with?

What we are describing here is the classical environment analysis that each
organization needs to do. Ascertaining the external environment conditions is
paramount to manage organizations and determine whether T&D activities are
needed. Likewise, a company needs to “look inside™:

e What is the strategic and business plan? Are there new projects, sites, facilities?

e Are there any problems attracting, recruiting, and retaining staff?

e How are the workforce productivity, quality, skills shortages, occupational
health, and safety, risk?

e Is the organization a significant or a small employer?

As we could see above,” an external analysis as well as an internal is needed to
give direction to an organization. This is also true for assessing the need of training.
In Fig. 1, there are some examples of causes (internal and external) that trigger the
need for a closer analysis inside the organization, and specifically for training
purposes.

However, in order for T&D (or any other management tool) to be considered as
a solution for something, a problem needs to be detected before searching the

These, and other, examples can be seen in http://workforceplanningtools.com.au/tools/training-
needs-analysis/.
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causes. So, how is a problem detected in organizations? Well, just like a disease is
... by the symptoms and signs.

We really need to know the causes of something in order to reach a solution, and
those causes are inferred by the signs that the various organizational systems give:
absenteeism, unpunctuality, poor performance evaluations, increased mistakes,
production failure, increased labor accidents, increased client complaints, increased
turnover, introduction of a new system, process and/or machine, significant busi-
ness opportunity that involves a major change, ....

These are the signs that are going, after careful analysis, to give companies the
causes of the problems (Fig. 1, step @) or new situations and help to provide the
adequate solutions.

Consider these examples:

Example 1

Bank ABC noticed an increase in complaints in customer service of a particular

agency and notified these results to the branch manager, Mary. She asked the HRM

Department to implement an attendance program for her employees to take part in.
An increase in complaints is one of the signs that help organizations see that

something might not be right. Mary seems to think that an attendance course is the

solution. Is she right?

Example 2

John is the head of the marketing department in an insurance company. As su-
pervisor of a very conflicting employee, Mike, he saw that employee ruining the
department’s climate.... In the last 3 months, every single colleague presented a
complaint about him: offensiveness, insolence, .... Apparently every time he hears a
“no”.... John sent Mike to a conflict management training program.

In this case, John believes that the solution for his conflicting employee is to
send him to learn how to manage conflicts.... I wonder....

What we see in these examples are signs (number of complaints—clients or
colleagues) that are not in conformity with what is generally expected: an organi-
zation does not want clients’ complaints, and a team does not want a conflicting
employee. So what to do with those signs? Mary saw the problem as being inside
her staff: eventually a lack of competencies in attendance; John saw the root of the
problem in a particular employee.

We need to understand why these signs appear before considering a solution,
because we need to know the causes of these signs to set a proper solution. So, it is
important to consider the context where those signs appear. The increase in clients’
complaints may not be due to the inability of the staff.... It can be due to technology
(the software is not appropriate, does not respond efficiently ...), to communication
with other company’s units, to shortage of staff .... If we know the causes, we will
be better prepared to respond to the real problem... and the response may not be
training. We can, eventually, respond with T&D activities for communication
problems (depending on the issue...), but cannot solve staff scarcity with training...
Right?!
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Regarding the second example, we do not send a “trouble maker” to learn how
to manage the conflicts he starts! That is not going to “put things right.” If the
analysis of the problem is in Mike’s personality, we should know that personality is
something that is not easily changed. So, John should consider other options
besides T&D activities, like transfer him to another unit where Mike could work
with a minimum of human interaction or even dismiss him.

Another thing we should be aware of is that people tend to confuse
symptoms/facts with causes/opinions (Table 4). Consider the following examples:

Employees serve customers poorly,
Cannot get computer information,
Salespeople are incompetent,

There is a problem in attendance,
The machine is broken,

The deadlines are not met,

The objectives are not being met, and
The chief does not solve the problem.

Which ones are symptoms or facts and which ones are opinions or causes?

In the first column, we are basically saying that we know who to blame for a
problem or situation. Our opinion is that the cause of the situation is the machine,
the salespeople, the employees, and the chief.... It might be truth, really.... But we
should consider all facts in order to discover the cause, since a machine may be ok,
but we do not know out to work with it; salespeople and employees may be quite
good, but they are not good enough, or even sufficient, to achieve the purposes; and
the chief may not have enough authority to solve the problem.

This separation is important in order to find the right solution for an organiza-
tional problem, and to know whether T&D activities are part of that solution.

Normally T&D is a solution, or at least more efficient, when the cause of a
problem/situation is related to the lack of knowledge and skills (Fig. 2).

Now that we were able to isolate the causes, we can consider if the solution
depends on training or not. If so, an analysis at the organizational, task, and indi-
vidual levels should be addressed by using a set of information-gathering instru-
ments, and sources (Fig. 1, step ®) ending with decision-making about where,
when, and how to perform training policies and practices [17, 26, 27]. Table 5
shows some examples:

Table 4 Differences between causes/opinions and symptoms/facts

Causes/opinions Symptoms/facts

Employees serve customers poorly Cannot get computer information
Salespeople are incompetent There is a problem in attendance
The machine is broken The deadlines are not met

The chief does not solve the problem The objectives are not being met




114

A.P.V.G. Ferreira

[MOTIVATION & INCENTIVE DEFICIENCY ]——{ Lack of encouragement J

CAUSES

KNOWLEDGE & SKILL DEFICIENCY

—{ Unawareness of how and when J

Fig. 2 Causes and effects [26]

Table 5 Sources of information [26, 28]

Levels

Sources

Organization

Organization’s mission, goals, policies, business plans

Organization chart

Organizational climate indicators (absenteeism, job accidents, sickness leaves,
organizational culture, ...)

HR indicators (quantity, competences and skills needed, ...), exit interviews

Performance indices (profitability, costs of labor and of materials, equipment
usage, wastage, ...)

Requests for training (from managers and other organizational members)

Quality

Task

Job and competencies descriptions (present and future)

Skills, competencies, and performance standards

Observation regarding the job

Literature review (professional journals and magazines, professional
associations, ...)

Interviews with job holders, supervisors, clients, suppliers

Analyzing operational problems (waste, repairs, late deliveries,
complaints, ...)

Person

Individual performance indicators (productivity, accidents, quality, customer
complaints, ...) and comparison with standards

Tests (job knowledge, skills, personality, ...)

Attitude surveys

Performance appraisals

Interviews

Questionnaires

Critical incidents

The needs assessment process, like many things in organizational life, is
dependent on resources devoted to T&D activities in each company. So conse-
quently, we need to know whether T&D activities fit with companies’ strategic
goals and if there is budget, time, and expertise and will to spend on these activities.
So we need to answer 3 questions before starting:
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1. What is the company’s strategy?
2. Which resources are available?
3. Is there support and interest in T&D?

The first question is about identifying the level of involvement that T&D might
have in helping to achieve the company’s mission. Information about available
resources will help us to choose the instruments and techniques. And finally, it is
paramount to know the level of support employees, managers, and peers can give to
T&D. Basically, these are the questions that need to be answered at an organiza-
tional level of analysis: The answers are going to determine the way the person
responsible for performing the TNA will manage the process: the choice of
resources, the time to perform it, the targets of T&D activities.... In sum, what to do
in order to know: What? Why? When? Where? Who? How?

Task (job) analysis results in a description of the work activities of the em-
ployees. TNA can use the existing ones to achieve its purposes or help to build new
ones or reformulate the existing.

Regarding person analysis, the purpose of it is to determine which employees
need training in order to improve or achieve the wanted performance standards. For
that, we need to know the quality of the human resources an organization has. This
analysis requires understanding and identifying the person’s characteristics
regarding KSAs and attitudes, as well as the conditions for learning (social support,
opportunity to perform, contextual constraints, feedback provided, ...) and the
expected performance. Of no minor importance is understanding, the rewards and
benefits T&D can provide for the employee.

4 Needs Assessment Techniques: Advantages
and Disadvantages

The purposes of a TNA are achieved, as so many things in management, by
collecting both qualitative and quantitative data for analysis. These data will help us
to interpret current and future situations, problems, opportunities, and help to
achieve what organizations want.

The key issue here is “personalization.” As most things, T&D process should be
“tailor made” for each organizational context. For instance, we cannot expect a
SME to have the same human and financial resources to apply on T&D as bigger
companies. This alone is one of the major constraints companies can have regarding
T&D.

Much of the data is gathered by unique and customized instruments that need to be
built for the purpose. We can obtain data using a questionnaire or interviews (or
both...). But the reason why we are going to ask is because the company noted a sign
or symptoms that caught its attention: An increase in turnover, absenteeism, lower
productivity, or simply because a new machine or process is going to be implemented
in a specific unit. So we need to shape the questions (about (non) existent knowledge
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Technique Main advantages Main disadvantages Examples of use
Observation Relevant data Expert (observer) Attendance, conflict,
Low interference in Employee behavior is machine operation
work affected
Interpretation
Observer dependency
Questionnaires Inexpensive Low return rates Job satisfaction,
Amount of data in short | Not detailed motivation
term Information restricted State of the
Objective, summarized to the questions asked | employer/employee
data relationship
Interviews Detailed information Time consuming Job satisfaction,
(causes; solutions) Need deep analysis motivation
Allows exploring Expert (interviewer) Employer/employee
unexpected issues Interviewer relationship
Flexibility (time, dependency Improvement of
questions, ...) processes
Communication

Focus groups

Allows exploring
unexpected issues

Time consuming
Expert (interviewer)

Complex and
controversial issues

Several perspectives at Eventual reluctance of | (workplace
the same time participants (issues of bullying, ...)
Rapid to organize confidentiality and Impact of new
Relatively low cost different status among | product
participants, ...)
Moderator
dependency
Social desirability
bias
Documentation Objective information Technical language Job and
about procedures Obsolete information competencies
Good information analysis
about job tasks
Performance Objective information Does not always Specific knowledge
data related to performance explain the causes and behavior
gaps (organization, (just shows the deficiencies
unit, and individual symptoms) Production problems
levels)
Tests Objective information Not detailed Knowledge and

Easy and fast to apply

Information restricted
to the questions asked

behavior
deficiencies

or skills, job satisfaction, conflicts, remuneration, relationship with supervisor ...) in
order to find out why those symptoms came up in that particular unit. The questions
must also be made according to the target: language issues, level of literacy, orga-
nization and unit’s goals, as well as employees’ expectations and needs must be

considered.
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To perform an adequate TNA, collecting relevant data of what we want to
measure is paramount. The type of information needed requires diverse instruments
and methods. Collecting data regarding knowledge, attitudes, skills, or behaviors is
different: We may need to use different methods, different techniques, different
instruments. ...

The most common techniques to collect data for TNA and its (dis)advantages
can be seen in Table 6.

Other techniques are available like brainstorming, and critical incident tech-
niques. But besides collecting information, the analysis of that information is also
needed. Analysis means, according to the online Oxford Dictionary,” a “detailed
examination of the elements or structure of something” and a “process of separating
something into its constituent elements.” So, with the information in hand we need
to see what the relevant parts are. Basically, we need to perform the three levels of
analysis described before: organizational, task, and individual.

Time, resources, habits, and other technical and logistic considerations need to
be considered in order to choose the methods to use in TNA. Because each
method/technique has specific advantages and disadvantages more than one should
be used and should be chosen considering the (dis)advantages of each: The dis-
advantages of one should be compensated by the advantages of the other.

5 Managing Needs Assessment: Some Issues

Roscoe [26] presents a very useful description of the needs assessment process and
its management. In order to plan the TNA activity, the author signals the need to
appoint a responsible person. This person, alone or with a team, needs to collect and
analyze information to identify a problem, or to decide whether a training request is
viable, by separating the causes from the effects. This alone will help to review and
modify the initial ideas and proposals. With the information and its analysis in
hands, the responsible team should generate and evaluate solutions that solve the
causes. Some of the solutions may be T&D activities, others may not.

The key issue here is the choice of a solution. A set of possible solutions will
surely be generated, and the choice may be problematic. A practical way to help
choose a solution may be the consideration of some issues that can work as a check
list for the person, or team, responsible for performing a TNA or managing T&D
activities (Table 7).

This, of course, serves both for finding solutions in general to solve a problem or
situation, and choosing, if the solution is T&D, which type of T&D activities can be
performed in a particular organization.

3http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/pt/deﬁni‘%;C3%A7%C3%A30/ingl%C3%AAs/analysis, accessed
in 16/09/2015.
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Table 7 Evaluating solutions [26]

A.P.V.G. Ferreira

Priorities

Criteria for evaluate

Reasons to reject

Legal requirements

Possibility of operating—will it
work?

Overlap with other T&D
activities

Business needs

Contribution to the situation—will
it improve?

Lack of potential

Pay off Budget—is it within the budget? Inability to learn
Organizational politics Costs and benefits Costs
Staff motivations and Deadlines—will it be ready on Time

expectations

time?

Resources available

People involved—is it acceptable
for everyone?

Culture of the
organization

Management
considerations

Resources—which ones are
available?

Unavailability of
resources

After deciding on the solution that better seems to solve the problem, a report
must be presented for approval and, after acceptance, we need to implement it.
Being a T&D solution accepted means that the proposal indicates a need of training
(Fig. 1; step ®) and answers were given to the outcomes presented in Fig. 1:

e What trainees need T&D activities?
What are the best training methods?
When and how many times T&D activities should occur to help resolve the
situation?
Are we going to “buy” or “build” the proposed T&D solution?
Etc....

6 Final Considerations

TNA helps organizations to make sure that training is the appropriate solution for a
problem, whether this problem is a performance gap, a promotion situation, or a
socialization issue [4]. For this goal to be successfully achieved, we should con-
sider, in my opinion, three main issues.

Personalization is one of them. Each organization is unique. Some have tra-
dition in using T&D, others do not. Some have a culture of learning and innovation,
and others have a culture of tradition. Some need very qualified employees, others
need flexible employees.... So T&D must be used accordingly and the methods,
instruments, and tools that we can use must be chosen and/or built to meet the needs
and resources of each company. “Copy and paste” is not a guideline to use in T&D,
and especially when performing TNA. We can be inspired by some new theories,
methods, and instruments but we cannot always use them exactly as others do. We
need to adapt, we need to question whether it serves the purposes, we need to see
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whether it deals with the issues we need to solve; we might need to add a new
question in an interview or questionnaire, we might need to adjust the language, the
length of the questionnaire....

Another issue is managing, managing in the sense formerly discussed: orga-
nizing and coordinating a set of activities, with limited resources in order to achieve
specific objectives. The key words here are limited resources. Sometimes, we have
a good budget and we can afford to use complex methods and instruments, hire an
expert, and buy a new amazing knowledge test.... Sometimes, we do not. And we
need to improvise, adapt, and think about how to use what we have.

Last, but not least, is dedication. According to Oxford Dictionary,4 dedication
means as follows: “the quality of being dedicated or committed to a task or pur-
pose” and “the hard work and effort that somebody puts into an activity or a
purpose because they think it is important.” Do I need to say anything else?

7 Developing Skills

To exercise your knowledge, please consider the examples given in Sect. 3.2:

Example 1

Bank ABC noticed an increase in complaints in customer service of a particular
agency and notified these results to the branch manager, Mary. She asked the HRM
department to implement an attendance program for her employees to take part in.

Example 2
John is the head of the marketing department in an insurance company. As su-
pervisor of a very conflicting employee, Mike, he saw that employee ruining the
department’s climate.... In the last 3 months, every single colleague presented a
complaint about him: offensiveness, insolence, .... Apparently every time he hears a
“no”.... John sent Mike to a conflict management training program.

In order to establish if T&D activities are the solution for each of these cases,
what would you do?

Please consider:

e The context: private big-/medium-sized companies (financial and insurance
areas).

e Probable sources of information;
Techniques for analysis;
Organizational members involved.

*http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/pt/defini%C3%A7%C3%A30/ingl %C3%A As/dedication?
searchDictCode=all, and http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/pt/defini%C3%A7%C3%A30/learner/
dedication, accessed in 16/09/2015.
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Part II1
Speaking About Accounting and Finance



Accounting as an Information System

Ana Alexandra Caria, Anabela Martins Silva,
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and Lidia Cristina Alves Morais Oliveira

Abstract This chapter aims to provide, for all those that pursue a managerial career
in the private industry, public sector, government, technological and engineering
area, the “core” concepts, principles, rules and techniques of the accounting area.
Positioning accounting within its broader social, economic and historical context,
this chapter provides useful insights concerning the needs of different users of
accounting information and provides a clear understanding of the differences and
complementarities between financial and management accounting. In detail, the
chapter defines accounting; analyses the evolution of accounting from mediaeval
times to present; identifies the users of accounting information and their needs;
identifies the objectives of financial reporting; identifies the qualities that make
financial statements useful; defines the basic elements of financial statements—
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses; provides an understanding of the
accrual basis and going concern assumptions which underlie the preparation of
financial statements; explains the nature and purpose of accounting standards; and
introduces the financial statements that appear in a set of published accounts. To
complement, the main concepts of management accounting and the distinctiveness
and usefulness of the information it provides for decision-making are described.

1 Accounting in Context

1.1 Introduction

When we reflect broadly upon accounting and its roles in organizations and society,
different dimensions can be highlighted. In fact, accounting may be seen as a
technical practice alone or may be more broadly conceived as a social practice, with
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implications for social and organizational functioning, that goes beyond the con-
sideration of accounting as a neutral, if not benign, technical practice [1, p. 481].
Additionally, it is important to acknowledge that “accounting goes on at a more
macrosociological level than is commonly assumed” and that accounting rules can
be considered “not as features of particular organizations, but as properties of
institutional domains, national societies, or now the evolving world” [1, p. 484; 2,
p. 348, 354].

This broader nature of accounting allows us to identify different images of
accounting [3]: accounting as an ideology; accounting as a language; accounting as
a historical record; accounting as a current economic reality; accounting as an
information system; accounting as a commodity; accounting as symbolic rituals;
accounting as rationale; accounting as imagery; accounting as experimentation; and
accounting as distortion. So, the question that emerges is: what is accounting?

1.2 What Is Accounting?

In a simplified way, accounting is the “language of business”. Unless you can
understand accounting, you will not understand business. But it is a very special
and a living language [4], with its own symbols that allow to describe any business
activity.

To fully understand the business, it is necessary to understand the
language/concepts of accounting. The accounting language is strong and flexible
enough to change as society changes, being determined by the context in which it
operates (e.g. cultural, political, economic, technological and social factors).
Therefore, accounting has been recognized as a social and institutional practice
[5-7].

A broad definition of accounting that has stood the test of time is the one
provided by the American Accounting Association (AAA). Accordingly,
accounting is defined as “the process of identifying, measuring and communicating
economic information to permit informed judgments and decisions by users of the
information” [8].

This process comprises three phases: to identify economic events relevant to
business; to count and measure; and to communicate the collected information in an
aggregated way to interested users.

Accounting is not only about the production of accounting information (which
comprises the functions of recording, classification and measurement), but also
concerns the uses of the information produced (related to the following functions:
information for decisions, management control and communication).

Accounting is an essential tool to support decision-making process and for
accountability and reporting. The decisions are based on financial and non-financial
information. Historically, accounting information has been financial, but accounting
is increasingly being used to address the social, environmental, economic and
governance concerns.
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1.3 From Medieval Times to the Present

Although pervasive in all aspects of the public and private domains in our society,
accounting has a long history. Several studies positioned the origins of bookkeeping
in ancient civilizations, dating back to about 4000-3000 B.C., such as Babylonian,
Assyrian and Sumerian civilizations, with some rudimentary forms of
record-keeping [3, 9]. Bookkeeping went through significant changes with the
Egyptian civilization, where the scribes had an important status in society; with the
Greek Civilization, where the accounts of the Athenian State where made available
to public scrutiny; and the Roman civilization, where laws were issued imposing
the elaboration by taxpayers of statements of their financial positions [10]. The
changes that bookkeeping went through the ancient world have “been attributed to
various factors, including the invention of writing, the introduction of Arabic
numerals and of the decimal system, the diffusion of knowledge of algebra, the
presence of inexpensive writing material, the rise of literacy, and the existence of a
standard medium of exchange” [3, p. 2; see also 10, 11].

The period of the Middle Age is considered as a period of stagnation for
bookkeeping in the European context, and it is only around the fourteenth century
that developments in bookkeeping happened and resulted in the use of double entry
bookkeeping [10]. Previous to the development of double entry bookkeeping, the
technique used to keep the accounting books was single entry bookkeeping or
charge and discharge accounting. Charge and discharge accounting covers a wide
range of accounting systems, which operate on a single entry [11]. As common
features it can be highlighted “that they are accounts of an individual rather than an
organization, [...] they cover the flow of resources over a period of time, and they
make no distinction between capital and revenue transactions” [11, pp. 33-34]. As
defined by Vangermeersch [12, p. 533], “Single entry bookkeeping is generally
associated with accounting books containing only cash and personal (people and
organizations) accounts (...)”. The main book used was the Memorial where data
were presented in a narrative or paragraph form, or presented in separate lines with
figures in columns [11].

However, to meet with the growing business requirements, in particular the
increasing level and complexity of trading operations, this method evolved with an
increasing number of books being used and adapted, which resulted, at a certain
point in time, in the double entry bookkeeping system [11]. This can be sum-
marized as a system in which every transaction has a corresponding positive and
negative entry (debits and credits) in a closed system of accounts, which include
five categories: persons, values, cash, income and capital. This system has the
following key features: (a) keeping of accounting records based on monetary
measurement; (b) distinguishing between capital and income when analysing and
classifying business transactions; and (c) the integrating role of the capital
accounting, which is the recipient of all gains and losses, and the inherent state of
balance between Assets and claims on those assets, also named Liabilities and
Proprietorship [13, p. 311]. The characteristics of double entry bookkeeping can be
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summarized through the accounting equation: Assets — Liabilities =
Proprietorship or Owner’s Equity. As main books, the system uses the Journal
and the Ledger, which contains accounts of each asset and liability of the business
and of the amount invested (capital) of the owner [14, pp. 372-373]. To simplify
the organization of the information, the different elements are structured in
accounts, where an account comprises the elements of the patrimony of an entity
with similar characteristics. By convention, it has been assumed the following
structure of the account, representing the ledger book opened:

Debit Title of the Account Credit

Debits Credits

As rules to register the movements in the accounts, it has been established, as a
convention, the following:

Debit Credit
Asset + -
Liability - +
Revenue +
Expense +
Capital - +

Note + means Increase in the patrimonial element; — means Decrease in the patrimonial element

To exemplify the use of both single and double entry bookkeeping, let us use the
following example: The merchant bought chairs and a desk for 300 euros, paid in
cash.

By using single entry bookkeeping, this transaction implies an expense and since
it was paid the entry would be made only on the cash account: Decrease on the cash
account.

Debit Cash Credit

300 euros

By using double entry bookkeeping and for the accounting equation to be bal-
anced, at least two accounts have to be used: Increase of Chair and Desk (Increase
Asset) and Decrease in Cash (Decrease Asset).
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Debit Chairs and Desk Credit  Debit Cash Credit

300 euros 300 euros

But where and how this method was developed and how it spread throughout
Europe? It is accepted that the method emerged by the end of the Middle Age in the
Northern Italian cities (Genoa, Florence and Venice) where Italian merchants were
the leading businessmen of Europe, with a superior organization when compared
with the other European countries [15, 16]. These Italian cities were until the
fifteenth century the most developed in intellectual capability such as through
education, writing, reading and arithmetic [17]. In fact, while some authors claim
that the oldest records using double entry bookkeeping belonged to the Farolfi
company (1299-1300) [18], others argue that the earliest records using double entry
bookkeeping belonged to a municipality, the Massari of Genoa (1340) [19, 20].

The diffusion throughout Europe of double entry bookkeeping was stimulated in
the fifteenth century by an important innovation—the printing press, and by the
publication in 1494 of the first printed book on double entry bookkeeping Summa
de Arithmetica, Geometria, Proportioni et Proportionalita written by Fra Luca
Pacioli [11]. This invention made possible, and stimulated in the following cen-
turies, the publication of a considerable number of accounting books that were
widely diffused and accessible to a considerable number of literate and numerate
people who previously did not have access to this instructional literature. In general,
the vehicles of transfer used in the diffusion of double entry bookkeeping were
books, foreign merchants and schools. Pacioli’s pivotal book was an important
instrument of diffusion, since it was translated into other languages and exerted a
strong influence on the books published subsequently by authors from different
countries [11, 21, 22]. However, the technique was not adopted on a large scale and
many businessmen continued to routinely use simple, traditional accounting pro-
cedures they were accustomed to using. It was only after 1850 that double entry
bookkeeping was adopted by a majority of businesses in Europe with the “manu-
facturing corporation, the income tax, and the emerging accounting profession as
major stimulants” [23, p. 61]. The fact is that accounting theory and practice, in
both financial and management accounting, either in private or in public institu-
tions, went through considerable changes through the centuries, but double entry
bookkeeping remains as the method still used in accounting today when preparing
accounting information for different users, while single entry bookkeeping is only
used for individuals and very small businesses.
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1.4 Who Are the Users of Accounting Information
and What Are Their Needs?

The accounting definition provided in Sect. 1.2 refers to the users of economic
information and the decisions they make. Who are the users of accounting and why
they need accounting information? The primary user of the accounting information
is the business itself. In running a business, managers (e.g. finance directors,
marketing managers and production supervisors) need past and prospective data for
strategic and operational planning, for decision-making and for management con-
trol. Managers are named internal users of the accounting information. To these,
information is accessible on an ongoing basis and its availability depends on the
company itself.

In addition, there are individuals and organizations outside the entity who want
financial information about the business. They are the so-called external users
including present and potential investors, lenders, suppliers and other trade credi-
tors, customers, competitors, employees, governments and their agencies, and the
general public.

The information that each user needs depends upon the kinds of decisions the
user makes. Table 1 illustrates some of the needs that accounting information may
help to accomplish.

Though all the information needs of these users cannot possibly be met directly
and on an ongoing basis, there are needs that are common to all users. These
common needs are met through entity’s preparation and presentation of general
purpose financial statements (referred to as “financial statements”).

Table 1 Users of accounting and needs for information of accounting users

Users Types of needs. Need accounting information to ...
Investors/shareholders — Assess how effectively the managers are running the
business

— Assess the ability to pay dividends
— Make decisions to buy, hold or sell ownership shares of a

company
Lenders — Evaluate the risks of granting credit or lending money
— Assess the ability to pay interest and to repay the amount
borrowed
Suppliers and other trade — Determine whether amounts owed to them will be paid
creditors when due. Trade creditors are likely to be interested in an

entity over a shorter period than lenders unless they are
dependent upon the continuation of the entity as a major
customer

Customers — Know if the company will continue to honour product
warranties and support its product lines (especially when
there is a long-term involvement or dependence on the
entity)

(continued)
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Table 1 (continued)

Users Types of needs. Need accounting information to ...

Competitors — Compare performance

Employees — Know about the stability and profitability of their
employers

— Assess the ability of the entity to provide remuneration,
retirement benefits and employment opportunities

Governments, tax authorities, — Determine and assess taxation policies

regulatory agencies — Calculate national income and statistics

— Decide whether financial support is needed (e.g. grants)

— Tax authorities need to know whether the company
complies (or not) with tax laws, and how much tax they
should pay

— Regulators need to know whether the company is
operating (or not) within prescribed rules

General public — Entities contribute to the local economy in many ways,
including the number of people they employ and their
patronage of local suppliers. Accounting information
provides information about the trends and recent
developments in the prosperity of the entity and the range
of its activities

Source [24, §9] adapted

1.5 Financial Accounting and Management Accounting

There is only one discipline of accounting. As stated in Sect. 1.2, accounting
identifies, measures and communicates financial information about economic
entities to interested parties. However, a commonly distinction is made between
financial accounting and management accounting, with the first being targeted
primarily at those outside the business. Financial accounting (or general accounting,
or financial accounting and reporting) is responsible for the preparation of financial
reports on the entity for use by both internal and external users. While internal
parties may require and have the power to obtain detailed information about the
enterprise, most of the external users (e.g. investors, creditors, unions and gov-
ernment agencies) have to rely on the output of financial accounting—financial
statements or accounts—as their major source of financial information. Financial
statements form part of the process of financial reporting and are prepared and
presented at least annually. The main components of a complete set of financial
statements include the following, according to paragraph 10 of IAS 1:

— a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;

— a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period;

— a statement of changes in equity for the period;

— a statement of cash flows for the period;

— notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory infor-
mation [25].
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On the other hand, management accounting (or internal accounting) covers the
internal accounting of an organization. It is responsible for tailoring information
that managers and decision-makers inside the company need to plan, control and
evaluate an entity’s operations. Management accounting identifies, measures,
analyses and communicates to the managers information about resources that are
used in the various business processes constituting the firm. Management
accounting covers several areas: product cost issues, business-process cost analyses,
budgeting, analysis of deviations from plans, management performance, strategic
accounting and among others. Management accounting helps understanding how
value is created so as to assist internal decision-makers.

2 Fundamentals of Financial Accounting

2.1 Core Concepts

Financial accounting is concerned with the identification, capture, record, process
and presentation of the economic events (e.g. acquisition of resources, selling the
firm’s output, payment of the monthly wages, obtaining a loan) that take place
between the company and the outside partners (e.g. suppliers, customers, tax
authorities, and financial institutions). To allow the valuation of transactions, events
have to be materialized by documents (e.g. invoices, receipts, bank statement, con-
tracts, tax and social security filings) that comprise both financial and non-financial
elements. Documents are chronologically recorded, classified and analysed so as to
permit for the periodic construction of synthetic reports, the financial statements.
Financial accounting involves both the preparation and the use of information to
facilitate economic decision-making of individuals and organizations. This goal is
also enclosed in the objective of general-purpose financial reporting defined by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the international accounting
standards setter, in its Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting.'
Accordingly, the purpose of financial reporting is “to provide financial information
about the reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential investors, lenders
and other creditors in making decisions about providing resources to the entity”
(Conceptual framework, §1.2) [26]. While a wide range of parties may be interested

'A conceptual framework establishes the concepts that underlie financial reporting. It is a coherent
system of concepts that flow from the objective of financial reporting (level 1). The purpose of
financial reporting provides guidance on identifying the qualitative characteristics that make
accounting information useful and the elements of financial statements and assumptions (level 2).
The third level identifies the recognition, measurement and disclosure concepts used in estab-
lishing and applying the accounting standards to achieve the financial reporting objective. The
TIASB’s conceptual framework is described in the document, “Framework for Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements”. It was firstly issued in 1989 and revised in 2010 and 2015.
The 2015s revision is expected to be completed in 2016. The analysis provided in this section
refers to IASB Conceptual Framework [26].
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in financial reporting, the IASB considers decision usefulness to capital providers
(present and potential investors, lenders and other creditors) as the overarching
objective.

The attributes that make the information provided in financial statements useful
to users are called fundamental qualitative characteristics. If financial informa-
tion is to be useful, it must be relevant and faithfully represent what it purports to
represent (Fig. 1). Relevant accounting information is the one that is capable of
making a difference in a decision. Information with no bearing on a decision is
irrelevant. Financial information is capable of making a difference when it has
predictive value, confirmatory value (it helps to confirm or revise their previous
evaluations), or both (Conceptual framework, §§2.6-2.10) [26]. The second fun-
damental quality of accounting information is faithful representation. Faithful
representation means that the numbers and descriptions match what really existed or
happened. Faithful representation is necessary because most users have neither the
time nor the expertise to evaluate the factual content of the information. Faithful
representation represents the substance of an economic phenomenon rather than
merely representing its legal form. To be a faithful representation, information must
be (1) complete (it includes all information that is necessary for faithful represen-
tation), (2) neutral (free of bias), and (3) free of material error. For information to
be neutral, it has to be prudent. Prudence is defined as the exercise of caution when
making judgements under conditions of uncertainty (Conceptual framework,
§§2.14-2.19) [26].

Adding to the fundamental qualitative characteristics, there are also the en-
hancing characteristics of useful financial information. These are characteristics
that are complementary to the fundamental qualitative characteristics and help
distinguish, for decision-making purpose, more useful information from less useful
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information. Enhancing characteristics of accounting information are given as:
(1) comparability (to be useful, information about an entity has to be comparable,
with similar information about other entities and with similar information about the
same entity for some other period), (2) verifiability (different knowledgeable and
independent observers could reach general consensus about the economic phe-
nomena that is represented), (3) timeliness (to influence decisions information has
to be available before it loses its opportuneness) and (4) understandability (users,
who have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and are able
to read a financial report, comprehend the meaning of the information) (Conceptual
framework, §§2.22-2.37) [26].

In providing information, companies must consider an overriding factor that
limits the reporting. This constrain is cost. Cost constraint means that companies
must weigh the costs of providing the information against the benefits that can be
derived from using it. The benefits perceived to be derived from information must
exceed the costs perceived to be associated with its preparation (Conceptual
framework, §§2.38-2.42) [26].

Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and other events
by grouping them into broad classes according to their economic characteristics.
These basic building blocks are called the elements of financial statements.
Assets, liabilities and equity are the elements of the statement of financial position
and are associated with the measurement of an entity’s financial position (usually
called balance sheet). Income and expenses are the building blocks of the statement
of profit or loss and are related to the measurement of performance. The definitions
presented in the 2015 IASB Conceptual Framework are as follows:

— Assets are present economic resources controlled by the entity as a result of past
events. An economic resource is a right that has the potential to produce eco-
nomic benefits (Conceptual framework, §§4.5-4.23) [26]. Examples of assets
are lands, buildings, industrial equipment, furniture, inventory, cash, bank
deposits, patents or licenses, equity investments, receivables and short-term
investments.

— Liabilities are present obligations of the entity to transfer an economic resource
as a result of past events. A present obligation is an obligation to transfer eco-
nomic resources that (a) the entity has no practical ability to avoid; and (b) has
arisen from a past event (i.e. economic benefits already received or activities
already conducted) (Conceptual framework, §§4.24-4.42) [26]. Liabilities
include, for example, bank loans and overdrafts, accounts payables, tax liabili-
ties, pension obligations and provisions for legal risks.

— Equity is the residual interest in the entity’s assets after deducting all its lia-
bilities. Therefore, equity is claims that do not meet the definition of a liability
and are established by contract, legislation or similar means. Although equity is
defined as a residual, it may be subclassified in the balance sheet into various
types of capital and reserves, such as shareholders’ capital, retained earnings,
statutory reserves, and tax reserves (Conceptual framework, §§4.43-4.47) [26].
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— Income is increases in assets or decreases in liabilities that result in increases in
equity, other than those relating to contributions from holders of equity claims
(Conceptual framework, §4.48) [26]. Sales, services rendered, assets yielding
interests, royalties, and dividends are examples of incomes.

— Expenses are decreases in assets or increases in liabilities that result in decreases
in equity, other than those relating to distributions to holders of equity claims
(Conceptual framework, §4.49) [26]. Examples of expenses are the cost of
goods sold, salaries and social charges, utility costs (electricity, water and
telephone), advertising costs, interest expenses, insurance premiums, and
depreciation and amortization of certain assets.

Though income and expenses are defined in terms of changes in assets and
liabilities, information about income and expenses is just as important as the
information provided by assets and liabilities (Conceptual framework, §4.52) [26].

Only items that meet the definition of an asset, a liability or equity are recog-
nized in the statement of financial position and only items that meet the definition of
income or expenses are to be recognized in the statement(s) of financial perfor-
mance. Recognition involves depicting items in words and by a monetary amount,
and including that amount in totals in the relevant statement. Nevertheless,
recognition depends on three criteria: their recognition provides users of financial
statements with (1) relevant information about the asset or the liability and about
any income, expenses or changes in equity, (2) a faithful representation of the asset
or the liability and of any income, expenses or changes in equity, and (3) infor-
mation that results in benefits exceeding the cost of providing that information
(Conceptual framework, §§5.9-5.24) [26].

The prevailing objective of financial reporting is providing information that is
decision usefulness to a large number of users. Consequently, there are several
accounting principles (also called assumptions, conventions and concepts) which
underpin the preparation of the financial statements. These could be behavioural rules
or very operational guidelines about practice. There are two overriding assumptions
underlying financial statements. These are the going concern and the accrual basis
assumptions.

The financial statements are normally prepared assuming the entity is a going
concern and will continue in operation for the foreseeable future, with neither the
intention nor the necessity of liquidation, ceasing trading or seeking protection from
creditors pursuant to laws or regulations (Conceptual framework, §3.10) [26]. The
assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern is responsibility of the
entity’s management. This involves making a judgement, at a particular point in time,
taking into account “all available information about the future which is at least, but is
not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period” (IAS 1, §26) [25].
If management has significant concerns about the entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern, the uncertainties must be disclosed. If management concludes that the
entity is not a going concern, then the financial statements should not be prepared on
a going concern basis, in which case IAS 1 requires disclosure the reasons why and
the basis on which it prepared the financial statements (IAS 1, §25) [25].
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The other underlying assumption is the accrual basis. Under this basis, the effects
of transactions and other events are recognized when they occur and not when cash
or its equivalent is received or paid. Therefore, transactions and other events are
recorded in the accounting records and reported in the financial statements of the
periods to which they relate. Using the accrual basis to determine net income means
that a company recognizes income when it provides the goods or services rather
than when it receives cash or its equivalent. Similarly, it recognizes expenses when
it incurs them rather than when it pays them. For example, an energy bill owing at
the accounting year end is thus treated as an expense for this year even if it is paid
in the next year. In other words, net income must include all and only the
income/expenses that have been earned/consumed during the accounting period.
IAS 1 in paragraph 27 defines that “an entity shall prepare its financial statements,
except for cash flow information, using the accrual basis of accounting” [25].
Financial statements prepared on an accrual basis better informs about the entity’s
present and continuing ability to generate favourable cash flows than does infor-
mation limited to the financial effects of cash receipts and payments.

To a large extent, financial reports are based on estimates, judgements and
models rather than exact representations. Measurement systems are fundamental to
the determination of net income and to the measurement of net assets. Considering
the objective of financial reporting, the qualitative characteristics of useful financial
information and the cost constraint, there are different measurement bases for dif-
ferent assets, liabilities and items of income and expenses.2 Measurement “is the
process of quantifying, in monetary terms, information about an entity’s assets,
liabilities, equity, income and expenses” (Conceptual framework, §6.2) [26].
Measurement bases discussed in the 2015 IASB Conceptual Framework include the
historical cost and current value bases (§6.4).

The measurement basis most commonly adopted by entities in preparing their
financial statements is historical cost, which is usually combined with other mea-
surement bases (e.g. inventories are usually carried at the lower of cost and net
realizable value). Under the historical cost, assets are recorded at the amount of cash
(or cash equivalents) paid to acquire them. Liabilities are recorded at the amount of
proceeds received in exchange for the obligation, or in some circumstances (for
example, income taxes), at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be
paid to satisfy its liability. Although easy to use, historical cost measures of assets
or liabilities do not reflect changes in prices. However, we do not use historical cost
comprehensively in financial statements today. Measures based on historical cost do
reflect changes such as the consumption or impairment of assets and the fulfilment
of liabilities. This means that the historical cost of non-financial assets (e.g. prop-
erty, equipment and patents) is adjusted over time to depict the depreciation or

“Currently, financial statement amounts are determined using a variety of measurement bases.
Historical cost is used, for example, for cash. Impaired amortised historical cost is used for
purchased property, plant, and equipment. Amortised historical cost is used for loans, receivables
and long-term debt. Fair value is used for investment securities and derivatives. Entity-specific
value is used for impaired inventories and impaired property, plant, and equipment.
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amortization of the assets (consumption), and/or the fact that part of the historical
cost of the asset is no longer recoverable (impairment). Historical cost base also
includes the amortised cost,” the deemed cost* and the current cost.’

In addition to measures based on historical cost, there are current value mea-
surement bases, which include (1) fair value, and (2) value in use for assets and
fulfilment value for liabilities. These provide monetary information about assets,
liabilities, income and expenses using information that is updated to reflect con-
ditions at the measurement date. Therefore, current values reflect any positive or
negative changes, since the previous measurement date, in estimates of cash flows
and other factors included in those current values (Conceptual framework, §§6.19—
6.20) [26].

Fair value is determined from the perspective of market participants (e.g. estimates
of future cash flows, uncertainty inherent in the cash flows and the time value of
money) and is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to
transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date” (Conceptual framework, §6.21) [26]. Fair value measurement is
simple and verifiable if fair values can be observed in active markets. When it is not
the case, valuation techniques (that can include the use of cash-flow-based mea-
surements) may be needed to estimate that fair value. Consequently, identical assets
or liabilities may be measured at different amounts. IFRS 13-Fair Value
Measurement sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures
about fair value measurements [13]. To increase consistency and comparability in fair

3The amortised cost is defined in paragraph 6.9 of IASB’s Conceptual framework as following:
“The historical cost of a financial asset is initially the value of the consideration given to acquire
the asset plus the transaction costs relating to the acquisition. The historical cost of a financial
liability (again, sometimes referred to as amortised cost) is initially the value of the consideration
received to take on the liability less the transaction costs incurred in taking it on. The subsequent
carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities measured using amortised cost reflects
subsequent changes such as the accrual of interest, changes in the estimates of cash flows (in-
cluding the impairment of financial assets) and payments or receipts, but does not reflect subse-
quent changes in prices caused by other factors” [26].

“«Assets acquired and the liabilities incurred in transactions that involve no exchange do not have
a readily identifiable initial cost. In such cases, current values are sometimes used as a proxy for
cost (deemed cost) on initial measurement and that deemed cost is then used as a starting point for
subsequent measurement” (Conceptual framework, §6.11) [26].

SWhen price changes are significant, information about the current cost may sometimes be more
relevant than information about their historical cost. “The current cost of an asset (liability) is the
cost of (proceeds from) an equivalent asset (liability) at the measurement date. Current cost and
historical cost are both entry values (i.e. they reflect values in the market in which the entity
acquires the asset or incurs the liability)” (Conceptual framework, §6.18) [26].

SBecause fair value measurement incorporates market information into the financial statements is
the most relevant measure for financial instruments in the dominant market environment.
Nonetheless, fair value measurement can pose challenges such as the absence of active markets,
difficulties to determine fair value estimates in the absence of listed prices, and market illiquidity,
such as the one that emerged during the recent credit crunch. For an analysis of the relevance of
fair value accounting, see [27, 28].
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value measurements and related disclosures, IFRS 13 establishes a fair value
hierarchy that categorizes into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date. Level
2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs for the asset or liability (IFRS 13, §§72-90) [29].

Contrasting to fair value, value in use and fulfilment value are determined from
the entity perspective. They are defined as the present value of the cash flows that
an entity expects: (1) to derive from the continuing use of an asset and from its
ultimate disposal, in the case of the value in use; (2) to incur as it fulfils a liability,
in the case of the fulfilment value. Value in use and fulfilment value cannot be
directly observed on the market, so they are determined using cash-flow-based
measurement techniques (Conceptual framework, §§6.34-6.46) [26].

To select a measurement basis, the qualitative characteristics of useful financial
information should be taken into consideration. Therefore, for information provided
by a particular measurement basis to be useful, it must be relevant (e.g. what
information it will be produced about both financial position and financial perfor-
mance; how the asset or liability contributes to future cash flows; what are the
characteristics of the asset or liability; what is the level of measurement uncertainty)
and it must faithfully represent what it purports to represent (e.g. there should be a
consistent use of measures for related items). In addition, the information provided
should be comparable (that is, using the same measurement bases between periods
and between entities), verifiable (implies using measurement bases that result in
measures that can be independently corroborated), timely (this characteristic has no
implication in the chosen measurement base) and understandable (depend on the
number of different measurement bases used and on whether they change over
time). In addition, as with all other areas of financial reporting, the cost constraint
affects the selection of a measurement basis (Conceptual framework, §§6.53—6.63)
[26]. The accounting standards, analysed in the following section, should define the
appropriate measurement bases for each element of the financial statements.

2.2 Nature and Purpose of Accounting Standards

The users of financial statements, identified in Sect. 1.4, need to understand
financial information in the same way. Accordingly, financial accounting is based
on a set of rules and accounting standards. Accounting standards “include specific
principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices necessary to capture the data and
prepare the financial statements” [4, p. 15]. Originally, due to different political
economic, social and cultural backgrounds, each country, through its regulatory
bodies and/or professional accountancy bodies, has issued its own accounting
standards or financial reporting standards.
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However, since the middle of the twentieth century, the scenario of businesses
has become increasingly global. Therefore, financial reporting is taking place in an
international context that is characterized by impressive growth in international
trade and foreign direct investment; cross-border mergers and acquisitions; the rise
of multinational corporations; the widespread ownership of modern corporations;
changes in world politics; an unstable international monetary system; and global
international capital markets [30, 31]. Within this global scenario, “narrowly
national views of accounting and financial reporting can no longer be sustained”
[30, p. 5]

Pressures for common accounting standards—that is for accounting harmo-
nization—have come from users, preparers and regulators of financial statements.
But it was the globalization of the capital markets that brought to the forefront the
increasing need for more comparable and reliable financial information. The major
player promoting international accounting harmonization nowadays is the IASB,
whose origins go back to the formation of its predecessor, the International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) in 1973.

The TASB is the standard-setting body of the IFRS Foundation that aims to
“develop a single set of high-quality, understandable, enforceable and globally
accepted financial reporting standards based upon clearly articulated principles”
[32]. Since its initial standards’ characterized as insufficiently prescriptive, and that
often permitted the use of almost all the accounting treatments existing in the world,
to its current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the IASB has
come a long way. IFRS are, nowadays, followed by overseas registrants in most of
the world’s stock exchanges, supported by international organizations (e.g. EU,
G20, World Bank, IMF, IOSCO, Basel Committee), national accounting standard
setters, governments, developing and emerging countries. Today, almost 120
countries require or permit the use of IFRS by public companies [32]. IFRS are a
generally principles-based set of standards that covers all accounting and financial
reporting topics. IFRS prescribe (1) the items that should be recognized as assets,
liabilities, income and expense; (2) how to measure those items; (3) how to present
them in a set of financial statements; (4) and related disclosures about those items.
Table 2 presents the standards in force as on August 2015.

As stated, the IASB is an independent, private sector standards setter that has no
authority to mandate or supervise the adoption of IFRS. Countries need to establish
their own mechanisms for bringing IFRS formally into national law and for
ensuring consistent and rigorous application. For the increased legitimacy and
stature of the IASB worldwide, much has contributed the European Union’s
“Regulation No 1606/2002 on the application of International Accounting
Standards” (known as IAS Regulation) that requires European companies, listed on
a regulated market, to prepare consolidated accounts in accordance with the IASB

"IASB initial standards are called International Accounting Standards (IAS). IAS were issued by
the IASC, predecessor of the IASB till 2000.
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Table 2 IAS and IFRS as of 1 August 2015 (in brackets, the year of the original issue or major

amendment)
1AS IFRS
IAS 1—Presentation of Financial Statements | Preface

(2003)

IAS 2—Inventories (2003)

Framework (2010)

TIAS 7—Statement of Cash Flow (1992)

IFRS 1—First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards (2003)

IAS 8—Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors (2003)

IFRS 2—Share-based Payment (2004)

IAS 10—Events after the Reporting Period
(2003)

IFRS 3—Business Combinations (2004)

IAS 12—Income Taxes (1996)

IFRS 4—Insurance Contracts (2004)

IAS 16—Property, Plant and Equipment
(2003)

IFRS 5—Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations (2004)

IAS 17—Leases (2003)

IFRS 6—Exploration for and Evaluation of
Mineral Resources (2006)

IAS 19—Employee Benefits (2011)

IFRS 7—Financial Instruments: Disclosures
(2005)

IAS 20—Accounting for Government Grants
and Disclosure of Government Assistance
(2008)

IFRS 8—Operating Segments (2008)

IAS 21—The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates (2003)

IFRS 9—Financial Instruments (2014)

IAS 23—Borrowing Costs (2007)

IFRS 10—Consolidated Financial Statements
(2011)

IAS 24—Related Party Disclosure (2003)

IFRS 11—Joint Arrangements (2011)

IAS 26—Accounting and Reporting by
Retirement Benefit Plans (1987)

IFRS 12—Disclosure of Interest in Other
Entities (2011)

IAS 27—Separate Financial Statements
(2011)

IFRS 13—Fair Value Measurement (2011)

IAS 28—Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures (2011)

IFRS 14—Regulatory Deferral Accounts
(2014)

IAS 29—Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies (2008)

IFRS 15—Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (2014)

IAS 32—Financial Instruments: Presentation
(2003)

IAS 33—Earnings per Share (2003)

IAS 34—Interim Financial Reporting (1998)

IFRS for SMEs—The International Financial
Reporting Standard for Small- and
Medium-sized Entities (2009)

IAS 36—Impairment of Assets (2004)

IAS 37—Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets (1998)

IAS 38—Intangible Assets (2004)

IAS 40—Investment Property (2003)

IAS 41—Agriculture (2008)

Source http://www.ifrs.org/IFRSs/Pages/IFRS.aspx, accessed on 31 August 2015


http://www.ifrs.org/IFRSs/Pages/IFRS.aspx

Accounting as an Information System 141

standards, from 2005 onwards [33].8 The TAS Regulation gives member states the
option to require or permit IFRS as adopted by the EU in separate company
financial statements (statutory accounts) and/or in the financial statements of
companies whose securities do not trade on a regulated securities market. The
approval of this Regulation is responsible for a radical change in the financial
reporting and framework in most of the European countries and beyond.’

Despite the widespread global adoption of IFRS, international differences in
corporate financial reporting remain. IFRS accounts are still influenced by pre-IFRS
national accounting and reporting traditions. “This is partly because IFRS is used in
many countries only for consolidated statements, and partly because different
national versions of IFRS practice exist” [30, p. 19]."° A profile about the use of
IFRS in individual jurisdictions (the G20 jurisdictions plus 120 others) is available
at http://go.ifrs.org/global-standards. "'

2.3 Accounting Process and Financial Statements

Financial statements are the final output of the accounting process. The accounting
process consists in a structured multiset progressive classification and aggregation
process of elemental data [4]. This relies on the use of technical tools and requires
human intervention and interpretation. The accounting process includes four stages:
analysis of supporting documents; posting to accounts; control; and synthesis [4].

8In EU countries, IASB standards and interpretations are adopted in the form of Regulation and
published in the Official Journal of the European Union (in all the official languages of the UE).
Before becoming law in the EU, IFRS must go through due process of endorsement developed by
the European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG). The EU Regulations adopting IFRS
are available at: http://ec.europa.eu/finance/accounting/legal_framework/regulations_adopting_ias/
original_text_en.htm.

°In 2002, Australia and New Zealand also endorsed the adoption of IASB standards, starting from
2005 and 2007, respectively. That same year, the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB), the regulatory body of the USA, jointly issued a memorandum of understanding,
which formally stated their commitment to converge the standards from both organizations. In
2010, the two Boards started its policy of phasing in adoption of new major standards over several
years.

9The IFRS regime (“principle based”) allows for a degree of discretion that may led to incon-
sistent application of the standards across countries. Differences in the implementations of IFRS,
different translations of IFRS, the optional treatments allowed under IFRS (the existence of overt
option, and/or, covert options, vague criteria and interpretations in IFRS), the use of estimations in
IFRS, are among the factors that explain that differences of practice still exist within IFRS usage
[34, 35].

"Eighty-three per cent of the jurisdictions profiles (116 jurisdictions) require IFRS for all or most
domestic publicly accountable entities (listed companies and financial institutions). The remaining
24 jurisdictions that do not yet require IFRS for all or most domestic listed companies already
permit IFRS for at least some domestic listed companies.
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In the stage of analysis of supporting documents, the document materializes each
accounting transaction and is the basis for an entry in a journal. This accounting
tool provides a chronological list of all transactions and it depends on the computer
software.

Then the effects of the accounting events are transferred to (posted to) the
specialized ledgers and the general ledger where the components of the description
of the transaction are structured by nature and/or type of transaction. The posting to
accounts’ stage is a purely mechanical task.

The third stage of accounting process is control. Detailed individual accounts
entries are grouped together and replaced by the balance of the aggregated account,
and recapitulated in the trial balance. The aim is to check that the sum of all the
debit entries or balances is equal to the sum of all the credit entries or balances.

Finally, the synthesis of the accounting process is materialized in financial
statements, also called “accounts”. According to IAS 1, paragraph 36, “an entity
shall present a complete set of financial statements (including comparative infor-
mation) at least annually. (...) Normally, an entity consistently prepares financial
statements for a one-year period” [25]. Usually that date coincides with the end of
civil or fiscal year. As reported in Sect. 1.5, the balance sheet, the profit or loss
statement, the notes to financial statements, the statement of changes in equity and
the cash flows statement constitute a complete set of financial statements. The first
three documents are the minimum reporting required by a large majority of
countries.

Balance sheet

The balance sheet reports on a company’s financial position at a point in time.
Assets, liabilities and equity are the elements of the balance sheet, which shows the
accounting equation or balance sheet equation:

Assets Liabilities Equity

This equation keeps balanced due to the double entry accounting.

Assets are divided into two categories: current and non-current assets.
According to IAS 1, paragraph 66 [25], “an entity shall classify an asset as current
when: (a) it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal
operating cycle; (b) it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading; c) it
expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting period; or
(d) the asset is cash or cash equivalent (...) unless the asset is restricted from being
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period. An entity shall classify other assets as non-current”.

The main categories of current assets are inventories (e.g. merchandise, raw
materials, work-in-process and finished products), receivables (accounts receivable)
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and cash. Non-current assets are divided into tangible assets (e.g. property, plant
and equipment), intangible assets (e.g. trademarks, patents or software) and
financial assets (e.g. shares or bonds of another business, or the representation of
medium- or long-term credit extended to a third-party business).

As assets, liabilities are also divided into current and non-current liabilities.
According to IAS 1, paragraph 69 [25], “an entity shall classify a liability as current
when: (a) it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; (b) it holds
the liability primarily for the purpose of trading; c) the liability is due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period; or (d) it does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period (...). An entity shall classify other liabilities as
non-current”.

As stated before (Sect. 2.1), although equity is defined as a residual, it may be
sub-classified in the balance sheet into various types of capital and reserves, such as
shareholders’ capital, retained earnings, statutory reserves, tax reserves (Conceptual
framework, §4.45) [26]. In a simple way, equity increases through investments by
shareholders and positive net income (profit) from business operations, and
decreases through negative net income (loss) and dividends’ payment. So, the net
income of the current accounting period is a component of equity.

Profit or loss statement

The profit or loss statement reports on a company’s performance over a period of
time (between two balance sheet dates), presenting the income, expenses and the
difference between them. This difference (income less expenses) yields the
bottom-line net income amount. When income exceeds expenses, the entity got
positive net income (after tax) or profit during the accounting period; otherwise,
the entity got a negative net income or loss. At the end of the accounting, period net
income or loss amount is transferred to equity in the balance sheet.

Statement of changes in equity

The statement of changes in equity includes, for each component of equity, a
reconciliation between the carrying amount at the beginning and the end of the
period (IAS 1, §106) [25].

Statement of cash flows

A statement of cash flows summarizes information concerning the cash inflows
(receipts) and outflows (payments) for a specific period of time, providing “users of
financial statements with a basis to assess the ability of the entity to generate cash
and cash equivalents and the needs of the entity to utilise those cash flows” (IAS 1,
§111) [25].

Notes

In Notes, the entity explains and gives more details that complement the remaining
financial statements. Notes shall present information about the basis of preparation
of the financial statements and the specific accounting policies used, disclose the
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information required by accounting standards that is not presented elsewhere in the
financial statements, and provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the
financial statements, but is relevant to an understanding of any of them (IAS 1,
§112) [25]. Notes should be systematically presented, and each item in the state-

ments should be cross-referenced to the relevant note.

Links between financial statements

Financial statements reflect the economic activity of the company and are a means
to communicate the companys’ financial strength and the profitability of the
business. Financial statements provide a comprehensive and synthetic portrait of the
business and are able to satisfy the users’ different needs for information. Financial

statements are intricately linked, as shown in Fig. 2.
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Fig. 2 Links between financial statements. Source [4, p. 92] adapted
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3 Cost Accounting and Management Accounting

3.1 Fundamentals of Management Accounting

As mentioned before, financial accounting provides information for external users,
notwithstanding accountants also seek to produce the information necessary for
internal users to have a better understanding about how they can increase value to
the organization (entity).

The business performance is considerably better as more appropriate and
effective is the accounting information system, and the performance of accounting
information system will be better when its contribution to decision-making leads to
improved business performance [36]. Therefore, and different from financial
accounting, as described previously, management accounting, or cost accounting,
produces information that is designed for managers, and “because the managers are
making decisions only for their own organization, there is no need for the infor-
mation to be comparable to similar information in other organizations” [37, p. 6].

As Fig. 3 represents, the accounting processes, which aim to identify, measure
and communicate all relevant economic information for the assessment and assist
the decision-making, are the objects of the study of management accounting.
Therefore, the performance of management will increase when the management
accounting processes achieve the purposes of its existence. For this to happen,

Information

Transactional

inancial .
e Environment

Cultural

Political

Legislative

Technological

Fig. 3 Accounting information system. Source [36, p. 30] adapted
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management accounting must seek to adapt the models, tools and techniques so that
the information produced is appropriate and necessary for decision-makers.

Management accounting, also named internal accounting, aims to produce the
required information to help managers developing a better understanding of an
entity’s costs. This is the first step for managers to add value to the organization.
The information provided by management accounting is useful for all kinds of
organizations, whether for small or larger organizations, profit and non-for-profit
organizations, or even government agencies. However, the benefits from an
improved cost/management accounting system “come from better decision making.
If the benefits do not exceed the cost of implementing and maintaining the new
accounting system, managers will not implement it” [37, p. 9].

Since the goal of management accounting is to assist the decision-makers
(managers) in obtaining the maximization of the entity’s value, internal accounting
seeks to anticipate the impact of future decisions of decision-makers. In particular,
management accounting pays considerable attention to cost and the way income of
a specific period is obtained. However, accounting allows the establishment of three
types of performance results through different perspectives: (i) economic compe-
tence; (ii) financial competence and (iii) cash competence.

In this context, and as presented in Fig. 4, the performance result obtained by the
economic competence flow is obtained by subtracting costs to the income. On the
other hand, the performance result for the financial competence flow is obtained by
subtracting the expenses to the revenues. And yet, the performance result obtained
by the cash flow competence is obtained by subtracting payments to the receipts.

Although the definitions of accounting concepts have been provided earlier
based on the international accounting standards, in cost/management accounting it
is important to detail differently some concepts, as follows:

Income: Income is the benefit obtained by an intentional asset delivery of
activity from the organization and susceptible to monetary quantification (e.g. value
of goods produced and/or sold, delivery of a service, rent of a property, exploration
grant).

/ . : 25\
.-"/ Financial \ Economic
[ competence flow | competence flow
.\\ /
\\
T Cash flow
competence
[ Revenue ] o fncome
[ Expenses St
Receiving
Payment

Fig. 4 Competence flow
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Revenue: Revenue is the right to receive a monetary amount or equivalent (e.g.
sales invoice, attributed subsidies).

Receiving: Receiving is the effective input on cash or equivalent means (implies
a receipt or equivalent document).

Cost: A cost is an intentional sacrifice of resources. The cost is related to the
core of the business and susceptible to monetary quantification and generally
associated with the expectation to obtain a certain income (e.g. consumption of raw
materials, personnel costs, depreciation). A cost can be classified as direct or as
indirect.

Expenses: Expenses is the obligation (commitment) of payment (e.g. purchase
invoice of raw materials, payroll processing, statement of damages, fines, income
tax statement).

Payment: Payment is the effective delivery of cash or equivalent means (implies
a receipt or equivalent document).

The focus of cost accounting is on costs, not expenses or payments. It is not
important if we pay by cash or use another asset and whether we pay now or later.
Accordingly, the income statement within cost/management accounting is prepared
by adopting the economic competence flow, also named income statement by
function.

3.2 Cost of Goods Manufactured and Sold

Since the financial accounting has as main objective to prepare information for
outside partners, the information it produces is not sufficient for internal
decision-makers, such as for the valuation of inventories or for the determination of
costs by activity, by department or by sections. In this regard, within cost/man-
agement accounting, the costs are reclassified by their functions in the organization.

The components of manufactured products are the direct materials, the direct
labour cost and the manufacturing overhead costs, as presented in Fig. 5. The work
finished during the period is transported from the production section to the finished
goods storage to be sold. On the other hand, when the products are not finished, in a
specific period, its production cost is considered in the Work-in-Process inventory

Fig. 5 Components of

manufactured product cost )
Conversion Cost

1
_-~"} Prime Cost
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Fig. 6 Statement of the cost of goods manufactured and sold

account. Finally, the cost of goods manufactured and sold is determined as pre-
sented in Fig. 6.

3.3 Fundamentals of Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis

Cost Behaviour Patterns

Changes in volume have a significant impact on operating leverage of organiza-
tions. This sensitivity is greater when the cost structure has high fixed cost.
Therefore, it is very important that managers know the cost structure of its orga-
nization. They have to know very well the potentialities or dangers that changes in
the level of production/sales can induce in operating leverage [38].

In a general way, we can classify the costs as: (i) variable costs; (ii) fixed costs;
and (iii) semi-variable or semi-fixed costs. This classification attends to their sen-
sitivity to changes in the organization’s activity level. Thus, fixed costs are the ones
that do not change because of changes in the level of activity. In turn, the variable
costs are those that are sensitive to changes in the organization’s activity level, and
usually they can be progressive, proportional or regressive, as presented in Fig. 7.
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Fig. 7 Fixed and variable costs

The concept of coverage or contribution margin

The coverage or contribution margin (CM) is the excess of the value of sales after
subtracting the variable costs. This margin shows the net value of individual cov-
erage of each product. We can calculate the unit or total amount of the contribution
margin. Also, we can calculate the contribution margin ratio, which represents the
percentage of sales revenue net (without the variable costs).

The analysis of the contribution margin exposes how changes in the number of
units sold modify the operating income. This knowledge enables the manager to
decide which quantities or which goods will contribute to a better performance of the
organization. Besides, managers can understand more clearly the direct consequences
that a reduction/increase in the selling price will have in the reduction/increase in the
operating income. Thus, this analysis will allow managers to make better decisions
about the best mix of products and the best choice for the selling price.

Finding Breakeven point

The breakeven point tells us the value and quantity of sales resulting in a zero
operating income. In order to determinate the breakeven point, it is necessary to
check the following requirements: (i) it is possible to classify the costs as fixed or
variable; (ii) variable costs are proportional to the manufacturing; (iii) fixed costs
remain unchanged during the period of analysis; (iv) the unit selling price is fixed;
(v) the change in manufacturing does not exist or is insignificant; (vi) the sales
value is the only income; and (vii) the cost can be translated by a linear regression.

Cost—volume—profit analysis is demonstrated in Fig. 8. We can observe the
behaviour of sales, variable costs and fixed costs when changing the quantities sold.
The breakeven point occurs when the line of total costs crosses the line of sales.
Otherwise, the breakeven point occurs when the contribution margin is enough to
cover the fixed costs.

We can also determine the value and quantity of the equilibrium point using the
formulas presented in Fig. 9. Moreover, it is also interesting to calculate and to
analyse the margin of safety, because this margin represents the excess of actual
(or projected) sales over the breakeven point.
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Fig. 8 Cost—volume—profit analysis

4 Review

4.1 Learning Outcomes

At the end of this chapter, you should be able to:

Identify the purpose of accounting.

Distinguish between single entry bookkeeping and double entry bookkeeping.

Describe the origins of double entry bookkeeping.

Describe the primary groups of users at which general-purpose financial

statements are aimed.

Identify the qualitative qualities that make financial information useful.

6. Define the basic elements of financial statements—assets, liabilities, equity,
income and expenses.

7. Define the criteria recognition of the financial statement elements and identify
the historical cost and the current value bases as the different measurement
bases of the financial statements.

8. Understand the accrual basis and going concern assumptions which underlie the
preparation of financial statements.

9. Identify IFRS as the accounting and reporting standards followed in a world-

wide basis.

el s

b
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Fig. 9 Formulas for cost-volume—profit analysis

Identify and describe the components of a complete set of financial statements.
Understand the links between the financial statements.

Distinguish between financial accounting and management accounting.
Identify the usefulness and users of cost/management accounting information.

10.

11.
12.

S Multiple-Choice Questions

1. The objective of financial reporting places most emphasis on:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)

reporting to capital providers.

reporting to tax authorities.

providing specific guidance related to specific needs.

providing information to individuals who are experts in the field.
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2. General-purpose financial statements are prepared primarily for:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

internal users.

external users.

tax authorities.
auditors.

government regulators.

3. Net income will result during a time period when:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d

assets exceed liabilities.
assets exceed revenues.
expenses exceed income.
income exceed expenses.

4. Identify the qualitative characteristic(s) that relate(s) to the following sentences:

(a)
(b)
(©)
(d
(e)
®

(@

Two fundamental qualities that make accounting information useful for
decision-making purposes.

Qualitative characteristic being displayed when companies in the same
industry are using the same accounting principles.

Ignores the economic consequences of a standard or rule.

Imperative for providing comparisons of a company from period to period.
Predictive value is an ingredient of this fundamental quality of information.
Requires a high degree of consensus among individuals on a given
measurement.

Neutrality is a key ingredient of this fundamental quality of accounting
information.

5. Identify if the following sentences are true or false. Justify.

(a)
(b)
(©
(d)
(e)
®
(@
(h)

(@)

The steps in the accounting process are identification, recording, control and
communication.

The cost principle dictates that companies record assets at their cost and
maintain that until its derecognition.

Fair value measurement must be used if fair value is higher than its cost.
The balance sheet is prepared as of a specific date.

Expenses are recognized when incurred, rather than when paid.

Revenues are recognized when cash is received.

Current assets are the ones’ that a company expects to convert to cash or use
up within one year or the operating cycle, whichever is longer.

The statement of financial position is the primary source for evaluating a
company’s performance.

When a company earns incomes, equity increases.
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6. Double entry bookkeeping emerged:

(a) In the twentieth century.

(b) To meet the needs with the growing business requirements around the
fourteenth century.

(c) As an invention made by Fra Luca Pacioli.

(d) But was abandoned for its complexity.

7. Accounting has a long history because:

(a) Its origins are placed in the nineteenth century with the industrial revolution.

(b) Its origins are placed in the Middle Age.

(c) Its origins are placed in ancient civilizations, dating back to about 4000-
3000 B.C.

(d) Its origins are commented with the printing press.
8. Identify if the following sentences are true or false. Justify.

(a) Financial accounting information provides information to users
(decision-makers) who are involved in the operations and strategy of the
firm. These users are often internal to the firm.

(b) Although cost accounting information is often used in the financial
accounting system, its primary role is to aid managers inside the firm in
making operational and strategic decisions.

9. Identify if the following sentences are true or false. Justify.

(a) A cost is something used up to produce revenues in a particular accounting
period.

(b) Variable costs are those that are not sensitive to changes in the organiza-
tion’s activity level.

10. Identify if the following sentences are true or false. Justify.

(a) The breakeven point tells us the value and quantity of sales resulting in a
zero operating income, information with considerable relevance to
decision-makers.

(b) The requirements to calculate the breakeven point are so simplistic that from
its determination it is not possible to make any analysis.

Multiple-Choice Answers

a;

b;

d;

4a. Relevance and faithful representation;
4b. Comparability;

w =
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4c.
4d.
de.
4f.
4g.
Sa.
5b.
5c.
5d.
Se.
5f.
5g.
5h.
5i.
6.
7.
8a.
8b.
9a.
9b.
10a.

A.A. Caria et al.

Neutrality;
Comparability;
Relevance;
Verifiability;
Faithful representation;
True;

False;

False;

True;

True;

False;

True;

False;

True;

b;

c;

False;

True;

True;

False;

True;

10b. False.

Re

10.

11.
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Introduction to Corporate Finance

Leoni Eleni Oikonomikou

Abstract This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of the main topics
discussed in a first-year MBA class on corporate finance. One more motivation is
not only to summarize them but also to provide some hands-on tools that can be
applied in practice in relevant to corporate finance positions. Section 1 introduces
the reader to the corporate finance field, the organizational structure of the firm, the
conflicts between stakeholders, the financial management decisions as well as the
financial markets. Section 2 refers to the utility of financial statements and provides
the way to extract the necessary information from them. Later on, we discuss about
the cost of capital and its fundamental importance in the capital structure of the
firm. Finally, we present some tools for capital budgeting decisions and project
valuation such as net present value, internal rate of return, and discounted payback
period. Attention is also paid to the dividend policy of the firm and its consequences
to the firm’s earnings. The chapter concludes by presenting some of the most
important techniques in equity and business valuation such as free cash flow and
discounted cash flow analyses.

1 Introduction

Corporate finance is a specialization in finance that deals with the sources of
funding, the capital structure of a corporation/entity, the actions that managers take
to increase the shareholder value of the firm, as well as the tools and analysis used
to allocate financial resources (Wikipedia).

In academic terms, the principal goal of a Corporation is to maximize share-
holder value. It is also referred as value maximization or Net Present Worth
maximization. This goal concerns the amount and share of national income which is
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paid to the owners of the firm. Therefore, managers should take the appropriate
decisions that maximize the shareholder wealth or generate a Net Present Value
(NPV).

Shareholder value is a situation where the value created by the use of resources
is more than the total of input resources. Moreover, the profit maximization goal
orients the investment, financing, and dividend decisions of the firm toward that.
However, profit maximization is a vague and ambiguous concept. It ignores the
differences in terms of the timing of benefits acquired from investment proposals.
And it also ignores the quality of benefits associated with an investment proposal.

There are two approaches in corporate finance: the fraditional and the modern
one. The Traditional approach defines corporate finance as the management of
financial resources of a corporation/business entity. Alternatively, it is also referred
as collection of funds approach since it limits the finance functions only to the
procurement funds and ignores the use of the other types of funds.

Corporate finance, within its Modern Approach, does not only deal with
financing decisions, but also with investment and current management decisions. It
is considered as an understandable and internationally accepted approach with the
procurement of funds and its efficient usage.

Therefore, corporate finance is about planning, raising, investing, and moni-
toring the finance in a corporation.

1.1 Organizational Structure of the Firm

Corporate finance applies to all types of businesses. The financial management of a
corporation/entity differs according to its type: Sole Proprietorship, Limited
Liability Company, Partnership, Trust, Corporation, Small and Medium (SME) [7].

The decisions are taken by the owners in SMEs and by professional managers in
large companies. Therefore, the authority/responsibility in running the financial
management of a corporation/entity belongs to the chief financial officer (CFO). The
CFO or financial manager is the buyer of capital (via the traditional corporate
finance approach). He/She negotiates with various investors (bankers, shareholders,
bond investors) in order to obtain the necessary funds to run the business at the
lowest attainable cost. These transactions usually take place in the capital markets.

The financial manager also establishes the appropriate relationship among
people involved in finance functions within the organization, assures division of
work, and prevents confusions on roles and responsibilities of employees, dupli-
cation, and overlapping of activities. The treasurer follows in hierarchy and
oversees financial planning, capital expenditures, cash management, and credit
management within a firm. Finally, the Controller monitors financial, cost
accounting, and taxation.

Figure 1 is taken by the Webpage www.slideshare.net and shows a business
organ gram. Its practical usage is well acknowledged within practitioners as a way
to avoid role confusions.


http://www.slideshare.net

Introduction to Corporate Finance 159

[ ﬁ Stockholders]

OWNERS
18 Board
\ i of
- Directors

Chief Executive Officer]

CEO MANAGERS

Chief Financial Officer G Chief Marketing Officer ' ChiEf;?cﬁel:ction

[\ o —— i i\ cPO
—[ Credit Manager ]
Q ] —{ Inventory Manager ]

/ Treasurer
L—— J —{ Director of Capital Budgeting ]
—[ Cash and Liquidity Manager ]
—{ Cost Accounting Manager ]

_[ . Controller _-[ Financial Accounting Manager ]
I

—{ Tax Department Manager ]

Fig. 1 Organ gram of a business entity (in this chapter, the focus is on the left side that represents
the financial management of the firm and its managers)

=

The financial management division within a corporation accounts for the fol-
lowing functions:

I. planning and budgeting,

II. allocating resources,
III. operating, monitoring and safeguarding, and
IV. evaluating and reporting.

From a practitioner’s point of view, the possible goals of Financial Management
are various. First of all, it includes the survival of the firm and the fight against the
competition. It also targets on the maximization of sales, net income, market share,
and the value of investment shares while it also aims at minimizing costs.

From an academic point of view, the goal of financial management is to max-
imize the fundamental or economic value of investment shares. This goal stems
from the fact that shareholders own shares and the principal goal of the firm is to
maximize shareholder value. Manager’s goal is to act in such a way as to
accomplish this principal goal, as well. However, the limitation comes from the fact
that this value is not directly observable.

Some academics consider that the principal goal of a corporation should be stock
price maximization (as previously mentioned) rather than wealth maximization.
Therefore, these two are deemed as equivalent.
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1.2 Agency Problem

The principal (shareholders)—agent (manager) problem, agency theory, or agency
dilemma—was first introduced by Jensen and Meckling, in 1976. According to
Wikipedia, “it occurs when one person or entity (agent) is able to make decisions
on behalf of, or that impact, another person or entity (principal). The dilemma
exists because the agent is sometimes motivated to act in his/her own best interests
rather than those of the principal.” [19]

In lots of firms, shareholders let the management of the firm to foreign control
(managers/directors). However, based on this theory, this leads to a risk:

¢ in determining managerial accountability when letting managers run the firm.

e Another risk that exists is that shareholders are at information disadvantage as
compared to managers.

e [t is also very difficult to evaluate how well a manager has performed since he
possesses information advantage over the shareholders.

e Finally, it takes significant amount of time to monitor the results of the decisions
managers made.

1.3 Conflicts Between Company Stakeholders

As previously mentioned, in theory, managers should work, in the best interest of
the shareholders. Unfortunately, this does not always happen in practice, since
managers may maximize their own wealth (in the form of high salaries) at the cost
of shareholders, buy other companies to expand their power, venturing onto fraud,
manipulate financial figures to comment on bonuses and stock price-related options.

There are various solutions in order to resolve the conflicts between the share-
holders and the managers:

First, comes the increase of managerial compensation.
Second, shareholders may intervene directly on to the matter.
Third, there is a threat of firing.

Fourth, there is a threat of hostile takeovers [4].

These conflicts do exist between shareholders and creditors as well.
Shareholders via managers make decisions by ignoring the interest of creditors.
Therefore, a manager may decide to invest in a risky project. If this project suc-
ceeds, all benefits go to its shareholders and creditors will only receive the already
fixed low rate of return. On the contrary, if this project fails, creditors have to share
the losses with all the other parties.

In order to resolve these conflicts between shareholders and creditors, creditors
may request an additional compensation for the increased risk they are bearing or
they may request protective terms and conditions into the contract they are signing
with shareholders.
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1.4 Financial Management Decisions

The three types of financial management decisions that corporate finance seeks to
answer are the following:

Capital budgeting,
Capital structure, and
o Working capital management.

Within the Capital budgeting decisions, the firm seeks to answer:
e What long-term investments or projects should a firm take on?

Capital budgeting is a process of planning and managing the long-term
investments of a firm [3]. In such type of decisions, a financial manager identifies
potential investment opportunities that are profitable for the firm. For instance, a
technology firm that decides on whether or not to open a new branch is a capital
budgeting decision. Some of the main issues that capital budgeting deals with are
the size of cash inflows and outflows of such a potential project, timing of cash
flows and riskiness of them.

According to the capital structure decisions:

e How should a firm pay for its assets?
e s it better to use debt or equity?

Capital structure refers to the combination of debt and equity a company uses to
finance its long-term operations and growth. The proportions of short- and
long-term debt are taken into account in the capital structure analysis of an entity
[14]. The most insightful financial ratio in this case is the entity’s debt-to-equity
ratio that provides information about the level of riskiness of this corporation. It is
common that an entity heavily financed by debt is perceived as riskier, due to its
high leverage levels [15]. However, at the same time, this entity might enjoy
significant tax benefits [1].

Finally, based on the working capital management decisions:

e How would the firm manage its everyday financial activities?

Working capital management refers to the firm’s short-term assets including
inventory and liabilities. It is a day-to-day operation. It involves planning and
managing the firm’s current assets and liabilities.

Some examples of working capital management include:

How should the firm sell to on credit?
How much inventory should it carry?
e When should it pay its suppliers?

Indeed, financial managers seek to answer some or all of the following ques-
tions: How should firms allocate scarce resources to minimize expenses and
maximize revenues? How should they finance their activities—via stocks or bonds,
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equity (owner capital), or debt (bank loan)? How should a firm use its profits? How
much of it should it be reinvested into the company, and how much should it pay
out to its shareholders?

1.5 Financial Markets

Financial Markets refer to an exchange where firms refinance their activities.

Cash enters the firm via the sale of debt or equity. This money is used to
purchase assets. These assets generate cash that is used to pay stakeholders, reinvest
in additional assets, repay debtholders, and pay dividends to stockholders/
equityholders [23].

Three main types of exchange markets exist: primary market, secondary market,
and over-the-counter market.

Primary market is where a newly issued security is first offered. Companies,
governments, and other groups obtain financing through debt- or equity-based
securities.

A Secondary Market is the stock market where investors purchase securities or
assets from other investors, rather than from issuing companies themselves.

According to NASDAQ, an Over-the-counter market is a decentralized market
where geographically dispersed dealers are linked by telephones and computers.
The market trades securities not listed on a stock or derivatives exchange.

Firms issue stocks and bonds:

A stock/equity is a type of security that demonstrates ownership in a corporation
and represents a claim on part of the corporation assets and earnings. Stocks are
categorized as common and preferred stocks.

Common stock/equity gives the owner the right to vote at shareholders’ meetings
and receive dividends. Preferred stock/equity has no voting rights but a higher
claim on assets and earnings than common shares. Holders of preferred stock/equity
receive dividends before common stockholders and have priority in case of com-
pany’s default and liquidation.

A bond is a debt instrument issued by governments, corporations, and other
entities in order to finance projects or activities. Bonds are commonly referred to as
fixed-income securities. Many corporate and government bonds are publicly traded
on exchange markets, while others are traded only over-the-counter (OTC) [12].

1.5.1 Financial Market Efficiency

One of the most well-known topics in Financial Market Theory is the Efficient
market hypothesis (EMH). This theory was developed by Eugene Fama in 1970s. It
stands as of crucial importance for stock market investors who are usually won-
dering whether the market is efficient, i.e., whether it reflects all the information
made available to market participants at any given point in time. Based on the
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EMH, all stocks are perfectly priced according to their inherent investment prop-
erties, the knowledge of which all market participants possess equally. However, as
every theory, EMH has also its deficiencies which are enumerated below.

e Firstly, EMH assumes that all investors perceive all available information in
almost the same way. One main reason for that may be the numerous methods
used to analyze and value stocks and the problems they impose on the validity
of the EMH.

e Secondly, under the EMH, no single investor is able to attain greater profitability
than another with the same amount of investments. This equal possession of
information is interpreted as that investors can only achieve identical returns.

e Thirdly, under EMH, no investor should ever be able to beat the market.

All the above imply that markets are not truly efficient. For greater efficiency to
occur, the following prerequisites must be met:

universal access to high-speed and advanced systems of pricing analysis,
universally accepted analysis system of pricing stocks,

absolute absence of human emotion in investment decision making,

investors’ willingness to accept that their returns or losses will be exactly
identical to all other market participants.

1.5.2 Fundamental Concepts of Risk and Return

— Arithmetic mean return

Arithmetic mean return (AM) is usually referred to as a simple average or mean and
is calculated as such

"R
AM:L’;} ' (1)

where
R; simple return in period t and
T the number of returns.

— Geometric mean return

Geometric mean return (GM) is referred to as the compound annual growth rate or
time-weighted rate of return, as well. It is the average rate of return on a given set of
values calculated using the products of the terms. Its difference from the previous
AM is that GM takes into account the effects of compounding, whereas AM fails to
do that. In addition, AM is always higher than GM in value. It is given by the
following formula:



164 L.E. Oikonomikou
GM=JJ(1+R) 1 (2)

— Standard deviation

Standard deviation (SD) is considered as a measure of total risk. It measures the
dispersion of a set of returns from its mean.

The part of the risk in a portfolio that is diversified is called non-systematic risk
or idiosyncratic risk and consists of all those company-specific and
industry-specific factors that affect the stock price of companies. The risk in a
portfolio that cannot be diversified consists of changes in interest rates, macroe-
conomic factors, and political events. The standard deviation can be calculated by
the following formula:

ST (R AMY]
- T

SD

where

R; return in period T

AM arithmetric mean return of the asset over the period considered
T number of returns during that period

— Beta

Beta is referred to systematic or market risk and is measured by a stock’s beta (p). It
is considered as a relevant measure of asset’s risk only when you hold the asset
within a widely diversified portfolio. In that case, the asset’s beta is the contribution
of the asset to the volatility of the whole portfolio.

Beta is also interpreted as the reaction of stock to fluctuations in the market. It is
the average return of the stock given a 1 % fluctuation in the market. Therefore, beta
of 1 indicates average risk or return fluctuations similar to those of the market; a
beta higher than 1 indicates higher risk (larger fluctuations) than the market and
beta lower than 1 indicates lower risk (smaller return fluctuations) than the market.

In addition, based on financial market professionals, corporations’ betas are
usually calculated every 5 years.

— Diversification

The concept of diversification was first introduced by Markowitz, while developing
his capital asset pricing model and is about combining multiple assets in a port-
folio. This diversification strategy aims to protect the investor via mitigating cor-
porate risks such as company-specific or industry-specific risks. In general, it aims
to reduce non-systematic or diversifiable risk.
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— Correlation coefficient

The correlation coefficient is the magnitude that measures the sign and strength
between two variables. When these two variables tend to move together, the cor-
relation coefficient is positive; otherwise, it is negative. The correlation coefficient
can take any value between —1 and 1 [10, 11].

2 Analysis of Financial Statements

Financial statements refer to a collection of reports regarding the entity’s financial
results, financial condition, and cash flows (CFs). They provide information to
owners and creditors about the firm’s financial performance. They can further be
used by owners and creditors to set performance targets, impose restrictions on the
managers of the firm, and set up a convenient template for financial planning.

e They determine the ability of a corporation to generate cash as well as the
sources and uses of that cash.

e They also determine whether the company has the capacity to pay back its debts.

e They track financial results on a trend line to spot any looming profitability
issues.

e Moreover, it is possible to derive financial ratios from the statements in order to
determine the business condition and current performance.

e Finally, they investigate the details of certain business transactions, as outlined
in the disclosures that accompany the statements.

The main contents of a set of financial statements are the following:

e Balance sheet shows the entity’s assets, liabilities, and stockholder’s equity as
of the issue date.

e Income statement shows the results of the entity’s operations and financial
activities for the reporting period. It includes revenues, expenses, gains, and
losses.

e Statement of cash flows shows changes in the entity’s cash flows during the
reporting period.

e Supplementary notes include explanations of various activities, additional detail
on some accounts and items as mandated by the applicable accounting frame-
work such as GAAP or IFRS.

At the most minimal level, a business is expected to issue a balance sheet and an
income statement to document its monthly results and ending financial conditions.
The full set of financial statements is expected when a business is reporting the
results for a full fiscal year, or when a publicly held business is reporting the results
of its fiscal quarters.
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2.1 Balance Sheet

Balance sheet is considered as an “inventory” of what the firm owns (assets) and
how those assets are financed (liabilities and shareholder’s/owner’s equity).
Therefore, the following equation needs to be fulfilled:

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholder's Equity 4)

Assets are resources controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

Liabilities concern the list of sources where the assets came from as well as the
monetary amounts of the sources from which the entity obtained its present stock of
resources.

Equity, in the accounting context, means the owner’s stake in the entity.

2.2 Income Statement

The Income statement is also known as profit and loss statement. It summarizes the
entity’s profitability over a given period of time. It records sales, expenses, taxes,
and net income.

Revenue — Expenses = Income (5)

The expenses are categorized as such:

e Operating expenses provide benefits only for the current period (cost of labor
and materials, depreciation based on historical cost, R&D);
Financing expenses arise from non-equity financing (interest expenses);
Capital expenses generate benefits over multiple periods written off as depre-
ciation (buying land and buildings).

The fotal operating revenues subtract from the sold cost of goods, selling,
general, and administrative expenses, and depreciation. The operating income adds
to the other income. The EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) subtracts interest
expense. The taxable income includes current and deferred taxes.

Retained earnings are not added to the cash balance in the balance sheet but are
added to shareholder’s equity. Therefore, net income is calculated by

Net Income = Retained Earnings + Dividends (6)

However, inflation distorts the measuring of income and the valuation of assets.
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2.3 Cash Flow Statement

The Cash flow statement reports how much cash is generated during a period and
indicates where the cash comes from as well as what the firm does with that cash.
Unlike the balance sheet and income statement, cash flow statements are inde-
pendent of accounting rules as the latter have a second-order effect in cash flows via
taxes.

2.4 Financial Ratios

Financial ratios help us extract the necessary information from an entity’s set of
financial statements. There are also various other methods in order to analyze
financial statements such as trend analysis or cross-sectional analysis.

— Profitability ratios

EBIT(1 — tax)

Return on Assets (ROA) = Total Asset
otal Assets

. Net Income
Return on Equity(ROE) = Book Value (Equity) (8)

R — Cost of Goods Sold
Gross Profit Margin = evenue 05t 07 D0008 50

Revenue
Operating Profit Margin = ];fllej; (10)
Net Profit Margin = % (11)
— Activity ratios measure the efficiency of working capital management:
Accounts Receivable turnover = Sales (12)

Average Accounts Receivable

Cost of Goods Sold
Inventor Turnover = (13)
Average Inventory

Sal
Total Asset Turnover = _ D¥es (14)
Total Assets
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— Liquidity measures how fast and/or easy it is to generate cash from an asset.
Liquidity ratios measure short-term liquidity:

Current Assets
Current ratio = — 15
Current Liabilities (15)

cash + short-term investment + receivables

uick ratio = —
Q current liabilities

h ivabl
Cash ratio = cas +r€?GIY?, e (17)
current liabilities

— Financial Leverage ratios

Debt

Debt-to-Capital ratio = ——— 18

ebt-to-Capital ratio Debt 1 Equity (18)
Debt

Debt-to-Equity ratio = e, (19)
Equity

The debt-to-equity ratio can be based on either book value (BV) or market value
(MV). Similar condition holds for long-term debt ratios.

— Market value ratios

The price-to-earnings ratio expresses the stock market price (PS) to earnings per
share (EPS):

Price-to-Earni ti _PS (20)
rice-to-carnings ratio = EPS

The Dividend Yield expresses the latest dividend (D) to current stock price (PS):

Dividend Yield = % (21)
Market-to-Book Value = % (22)
Market-to-Book Equity = N]I:sl;lit;iigy ((Bl\g:) (23)
Tobin's ¢ = MV (24)

Replacement Value
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— Links between the ratios

ROA = Profit Margin * Asset Turnover (25)

This ratio holds for both net and gross ROA and profit margin. An increasing ROA
can be interpreted as a trade-off between profit margin and asset turnover.

ROE = ROA x Equity Multiplier (26)
where

Asset
Equity Multiplier = S5eT

27
Equity (27)

A high financial leverage in an entity magnifies ROE when (gross) ROA excesses
the interest on debt.

— Non-financial measures of operating effectiveness
Non-financial measures can account for the following:

innovation,

customer service,
product quality,
reputation, and

good employee relations.

3 Time Value of Money

The time value of money provides an introduction to the tools of valuation of cash
flows of a project of a firm or the firm by itself. Time value of money (TVM)
principle applies when the value of a given amount of money to be received on a
specific date is more than the same amount of money to be received on a later date.
In simple terms, it means that cash in the future is worth less than cash today. One
reason is that money can be reinvested and generate even more money. Another
reason is the inflation which is the rise in the general level in prices and results in a
deterioration of our purchasing power [6].

The concepts of discounting and compounding cash flows are largely used in
corporate finance. Discounting cash flows moves corporation’s cash flows back in
time while compounding moves them forward in time.

Concepts such as present value and future value of a single sum of money;
present value and future value of an annuity; and present value of a perpetuity are
largely used in investment valuation as well.
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Present value refers to the current value of a future payment or even a series of
payments that are discounted at a given interest rate up to today, in order to reflect
the TVM. It is calculated based on the following formula:

FV

Present Value of a single sum of Money: PV = ———
(1+R)

(28)

where

FV Future value of a single sum of money

R rate of return offered in the capital markets, alternatively referred as discount
rate

T  number of compounding periods

The future value reflects the value of money or cash at a prespecified future date
that is also equivalent to the value of sum today. It is calculated based on the
following formula:

Future Value of a single sum of Money: FV =PV x (14+R)" (29)

An annuity is a series of evenly spaced equal payments made for a certain
amount of time. The present value of an annuity can be calculated if we discount
each periodic payment separately to the starting point and then add up all the
discounted parts.

. PMT 1
Present Value of an Annuity: PV nyiy = * |1 — (

} « (1+iT) (30)

i 1+i0)"
where
PMT fixed periodic payment, alternatively referred to as cash flow
i interest rate per compounding interval n
n=m *t total number of compounding intervals
t time or number of periods

The future value of an annuity is equal to the sum of face value of periodic
annuity payments and the total compound interest earned on all periodic payments
till the future value point. It is calculated by the following formula:

PMT
Future Value of an Annuity: FVyniy = ——* [(1+0)"—1](1+iT)  (31)
1

where
i interest rate per compounding interval n
n=m * t total number of compounding intervals
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PMT fixed periodic payment
t time or number of periods

The present value of a growing annuity with constant rate g (g # i) is used to
calculate the present value of a series of cash flows, or payments that grow at a
constant growth rate g. It is calculated by

PMT (1+g)" .

PVga i—2) {1 (i +g)n:| (1+1iT) (32)
where
PMT fixed periodic payment
i rate per period
g growth rate
n number of compounding intervals
t time unit

The future value of a growing annuity with constant rate g (g # i) is calculated
by

PMT

FVoa = (i—g)

(140" = (1+g)"](1+iT) (33)

where

PMT fixed periodic payment

i rate per period

g growth rate

n number of compounding intervals
t time unit

A perpetuity refers to an infinite and constant stream of identical cash flows. The
present value of perpetuity is the sum of the discounted value of each periodic
payment of the perpetuity. Present value of perpetuity is finite because the dis-
counted value of far future payments of the perpetuity reduces considerably and
reaches close to zero. Therefore, it is calculated by the following formula:

A
Present Value of a Perpetuity: PV perperwity = R (34)

where
A fixed periodic payment
R interest rate or discount rate per compounding period
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A growing perpetuity is a series of periodic payments that grow at a constant
(proportionate) rate g and are received for an infinite amount of time. The present
value of a growing perpetuity is the cash flow after the first period divided by the
difference between the discount rate and the growth rate:

CF,,| = (1+g) = CF, (35)

D,
(R—g)

PVgp, = (36)

where

CF cash flow,

D; dividend or coupon at period 1,
R  discount rate,

g  growth rate.

The formula (36) can be used to calculate the present value of a growing
perpetuity (GP) in commercial real estate. The rental cash flows can be considered
as indefinite and will grow over time. In addition, it is noteworthy to mention that
the discount rate R must be higher than the growth rate g when using this formula.

In theory, if the growth rate is higher than the discount rate, the growing per-
petuity would have an infinite value.

Inflation has an impact on our consumption and not on our amount of money.
Alternatively referring to, it has an impact on our purchasing power and our
decision making.

Real return (RR) is calculated based on the following formula:

1+R _

Real Return: 1+RR = 1 R—n (37)

+7

where
R nominal return
7t rate of inflation

Annual percentage rate (APR) measures the amount of simple interest earned in
a year. It is not considered as a discount rate but is used in order to get a discount
rate (such as the effective annual rate (EAR)).

Annual percentage yield is equal to effective annual rate. The latter measures the
actual amount of interest earned or paid in a year. It is considered as a discount rate
and is what matters for computing interest and discounting cash flows.

The relation between APR and EAR is represented by the following formula:

APR\"
EAR(1+——J —1=(1+PIR)" — 1 (38)
m
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where
m  number of compounding periods per year
PIR Periodic interest rate (PIR) or periodic discount rate (PDR)

APR
PIR = —— (39)
m

3.1 Cost of Capital

The cost of capital is fundamentally important in both the investment decision
making from entity’s management as well as the entity’s investment valuation by
investors. More precisely, if an entity decides to invest on projects with long-term
benefits (potential projects generate return in excess of the cost of capital), then the
entity has created value; in the opposite direction, the entity has destroyed value.

The cost of raising capital for a corporation is usually calculated based on its
cost of debt, its cost of equity, and some other ways of investment financing, such as
preferred stock and convertible bond, if applicable.

The cost of capital is defined as the required rate of return that bondholders and
owners require as compensation for their capital investment in the company as well
as for the average-risk investment of a company. The most common measure to use
is the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) [8].

The weights within the WACC calculation are the proportions of the various
sources of capital that the entity uses to support its investment operations. WACC is
calculated as the weighted average of the after-tax marginal costs of each source of
capital, as in the following equation:

WACC = wqy * rg(1 — 1) +wp % 1y +Wwe % 7 (40)

where

wgq proportion of debt (used by entity to raise new capital)
rq before-tax marginal cost of debt

t  entity’s marginal tax rate

wp proportion of preferred stock

rp, marginal cost of preferred stock

W, proportion of equity

r. marginal cost of equity

WACC is extremely useful and is widely used by financial analysts in business
valuation. The different components of WACC are calculated via different methods.

The before-tax cost of debt is estimated based on the yield to maturity or the
bond rating. The yield to maturity method is based on the bond valuation equation.
It is calculated based on:
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_CF CF CF+A _ (¢ CF FV
ORISR (0 (;(1+Y)’>+(1+y)" o

where

CF coupon of a bond (fixed payment amount for a prespecified period of time)
A principal or face value

y  Yield or Mean Annual Return

It is also important to mention that interest payments are generally
tax-deductible, and the after-tax cost of debt is the true, effective cost of debt to the
entity.

The cost of preferred stock is the preferred stock dividend divided by the current
preferred stock price:

(42)

IS

where
D, preferred stock dividend
P, current preferred stock price

The cost of equity is the rate of return required by the entity’s stockholders/
equity holders. This cost is mainly estimated via the CAPM (usually used by large
publicly traded corporations) and in some other cases via the dividend discount
model. Other methods that are used are the following: arithmetic average, historical
return, multibeta CAPM, investor expectations, and regulator decisions.

The capital asset pricing model formula that is used to estimate the cost of equity
is the following:

E(ri) = ry + BilE(rm) — 1] (43)

where

E(r;) expected cost or equity (common stock)
Iy risk-free rate

r,  Market/equity risk premium

Bi beta

In cases where country and exchange rate risks are not diversified, we can adjust
our measure of systematic risk by a country equity premium to reflect this no
diversifiable risk. In order to calculate the country equity premium, we use the
following formula:
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Country Equity Premium = Country Default Spread * _ Ceauity (44)

Osovereign bond

where

Gequity annualized standard deviation of equity index

Gsovereign annualized standard deviation of the sovereign bond market in terms
bond of the developed market currency

The dividend discount model approach is used alternatively to CAPM as a way
to calculate the cost of equity via the following formula:

Fe=—+¢g (45)

where

Py, current market value of the financial market index
D; next period’s expected dividends on the index

r. required rate of return on the market

g expected growth rate of dividends

We can also estimate the sustainable growth rate in the dividend discount model
by

D
=1+ == ) *ROE 4
( + EPS) * RO (46)
where
g growth rate of dividends
D dividend

EPS Earnings per share
ROE return on equity

Alternatively, we can estimate the growth rate by using published forecasts of
financial analysts.

Other approaches in estimating the cost of equity comprise the bond yield plus
risk premium approach. This approach is based on financial theory that the cost of
capital of riskier cash flows is higher than that of less risky cash flows.

Therefore, we sum the before-tax cost of debt and add a risk premium that
compensates for the additional risk of equity as opposed the one of debt. The
formula to be estimated is the following:

re = rq + Risk premium (47)
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where
r. return on equity
rq return on debt

The risk premium within the framework of bond yield plus risk premium ap-
proach is defined as the difference between the cost of equity and the entity’s cost
of debt. It is a forward-looking measure that reflects the additional risk associated
with the shares of the entity as opposed to the bonds of the entity. We usually
estimate this premium using historical spreads between bond yields and stock
yields.

Under the developed country markets context, a usual risk premium added is
within the range of 3-5 %.

Please take into account that these three different approaches of estimating the
cost of equity might yield different results. These disparities are not unusual and
reflect the difficulty of this estimation.

4 Capital Budgeting

Capital budgeting is the process of making decisions about long-term projects the
entity should accept for investment or should reject. This kind of projects have
usually a life of one year or more [24].

The typical steps in a capital budgeting process are the following:

generating ideas,

analyzing individual proposals,
planning the capital budget, and
monitoring and post-auditing.

The candidate projects for the capital budgeting process are as follows:

Replacement;

Expansion;

new products and services; and
regulatory, safety, and environmental.

These projects are evaluated based on the various methods.

e One of them is the net present value. 1t is considered as the present value of all
after-tax cash flows and is calculated by the following formula:

(48)

T
CF[
NPV =
; (1+R)



Introduction to Corporate Finance 177

where
R required rate of return,
CF cash flow at time t, fort=1, ..., T

One characteristic example of a project valuation for a company that involves
WACC for the calculation of NPV is the following:

NPV = PV of inflows — PV of outflows (49)

Theoretically, projects with positive NPV increase the value of the company and the
value of its stock.

e The internal rate of return (IRR) is the discount rate that sums up the present
value of all future cash flows to zero. The following formula is solved for the
IRR:

T
Y =0 (50)
o (1+ IRR

The capital budgeting decision rules concern investing when NPV > 0, IRR >R, or
when PI > 1.0.

For mutually exclusive projects with different ranking between NPV and IRR,
the project with the highest NPV is the one that prevails.

e The payback period is based on cash flows and is the number of years needed to
recover the original investment in a project. Accordingly, the discounted pay-
back period is the number of years required for the cumulative discounted cash
flows from a project to equal the original investment.

e The average accounting rate of return (AAR) is defined as follows:

Average net income
AAR — Yerae

51
Average Book Value (51)

e Finally, the profitability index (PI) is defined as the present value of a project’s
cash flows divided by the initial investment:

PV of future cash flows NPV
Pl = _ =l4+ - (52)
Initial investment Initial investment

There are no capital budgeting decision rules for the payback period, discounted
payback period, and average accounting rate of return, since they are not con-
sidered quite reliable measures.
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4.1 Practical Tips in Capital Budgeting

Firms have to invest in projects that by definition exceed their costs. This results in
a positive NPV, which is forecasted. However, investment projects that may appear
with a positive NPV may be due to forecasting errors. In order to evaluate the
influence of forecasting errors on the estimated NPV of the project, several tools
exist and are listed below:

o Sensitivity Analysis:

— It provides an analysis of the effect on the estimated NPV when an under-
lying assumption changes such as market size, market share, or the oppor-
tunity cost of capital.

— It also uncovers the NPV sensitivity to changes in key variables.

e Scenario Analysis analyzes the impact on NPV under a particular combination
of assumptions. This type of analysis is particularly convenient when the
variables are interrelated. A characteristic example can be an economy that
enters to a recession due to high oil prices. Indeed, the firm’s cost of capital
structure, the demand for the product, and the inflation may differ. Therefore,
instead of analyzing the effect on NPV of a single variable (as in sensitivity
analysis previously), scenario analysis considers the effect on NPV of a con-
sistent combination of variables.

e Break-even Analysis analyzes the level at which the company breaks even. This
is the point at which the present value of revenues is exactly equal to the present
value of total costs. Therefore, break-even analysis tries to respond to the
question on how much should the firm sell before the production becomes
profitable.

e Simulation Analysis

— The investment project is modeled via Monte Carlo simulation which con-
siders all possible combinations of outcomes. This simulation analysis
involves the following three steps:

1. We first model the investment project by specifying the project’s cash
flows as a function of revenues, costs, depreciation, as a function of
market size, market shares, unit shares, and costs.

II. Later, we specify the probabilities for each of the underlying variables.
Some examples include specifying the range for the expected market
share as well as other variables in the model.

[I. Finally, we simulate the cash flows using the model and probabilities
assumed above and calculate the NPV.
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4.2 Business Risks

Business analysts refer to the use of fixed costs in a corporation’s capital structure
as leverage because it influences corporation’s earnings. Leverage can magnify
earnings both on the upside and the downside.

Business risk is the risk associated with operating earnings and refers to both
sales risk (uncertainty taking into account the price and quantity of sales) and
operational risk (related to the use of fixed costs in operations). Financial risk is the
risk associated with the way the corporation finances its operations (choice between
debt and equity). There are several capital structure theories in corporate finance
that attempt to answer to this dilemma of choice.

In particular, the degree of operating leverage is the ratio of the percentage
change in operating income to the percentage change in units sold. The degree of
financial leverage is the percentage change in net income for a given percentage
change in operating income. Finally, the degree of total leverage is a measure of
sensitivity of the CFs to owners to changes in unit sales. It is considered as the
degree of operating leverage plus the degree of financial leverage [21].

5 Fundamentals on Payout Policy

Payout policy of the firm constitutes the entity’s cash dividend payments and share
repurchase policies together. Both contribute to the distribution of the corporation’s
cash to its shareholders.

Payout policy is considered as second most important for approval, in terms of
decision making by the board of directors. Capital expenditures and its way of
being finance follows.

The heart of the dividend policy debate concerns the following question: Should
the firm pay out money to its shareholders, or should the firm take that money and
invest it for its shareholders? Therefore, dividend policy can be accounted as a time
pattern of dividend payout [13]. More precisely, should the corporation pay out a
large percentage of its earnings now, or a small (or even nonexistent) percentage? [16]

Dividends can take different forms: regular or irregular cash payments, stock
dividends, or stock splits. The term dividend refers to cash paid out for earnings.
Only cash dividends are considered as payments for the shareholders. In general,
any direct payment by the corporation to the shareholders may be accounted as a
dividend or a part of dividend policy.

The main types of cash dividends are the following:

o regular cash dividends,
e extra dividends: may or may not be repeated in the future,
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special dividends: their payment happens once and is not yet repeated,
liquidating dividends: some or all of the business has been liquidated or sold off,
and

e stock repurchase: another method to pay out a firm’s earnings to its owners. In
some jurisdictions, it provides favorable tax treatment compared to dividends.

Distribution happens only if a payment is made from sources other than current
or accumulated retained earnings [2].

Stock dividends and splits do not create wealth for shareholders. They only serve
to split equity into smaller pieces. Reverse stock splits usually happen when a stock
has reached one of its lowest prices and do not directly affect shareholder wealth.
Regular cash dividends, as opposed to irregular cash dividends, stock splits and
stock dividends, demonstrate a commitment to pay cash to stockholders/equity
holders on a regular basis (quarterly, semiannual, or annual).

A share repurchase is taken as equivalent to the payment of a cash dividend of
equal amount in its effect on shareholder’s wealth. The announcement of share
repurchases is quite often accompanied by positive excess returns in the market
when the market price is perceived as reflecting management’s view that the stock
is undervalued, and earnings per share can increase as a result of fewer shares
outstanding [25].

A further initiation of regular cash dividends will also have a positive impact on
share value. The management is perceived as having confidence in the future to
commit on paying out cash to shareholders. This is also named as the signaling
hypothesis. In addition, from an investor’s side, some institutional, as well as
individual, shareholders consider regular cash dividend payments as a measure of
investment quality.

Some of the factors that favor a low-dividend payout may be the taxation of
dividend income and capital gains and flotation costs. Of course, taxation issues
differ among countries. In addition, a corporation may be prohibited by law from
paying dividends if the dividend amount exceeds the firm’s retained earnings.

On the contrary, there are also other real-world factors that favor a high-dividend
payout. Some of them are the following:

e desire for current income;

e resolution of uncertainty: Gordon stated that a high-dividend policy benefits
stockholders because it resolves uncertainty [5]; and

e tax and legal benefits from high dividends: Some characteristic examples
account for pension funds and university endowment funds. The former have a
fiduciary responsibility to invest the money prudently, while the latter are fre-
quently prohibited from spending any of their principal. Therefore, they have
strong desire to hold high-dividend yield stocks in order to be able to spend. The
previous categorization also includes tax-free institutions as well.
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6 The Discounted Cash Flow Approach to Investment
Valuation

6.1 Equity Valuation

Equity valuation refers to the valuation of an equity stake of an entity. Some
principal categories of models in equity valuation do exist:

e Present Value Models or alternatively discounted cash flow models, estimate the
intrinsic value of a security as the present value of future benefits (dividends)
expected to be received from the security. In these types of models, benefits are
defined in terms of cash expected to be distributed to shareholders (DDM dis-
cussed earlier) or in terms of CFs available to be distributed to shareholders after
meeting the capital expenditure and working capital needs. The free-CF-to-
equity model is given by the following formula:

Future benefits = free cash flow

>, FCFE, (53)
Valuey =
; (1+R)

e Multiplier Models or alternatively market multiple models are based on share
price multiples or enterprise value multiples [22]. Share price multiples compare
relative values and estimate the intrinsic value of a common share from a price
multiple for some fundamental variable, such as revenues, earnings, cash flows,
or book value. Some of the multiples are the following:

P
price to earnings = 5 (54)

P PV, 1 NPVGO
E EPS R EPS (55)

where
PV, Present value at time 0
R discount factor

NPVGO Net present value of growth opportunities

ice to sal P share Price
rice to sales = - = ————
P S Sales per share
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comparative approach

This approach is characterized as a relative valuation approach. The basic
aspect in such an approach is that it should bear some similarity with other
equities at the same class and industry. If we take into account a stock, this has
to be compared with its key competitors. Differences in value between firms
are translated as an opportunity. It actually results that the equity being valued
is undervalued and can be bought and held until value increases. The opposite
could hold true, which could present opportunity for selling the stock.
There are two primary comparative approaches:

I. The first approach checks the market comparables for a firm and for its
other competitors. Usual market multiples include price to earnings
(P/E), price to book value (P/B), price to free cash flow (P/FCF), en-
terprise value to sales (EV/S), and enterprise multiple [9].

II. The second approach accounts for market transactions where similar
type of firms have been bought out, acquired by other competitors,
private equity firms, or other institutional investors.

Asset-based valuation models estimate the intrinsic value of a common share
from the estimated value of the assets on an entity minus the estimated value
of its liabilities and preferred shares. The equation resembles with the
principal equation of a balance sheet. The estimated market value of the asset
is determined by making adjustments to the book value of assets and lia-
bilities. The academic theory that backs up the asset-based valuation
approach considers that the value of the business is equal to the sum of the
value of its business’s assets.

A financial analyst may compare estimates of value and market price in order to
arrive to the conclusion on whether the asset is fairly valued, overvalued, or
undervalued. More precisely,

an overvalued asset is the one that has an intrinsic value higher than the market
value,

a fairly priced asset is the one that has an intrinsic value equal to the market
value, and

an undervalued asset is the one that has an intrinsic value lower than the market
value.

The value of equity is taken by discounting the expected cash flows to equity,
which means the residual cash flows after taking into account all the expenses, tax
obligations, interest, and principal payments, at the cost of equity. The market
value of equity is given by the following formula:

T

CF to Equit
Market Value of Equity = Z ~T o Ty,

2 (L 4n) (57)
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where
CF to Equity, expected cash flow to equity in period ¢
Te cost of equity

The computation of growth rate of dividends is also important for equity val-
uation of the firm. Assume that the company does not grow unless a net investment
is made. Then, the company needs to retain part of its earnings to grow. The
calculation of these earnings is given by the following formula:

Earnings, , | = Earnings, + Retained Earnings, * R (58)

where
R return on the retained earnings, usually estimated by ROE

In this case, the sustainable growth rate is calculated if we divide by earnings as
follows:

1 + g = 1 + Retention Ratio * ROE (59)
where

. . Retained Earnings
Retention Ratio = £

Earnings

6.2 Business Valuation

Financial analysts usually use the term Business Valuation when they want to value
not only the equity of a business but also other claimholders in the firm. Some of
the methods they use are the following:

e The Free Cash Flow for the Firm (FCFF) is considered as a financial perfor-
mance measure that shows the net amount of cash that is generated for the firm,
consisting of expenses, taxes, changes in net working capital (NWC), and
investments [18]. It is calculated as follows:

FCFF = Operating Cash Flow — Expenses (61)
— Taxes — Changes in NWC — Changes in Investments

e The Discounted Cash Flow for the firm (DCFF) is considered as an essential
valuation method that intends to estimate the attractiveness of an investment
opportunity (from an investor’s point of view). From a firm’s point of view, it
aims to estimate the intrinsic value of a company [20].
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— Based on A. Damodaran’s steps, we first estimate the discount rate or rates to
use in the valuation. Our discount rate can be either the cost of equity (if we
use it to make equity valuation) or cost of capital (if it is used for business
valuation). It can also be in real or nominal terms depending on whether the
cash flows are in nominal or real terms [17].

— Second, we estimate the current earnings and cash flows on the asset being
valued by estimating an expected growth rate in earnings.

— Third, we estimate when the firm will achieve a stable growth rate and what
characteristics it will have, in terms of risk and cash flows.

— Finally as a last step, we choose the right DCF model for this asset or
corporation and value it.

In order to account for the value of the firm, we discount the expected cash flows
of the corporation, which means the residual cash flows after all operating expenses
and taxes, prior to debt payments at the WACC. The value of the firm is calculated
by the following formula:

T

CF to Entit
Value of Entity = ZM (62)
‘— (14+WACC)
where
CF to entity, Expected cash flow to entity in period 7
WACC Weighted average cost of capital

Therefore, as previously mentioned, we discount the cash flow to entity at the
cost of capital in order to get the value of the firm, whereas we discount the cash
flow to equity at the cost of equity to get the value of the equity.

7 Multiple Choice Questions

1. In the CAPM formula, the risk-free rate is the compensation for the expected
loss of the purchasing power.

a. True
b. False

2. The debt-to-equity ratio shows the profitability of the firm.

a. True
b. False

3. Which are the tools to evaluate the forecasting errors of the estimated NPV?
Select from the following (more than one apply):

a. Discounted payback period
b. Simulation analysis
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10.

c. Payout policy

d. Scenario analysis
e. Business valuation
f. Break-even analysis

Leverage is referring to

a. Company’s debt
b. Company’s equity
c. Both

Corporate finance is a field in finance that is dealing with capital budgeting,
capital structure, and working capital management functions within a firm.

a. True
b. False

John decides to put 100 € in a bank account with interest rate 10 % per year.
Which is the future value after 4 years:

. 23415 €
139.23 €
146.41 €
187.35 €

peo o

. The company ABC wants to raise €3 million in order to expand its business to

other countries. Its corporate tax rate is 20 %. The yield to maturity of its bonds
is 6 %.
Calculate the cost of debt for that company.

a. 2.1 %
b. 4.8 %
c. 5.3 %

Which of the following consists a potential solution to resolve a shareholders—
managers conflict in favor of shareholders?

a. give incentives to the current manager to expand the business activities
b. increase managerial compensation
c. do not do anything

Cash dividends are considered as claims for the shareholders.

a. True
b. False

The cost of capital accounts for the interactions between corporations and
investors in the market.

a. True
b. False
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Multiple Choice Answers

PN U AW~

—_
e

&
—

P o0 TO PP oo

References

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

. Barclay MJ, Smith CW (1996) On financial architecture: leverage, maturity and priority.

J Appl Corp Finan 8(4):4-17. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6622.1996.tb00679.x

. Barclay MJ, Smith CW, Watts RL (1995) The determinants of corporate leverage and

dividend policies. J Appl Corp Finan 7(4):4-19. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6622.1996.tb00679.x

. Berk J, DeMarzo P (2013) Corporate finance, 3rd edn. Pearson Education, New York
. Bhide A (1989) The causes and consequences of hostile takeovers. J Appl Corp Finan 2:

36-59. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6622.1989.tb00178.x

. Black F, Scholes M (1974) The effects of dividend yield and dividend policy on common

stock prices and returns. J Finan Econ 1:1-22. doi:10.1016/0340-405X(74)90006-3

. Booth L, Cleary WS (2011) Introduction to corporate finance. Wiley, New York (revised)
. Brealey R, Myers S (2013) Principles of corporate finance. McGraw-Hill, New York
. Courtois Y (2011) Cost of capital. In: Corporate Finance and Portfolio Management CFA

program curriculum, vol 4, Pearson, New York

. Damodaran A (1994) Investment valuation. Wiley, New York
. Estrada J (2011) The FT guide to understanding finance: a no-nonsense companion to financial

tools and techniques. FT Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River

Estrada J (2010) The essential financial toolkit: everything you always wanted to know about
finance but were afraid to ask. Palgrave Macmillan

Fabozzi FJ, Wilson RS (1995) Corporate bonds: structures and analysis. Frank J. Fabozzi
Associates

Fama EE, Babiak H (1968) Dividend policy: an empirical analysis. ] Am Stat Assoc 63
(324):1132-1161. doi:10.2307/2285874

Goswami G, Noe T, Rebello M (1995) Debt financing under asymmetric information. J Finan
50(2):633-659. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1995.tb04798.x

Hamada RS (1972) The effect of firm’s capital structure on the systematic risk of common
stocks. J Finan 27:435-452. doi:10.2307/2978486

Healy P, Palepu K (1988) Earnings information conveyed by dividend initiations and
omissions. J Finan Econ 21(2):149-175. doi:10.1016/0304-405X(88)90059-1

Howe KM (1992) Capital budgeting discount rates under inflation: a caveat. Finan Pract Educ
2:31-36

Jensen MC (1986) Agency costs of free cash flow, corporate finance and takeovers. Am Econ
Rev 76:323-329


http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.1996.tb00679.x
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.1996.tb00679.x
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.1989.tb00178.x
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0340-405X(74)90006-3
http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2285874
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1995.tb04798.x
http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2978486
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(88)90059-1

Introduction to Corporate Finance 187

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

Jensen MC, Meckling WH (1976) Theory of the firm: managerial behavior, agency costs and
ownership structure. J Finan Econ v3(4):305-360. doi:10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
Keck T, Levengood E, Longfield A (1998) Using discounted cash flow analysis in an
international setting: a survey of issues in modeling the cost of capital. J Appl Corp Finan 11
(3):82-99. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6622.1998.tb00505.x

Peterson P (2011) Measures of leverage. In: Corporate Finance and Portfolio
Management CFA program curriculum, vol 4. Pearson, New York

Quiry P, Dallocchio M, Le Fur Y, Salvi A (2009) Corporate finance: theory and practice.
Wiley, Chichester

Ross S, Westerfield R, Jaff J (2008) Fundamentals of corporate finance, 8th edn (Standard
Edition). McGraw-Hill, Irwin

Stowe J, Gagné J (2011) Capital budgeting. In: Corporate Finance and Portfolio
Management CFA program curriculum, vol 4. Pearson, New York

Troughton G (2011) Dividends and shares repurchases: basics. In: Corporate Finance and
Portfolio Management CFA program curriculum, vol 4. Pearson, New York

Vermaelen T (2005) Share repurchases. Now Publishers, Hanover


http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.1998.tb00505.x

Index

A

A/B test, 57, 64

Abilities, 80-82, 84, 86, 87, 89, 94, 95, 106

Accounting, 126, 128-132, 135, 138-143, 145,
147, 151

Accounting harmonization, 139

Accounting information, 126, 129-131, 133,
134, 145, 151

Accounting process, 141, 142

Accounting standards, 132, 138, 146

Accrual basis, the, 135, 136, 150

Action, 38, 40, 43, 45, 46, 48, 50, 52, 68, 69

Action and control, 40, 46

Activity goals, 43

Activity ratios, 167

Administrative, 83, 86, 97, 98

Advantages, 45, 54, 58, 61, 107, 115, 117

Affiliation marketing, 61

After the crisis, 27

Agency problem, 160

AIDA model, 43

Amortised cost, 137

Annuity, 170

API, 49, 64

Application, 11, 12, 47, 54, 57-59, 63, 92, 93,
99, 139, 141

Applications for an e-mail marketing
campaign, 58

Arithmetic mean return (AM), 163

Assessing, 8, 27

Assess the efficiency, 57

Assets, 127, 134, 136, 137, 140, 142, 150

Assignable, 43

Audience, 38, 39, 41, 42, 44, 48, 50-52, 54

Awareness, 43

B2E, 59

Backoffice, 64

Balance sheet, 134, 142, 143, 165-167

Basic metrics, 52, 57

Basics, 39, 52, 53, 57

Behaviors, 107, 117

Beta, 164

Black Hat SEO, 70, 71

Bond, 162

Brand management, 16, 18, 31

Branding, 39, 46, 63

Breakeven point, 149

Break even point analysis, 178

Business, 126, 127, 129-131, 134, 143-145,
147

Business development, 8

Business model, 13, 15, 31, 41, 52, 58, 63

Business risks, 179

Business valuation, 173, 183, 184

C

C2C, 60

Cafeteria-style, 98

Call to action, 64

Capital budgeting, 161, 176-178
Capital expenditures, 158, 179
Capital structure, 161, 178, 179
CAPTCHA, 64

Cash flow, 64

Cash flow statement, 167

Cash management, 158

Causes of crisis, 5

Causes of crisis in marketing, 6
Challenges, 82-84, 86, 99
Channels, 38, 39, 44, 47, 49, 50, 54, 56, 71, 72
Checkout, 64

B Commitment, 81, 82, 84-86, 99

B2B, 59 Commodity, 126

B2C, 60 Common stock/equity, 162

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 189

C. Machado and J.P. Davim (eds.), MBA,

Management and Industrial Engineering, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-28281-7



190

Communicating the crisis, 26, 31

Communication in a crisis, 28

Communication policy, 6, 8, 12, 24, 28-31

Community connections, 39

Community manager (CM), 48

Company crises, 5

Company crisis, 4, 14

Company’s evolution, 8

Company stakeholders, 160

Comparability, 134, 137

Compensation, 81, 82, 97, 98

Competences, 80, 84, 89, 95, 97, 100

Competition, 3, 4, 6, 15, 16, 18, 23, 31

Competition benchmarking, 42

Competitions, 49-51, 55, 56

Competitive advantage, 81, 82, 86

Competitiveness, 105, 107

Completeness, 39

Complexity, 3, 4, 11, 26, 30

Conceptual framework, 132-138, 143

Conflict, 80, 112, 113, 116

Content curation, 50

Content management system, 64

Content marketing, 50, 57

Contingency approach, 4, 10-12, 31

Contingency-oriented marketing approach, 11

Contractual flexibility, 85

Contribution margin, 149

Controller, 158

Conventional marketing, 38, 43

Conversion goals, 43

Cookies, 64

Corporate finance, 161, 169, 179, 185

Corporation, 157-159, 161, 162, 164, 165,
169, 173, 179, 180, 184, 185

Cost, 132, 134-137, 145-150

Cost accounting, 145, 147, 158

Cost behaviour patterns, 148

Cost of capital, 173, 184

Cost of goods, 135, 148

Cost per 1,000 (CPM), 63

Cost per acquisition (CPA), 63

Cost per click (CPC), 63

Cost per lead (CPL), 63

Cost reductions, 20

Cost spikes, 24

Cost-volume-profit, 149

Coverage, 149

Credit management, 158

Crimean crisis, 5

Crises, 3, 4, 6, 8-10, 12, 14, 17, 21, 24, 26, 30,
31

Index

Crisis management, 4, 5, 8-10, 12, 17, 18, 21,
23, 26, 30, 31

Crisis-oriented, 4, 9, 21, 24

Crisis prevention management, 8§

Crisis pricing, 23

Cross-selling, 20

Culture of learning, 118

Current assets, 142

Current cost, 137

Current liabilities, 143

Current value bases, 136, 150

Customer focus, 13-15

Customer support, 50, 51, 54, 60

D

Database, 52, 55-57, 65

Decision-making process, 126

Dedication, 119

Deemed cost, 137

Defining a strategy, 50

Degeneration phases, 18

Demarketisation, 37

Desire, 43, 65

Developing, 15, 18, 20, 21, 27

Development, 78, 81, 82, 87, 88, 93, 99,
105-107, 110

Development spending, 17

Digital marketing, 38, 40, 41, 43-46, 49, 72

Digital marketing plan, 40, 41

Direct sales, 20, 31

Disadvantages, 55, 115, 117

Discounted cash flow approach, 181

Display network, 62, 64, 70

Distortion, 126

Diversification, 164

Diversity management, 86

Dropshipping, 65

Dynamic, 3, 4, 27, 30, 80, 84, 86, 95

E

Earned media, 44, 45

E-commerce, 45, 55, 56, 59, 60, 63, 64
E-commerce glossary, 64

E-commerce techniques, 60

Economic growth, 107

Economic reality, 126

Effects on sales market, 12

Efficiency measures in marketing, 15
Efficient market hypothesis (EMH), 162, 163
Elements of financial statements, 150
E-mail marketing, 45, 52-59
Emphasize customer benefits, 28



Index

Employees, 77, 78, 83-88, 90, 91, 95-99, 105,
106, 109, 112, 113, 115, 118

Employees involvement, 99

Enhancing characteristics, 133

Entrepreneurship, 82

Equal opportunities, 86

Equity, 128, 131, 134, 136, 142, 143

Equity for the period, 131

Equity valuation, 181, 184

Established prices, 23

Ethics in HRM, 86

Evolution, 78, 86, 95

Expenses, 134-137, 143, 146, 147, 150

Experimentation, 126

Extension of the communication budget, 28

External, 82

External recruitment, 90, 92

External users, 130, 131, 145

Eye tracking, 65

F

Factors for successful crisis communication, 26

Fair value, 137, 138, 140

Faithfully represent, 133, 138

Field “from”, 57

Field “subject”, 57

Financial, 159, 161, 162, 165

Financial accounting, 131, 132, 138, 145, 147,
151

Financial leverage ratios, 168

Financial management, 159

Financial management decisions, 161

Financial management division, 159

Financial market efficiency, 162

Financial markets, 162

Financial planning, 158

Financial position, 127, 131, 134, 135, 138,
142

Financial ratios, 165, 167

Financial reporting, 131, 132, 135, 138-140

Financial reporting information, 133

Financial statement, 130-136, 138, 140-144,
150, 165, 167

Firm, 158, 159, 178, 182-184

Flexibility, 84, 99

Flexibility HR, 85

Flexible organization, 84, 85

Flexible working hours, 98

Flexible working time, 85

Fulfilment value, 137, 138

Functional specification, 8

Fundamental qualitative characteristics, 133

Fundamentals, 179

Future value, 169, 170

191

G

G2C, 60

Gender, 86

Geometric mean return (GM), 163
Goal setting, 42, 49, 50

Goals, 40-43, 50, 52, 54, 63, 65, 68
Going concern, the, 135

Goods distribution, 21

Greece crisis, 5

H

Hard model, 80

Heart of e-mail marketing, the, 56

Historical cost, 136, 137, 150

Historical record, 126

HR activities, 78

HR compensation, 86

HR development, 88, 93, 99

HR function, 83

HR integration, 93

HR manager, 77, 78, 86, 92

HRM challenges, 78, 83, 84, 86, 93, 99

HRM policies, 78, 87

HRM practice, 83, 87, 108

HR planning, 86-89, 99

HR recruitment, 86, 90

HR selection, 86, 92

HR socialization, 93

HR training, 86, 88, 93, 99

Human capital theory, 81

Human factor, 80

Human Relations School, 79

Human resource management (HRM), 77, 78,
80-83, 85, 87, 99, 106, 107, 110, 112, 119

|

IAS, 131, 135, 136, 139-143

IASB, 132, 134, 136, 139

Ideology, 126

IFRS, 137, 139-141, 150

Imagery, 126

Income, 127, 129, 131, 134-136, 140, 143,
146, 147, 150

Income statement, 165-167

Increasing research, 17

Increasing the core sales time, 20

Indicators, 7, 24

Indirect pricing, 23

Individual level, 107, 113

Information system, 126, 145

Innovation, 118

Intensification of sales management, 20

Interaction, 80

Interactivity, 39



192

Interest, 42, 43, 47, 50, 53, 54, 56, 62, 64, 68,
70

Internal, 82

Internal audience, 27

Internal recruitment, 90, 91

Internal users, 130, 145

International HRM, 86

Internet boom, 38

Inventory, 161, 166

Investigation and practice, 13

Investing, 158, 177

Investment valuation, 169, 173, 181

Involve the sales team, 28

Involvement, 81, 82, 84, 86, 87, 99

J
Job analysis, 87-89, 97, 99
Job satisfaction, 116

K

Key aspects, 56, 65

Knowledge, 77, 82, 83, 88, 94, 95, 97,
106-110, 113, 115, 119

Knowledge transfer in sales, 20

KSA, 106, 115

L

Language, 126, 129

Language of business, 126
Leadership, 79, 86

Lead of conversion, 65
Learning, 106, 108, 115, 118
Learning organization, 86
Learning processes, 108

Legal framework, 55
Liabilities, 127, 134, 136-140, 142, 143, 150
Limited liability company, 158
Limited resources, 110, 119
Line responsibility, 77
Liquidity ratios, 168

Loss statement, 142, 143
Loyalty goals, 43

M

Maintenance, 14, 28

Malpractice, 69, 70

Management, 4, 6, 8-10, 16, 18, 20, 21, 24, 26,
27, 31, 32, 41, 45, 46, 48, 54, 56, 58, 64,
65, 68, 77-87, 109, 111, 112, 115,
117-119, 125, 126, 129-132, 135,
145-147, 151, 158, 161, 167, 180, 185

Management accounting, 129, 131, 145-147,
151

Management science, 78

Index

Managers, 7, 10, 130, 132, 145, 146, 148, 149

Managing, 108, 110, 117, 119

Managing needs assessment, 117

Manufactured, 147, 148

Margin of safety, 149

Market challenges, 80

Marketing, 4, 6, 8-10, 12-15, 17, 26, 28, 31,
32

Marketing strategy, 4, 13, 15, 31

Market risk, 164

Market strategy types, 15

Market value ratios, 168

Maturity phases, 18

MBA, 157

Measurable, 39, 44, 52

Measurement, 126, 127, 134, 136-138, 140,
150

Measuring output, 39, 49

Medieval times, 127

Memorial, 127

Mission, 41

Modern approach, 158

Monetary incentives, 20

Monitoring, 158, 159, 176

Motivation, 79-81, 85-87, 96, 99

N

Nature, 4, 21, 22, 31, 126, 138, 142
Needs, 130, 144

Needs assessment, 106, 108, 115
Needs assessment techniques, 115
Neighbouring customer segments, 20
Net present worth maximization, 157
New potential for future sales, 20
New product, 17

New professional profiles, 85
Newsletters, 56, 57

New technologies, 83, 84, 88
Non-current assets, 142

Non-current liabilities, 143
Non-financial measures, 169
Number of sales channels, 6, 19

(0]

Online marketing, 38, 40, 43, 46, 53, 58, 62-64
Online media, 27, 28

Online shop, 45, 46, 50, 56, 60, 62, 64
Operating effectiveness, 169
Operational crisis management, 8, 30
Operational perspective, 77
Organization, 77-85, 87-90, 92, 97, 98
Organizational commitment, 84, 99
Organizational context, 80, 86
Organizational design, 80



Index

Organizational level, 107, 115
Organizational performance, 105, 107
Organizational problems, 105, 113
Organizational strategy, 82, 83
Organizational structure, 158
Organizations, 105, 106, 109, 111, 118
Outplacement, 91

Over-the-counter market, 162

Owned media, 44, 45

Owner’s equity, 128

P

Paid media, 44, 45

Paradigm of an active user, 47
Participation, 81, 82, 84-87
Partnership, 158

Payment, 132, 136, 140, 143, 146, 147
Payment gateway, 60, 65

Payment per page in advertising, 63
Payment processing, 65

Payout policy, 179

Performance appraisal, 81, 82, 88, 95-98, 100
Perpetuity, 171, 172

Person of the sales director, 21
Personal management, 78, 80
Personalization, 115, 118
Perspective, 4, 5, 9, 20, 23, 26, 31, 83
Pivoting, 52

Planning, 158, 159, 161, 176
Planning a strategy, 43

PMT, 170, 171

Polyvalent qualification, 85
Portuguese SME, 106

Positions design, 79

Post-training conditions, 108
Power, 80, 98

Preparatory measures, 27
Prescriptive, 83

Present value, 169, 170

Pressure to act, 7

Pre-training conditions, 108
Price-driven sales management, 24
Price management, 23, 24, 31

Price reduction, 15, 23

Price wars, 23, 31

Pricing policy, 6, 12, 22, 23, 25, 31
Primary market, 162

Pro-active, 78, 80, 83, 89

Product categories, 17, 31

Product policy, 15, 18, 19, 31
Product policy responses, 17
Professional contact, 20

Profit, 131, 134, 142, 143, 146, 149, 151

193

Profit statement, 131, 134, 143

Profitability of the customer, 14
Profitability ratios, 167

Proprietorship, 127

Prosumers, 47

Public relations activities, 28

Purpose, 130, 132, 133, 138, 142, 145, 150

Q
Qualified HR, 84

Quality of sales channels, 19

R

Raising, 158, 173

Rationale, 126

Reaction, 108

Reactive, 83, 89

Realistic, 41, 43

Receiving, 147

Recognition, 135, 150

Recommendations, 15, 17-19, 23, 28, 32

Relevant, 126, 133, 135, 144, 145

Relevant advertising, 39

Remarketing, 62

Remuneration, 116

Resources, 80-82, 98

Resources for an e-mail marketing campaign,
58

Results, 107, 108, 112, 115, 119

Retain established customers, 14

Retargeting, 45, 62, 64

Return, 163, 164, 180

Revenue, 127, 140, 146, 149

Risk, 5, 8, 15, 17, 30, 160, 164

Role of community managers, 48

Route planning, 20

S

Sales partnerships, 18, 20

Sales policy, 4, 18, 31

Sales volume management, 18
Savings, 20, 28

Scenario analysis, 178

Scope goals, 43

Scope of marketing, 12

Search engine marketing (SEM), 65
Search engine optimisation (SEO), 65
Search engines, 65, 68, 70, 71
Secondary market, 162

Selection, 81, 82, 88, 89, 92, 98
SEM techniques, 70

Sensitivity analysis, 178

SEO techniques, 49, 66



194

Sexual harassment, 86

Shareholder value, 157-159

Shopping cart, 59, 60, 64

Shopping cart abandonment, 64

Short-term turnover growth, 20

Simulation analysis, 178

Single entry bookkeeping, 127-129, 150

Situational approach, 10, 11, 31

Skills, 106, 107, 110, 111, 113, 116, 119

Small and medium enterprise (SME), 158

SMART, 42, 50, 59

Social and online media, 27

Social media advertisement, 52

Social media marketing, 45, 47, 50

Social Media Plan, 46, 49, 52

Social network evaluation, 41

Soft model, 81

Sold, 135, 146, 147, 149

Sole proprietorship, 158

Specific, 38, 40, 42, 43, 45, 46, 48, 50, 51,
54-56, 66, 67

Staff function, 77

Stage setting, 4

Stakeholders, 82

Standard deviation, 164

Statement of cash flows, 131, 143, 165

Statement of changes, 131, 142, 143

Stock/equity, 162

Strategic assets, 84

Strategic crisis management, 8, 12, 30

Strategic marketing, 12, 14, 15, 24, 31

Strategic marketing planning, 13

Strategy, 81, 82

Stronger focus on the customer, 28, 30

Structure, 83

Subscribers, 54, 56, 57, 65

Supervisor, 112, 114, 116, 119

Supplementary notes, 165

Sustainable source, 82

Swot matrix, 41

Symbolic rituals, 126

Syria crisis, 5

Systematic risk, 164, 174

T

Tailor made, 115

Task level, 107

Taxation, 158, 180

T&D, 105-107, 109-111, 113-115, 117-119
T&D activities, 107, 112-114, 117
Telework, 85

Index

Theory, 10, 31, 32, 80, 81, 129, 160, 162, 163,
172, 175, 182

Three areas, 13

Tightening and standardizing the product
range, 17

Timeliness, 134

Time-related, 43

Times of crisis, 19, 21, 23, 27, 30

Time value of money (TVM), 169

TNA process, 110

Traditional approach, 158

Training, 80-82, 88, 89, 94-97, 99, 105-108,
110-112, 117-119

Training evaluation, 108

Training needs assessment (TNA), 108, 110,
115, 117, 118

Training process, 108, 110

Training transfer, 108

Transparent, 24

Trust, 158

Turn-around levels in sales, 21

Type of crisis, 7, 12

U

Understandability, 134
Understanding, 64
Usability—functionality, 39
Users of accounting, 130

\'%

Value in use, 137, 138
Value maximization, 157
Values, 41

Verifiability, 134
Virality, 39, 51

Vision, 41

Visual communication, 39
Vital machines, 79
Volume, 18, 22, 23, 31

w

Web positioning, 41, 65, 69
Web positioning assessment, 41
Word of mouth (WOM), 39, 45
Workers, 79-82

‘Workers communication, 80
Workers socialization, 80
Working capital management, 161, 167
Working force, 80

Workplace, 79, 85, 86
Workplace problems, 110



	Preface
	Contents
	Contributors
	Part I Speaking About Marketing

	1 Marketing in Crises---Its Nature and Perspectives for Managers
	Abstract
	1 Introduction
	2 Crises as the Stage Setting for Marketing
	2.1 The Objects of Company Crises
	2.2 Types and Causes of Crises
	2.3 Crisis Management and Business Development
	2.4 The Contingency Approach: Marketing in the Crisis Context

	3 The Scope for Marketing in Times of Crisis
	3.1 Strategic Marketing
	3.2 Product Policy
	3.3 Sales Policy
	3.4 Pricing Policy
	3.5 Communication Policy

	4 Summary
	Review Questions (Yes or No)
	Answers to the Review Questions
	References

	2 Understanding Digital Marketing---Basics and Actions
	Abstract
	1 Introduction
	2 What Is Digital Marketing?
	3 Digital Marketing Plan
	3.1 Situational Analysis
	3.2 Goal Setting
	3.3 Planning a Strategy
	3.4 Action and Control

	4 Social Media Marketing
	4.1 Prosumers: Paradigm of an Active User
	4.2 The Role of Community Managers
	4.3 Social Media Plan
	4.3.1 Goals
	4.3.2 Audience
	4.3.3 Channels
	4.3.4 Defining a Strategy
	4.3.5 Measuring Outcomes
	4.3.6 Pivoting

	4.4 Social Media Advertisement

	5 E-mail Marketing
	5.1 Advantages of E-mail Marketing
	5.2 Disadvantages of E-mail Marketing
	5.3 Legal Framework
	5.4 The Heart of E-mail Marketing: Subscribers
	5.5 Newsletters---Some Key Aspects
	5.6 Basic Metrics to Assess the Efficiency of E-mail Marketing
	5.7 Applications and Resources for an E-mail Marketing Campaign

	6 E-commerce
	6.1 E-commerce Techniques
	6.1.1 Online Shop
	6.1.2 Development of an Affiliation Programme for the Online Shop (Affiliation Marketing)
	6.1.3 Retargeting or Remarketing

	6.2 Business Models to Estimate Payment Per Page in Advertising
	6.3 E-commerce Glossary

	7 Web Positioning
	7.1 Search Engines
	7.2 Keywords
	7.2.1 Tools to Select Keywords

	7.3 How to Use SEO Techniques
	7.4 How to Use SEM Techniques
	7.5 Malpractice: Black Hat SEO

	8 To Summarise
	9    Review Questions (True or False)
	Answers to the Review Questions
	References

	Part II Speaking About Human Resource Management

	3 Human Resource Management: An Operational Perspective
	Abstract
	1 Introduction
	2 Human Resource Management: Evolution and Concepts. From Personal Management to Human Resource Management
	3 Human Resource Management: New Challenges
	4 Looking at the Main HRM Policies and Practices
	4.1 Job Analysis
	4.2 HR Planning
	4.3 HR Recruitment
	4.4 HR Selection
	4.5 HR Integration and Socialization
	4.6 HR Training and Development
	4.7 Performance Appraisal
	4.8 HR Compensation

	5 Some Final Remarks
	6   Review Questions (True or False)
	Answers to the Review Questions
	References

	4 Training and Development in Organizations: Start at the Beginning
	Abstract
	1 Introduction
	2 Training and Development: An Overview
	2.1 The Training Process: A Brief Overview

	3 Training Needs Assessment
	3.1 Toward a Definition that Fits the Context
	3.2 The TNA Process

	4 Needs Assessment Techniques: Advantages and Disadvantages
	5 Managing Needs Assessment: Some Issues
	6 Final Considerations
	7 Developing Skills
	References
	Further Reading

	Part III Speaking About Accounting and Finance

	5 Accounting as an Information System
	Abstract
	1 Accounting in Context
	1.1 Introduction
	1.2 What Is Accounting?
	1.3 From Medieval Times to the Present
	1.4 Who Are the Users of Accounting Information and What Are Their Needs?
	1.5 Financial Accounting and Management Accounting

	2 Fundamentals of Financial Accounting
	2.1 Core Concepts
	2.2 Nature and Purpose of Accounting Standards
	2.3 Accounting Process and Financial Statements

	3 Cost Accounting and Management Accounting
	3.1 Fundamentals of Management Accounting
	3.2 Cost of Goods Manufactured and Sold
	3.3 Fundamentals of Cost--Volume--Profit Analysis

	4 Review
	4.1 Learning Outcomes

	5   Multiple-Choice Questions
	Multiple-Choice Answers
	References

	6 Introduction to Corporate Finance
	Abstract
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Organizational Structure of the Firm
	1.2 Agency Problem
	1.3 Conflicts Between Company Stakeholders
	1.4 Financial Management Decisions
	1.5 Financial Markets
	1.5.1 Financial Market Efficiency
	1.5.2 Fundamental Concepts of Risk and Return


	2 Analysis of Financial Statements
	2.1 Balance Sheet
	2.2 Income Statement
	2.3 Cash Flow Statement
	2.4 Financial Ratios

	3 Time Value of Money
	3.1 Cost of Capital

	4 Capital Budgeting
	4.1 Practical Tips in Capital Budgeting
	4.2 Business Risks

	5 Fundamentals on Payout Policy
	6 The Discounted Cash Flow Approach to Investment Valuation
	6.1 Equity Valuation
	6.2 Business Valuation

	7   Multiple Choice Questions
	Multiple Choice Answers
	References

	Index



